M ERIKEZERBIRASR
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
(RESHEETMKLZBERAA])

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

[i% 17 1X.5% Stock Code: 1313

2019



AN
CORPORATE PROFILE

EHKXEERARAGAN —_EE=F=AT=RARERASHESAEERSHETEMK LR —
RERCNARLF W REBHEBENEMER L EBERAT

ARTER-FF=ELA - T ARUNBHAEERBARIFERADER LT R-FF
A AR (RE) BRAALALRAIBIRESRAR (RALBEE GOE) BRA
)5 EMBAT WA ZTTNEL A =+ 5 BHEEIRAERR AT E i -

ARAR-ZBZNFTANBUERBEELAENNBRIAER LT - NAREBR ARFE
TR ) 48 80/56,982,937 817k » H 1 Z M & B F5 5 4968.72%H) A A Al 2L BT A7

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman lIslands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding
company of all the cement and concrete operations of the China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way
of introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (currently known as CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on 6 October 2009 by way of a global offering.
As at the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,982,937,817 shares, of which
China Resources Group is holding approximately 68.72% of the issued shares of the Company.
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JING Shiging
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SHEK Lai Him Abraham

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

/HOU Longshan

JI Youhong
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ZHOU Longshan (Chairman)
JI Youhong
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Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of America, National Association, Hong Kong Branch
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Deutsche Bank AG

Hang Seng Bank, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

ING Bank N.V. Hong Kong Branch

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands
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Room 4606-08, China Resources Building
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In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

“AR”

“associated corporation”

“Board”

“China Resources Group”

“Chinese Mainland”

“CG Code”

“Company”

“CR Cement HK”

“CR Holdings”

Autonomous Region, PRC

has the same meaning as provided in the
SFO

board of Directors

CR Holdings, CRI and their respective
subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macao
SAR

Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources Cement Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liability, the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary

China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, the Company’s
intermediate holding company
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“CR Power Group”

nCRln

“CRH (Cement) Limited”

“Director(s)”

“EHS”

“EAL

“Fujian”

“GDP”

“Greater Bay Area”

“Group”

“Guangdong”

“Guangxi”

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, its subsidiaries and its
associates

China Resources Inc. (formerly known as
China Resources Co., Limited), a company
established in PRC with limited liability,
an intermediate holding company of CR
Holdings

CRH (Cement) Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability, the Company’s
immediate holding company

director(s) of the Company

environment, health and safety

fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China

gross domestic products

Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Province, China

Guangxi Zhuang AR
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“Guizhou”

“Hainan”

“Hong Kong”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

“MIT”

“Model Code”

“PRC” or “China”

HR&D”

”

“Runfeng New Materials

“SAR”

Guizhou Province, China
Hainan Province, China
the Hong Kong SAR

the Inner Mongolia AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of China

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

The People’s Republic of China

research and development

Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials
Technology Company Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in PRC, the

Company’s wholly owned subsidiary

Special Administrative Region, PRC
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

“Scheme”

“SFO”

“Shanxi”

“Share(s)”

“Southern China”

“Stock Exchange”

“Universal Marble”

“YCIH Concrete”

“Yunnan”

the share award scheme of the Company
adopted by the Directors on 2 September
2009 and amended by the Directors as
a cash award scheme on 17 November
2010, which had been terminated in 2019

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shanxi Province, China

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company

encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian
and Hainan

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Universal Marble & Granite (Dongguan)
Co., Ltd., a joint stock company
incorporated in PRC with limited liability,
the Company’s associate

YCIH Green High-Performance Concrete
Company Limited, a joint stock company
incorporated in PRC with limited liability,
the H shares of which are listed and traded
on the main board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1847)

Yunnan Province, China
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“RMB”

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
China

United States Dollars, the lawful currency
of the United States of America

per cent
kilocalorie
kilogram
kilometer
kilowatt-hour
cubic meter
square meter

milligram
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is a large-scale and
competitive cement, clinker and concrete producer in Southern China.
The Group's operations range from the excavation of limestone to the
production, sale and distribution of cement, clinker and concrete.
Products are mainly sold in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi through well-established waterway, railway
and road logistics networks. The Group’s products are primarily used in
the construction of infrastructure projects such as railways, highways,
subways, bridges, airports, ports, dams, hydroelectric power stations and
nuclear power stations, as well as the construction of high-rise buildings
and development of suburban and rural areas.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 96 cement grinding lines and
45 clinker production lines in operation, with annual production capacity
of 84.3 million tons of cement and 61.3 million tons of clinker respectively,
as well as 61 concrete batching plants with annual production capacity of
36.9 million m?® of concrete. The locations of our production facilities and
their respective production capacities are as follows:

i B % Ja

Cement Clinker Concrete
%13/ HAE/  Province/AR/ FESEE BEEW SEHKHE BEM BHUEHE BHBEUSK
BRTHRE SAR No.oflines  miliontons ~ No.oflines ~ miliontons ~ No. of plants million m3
=53 Guangdong 24 225 10 14.4 23 143
ER Guangxi 37 332 18 26.5 26 158
B Fujian 14 10.1 6 7.0 - -
1] Hainan 5 44 3 33 5 30
e Yunnan 7 5.1 4 39 1 06
&M Guizhou 3 30 1 16 - -
i} Shanxi 6 6.0 3 46 1 0.6
AT Zhejiang - - - - 2 1.1
BB Hong Kong - - - - 3 15
4t Total 96 84.3 45 61.3 61 369

ERKORERABR AR
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In addition, through our equity interests in certain associates and joint
ventures, the Group owned a total of 74 cement grinding lines, 28 clinker
production lines and 20 concrete batching plants with total annual
production capacities of 58.5 million tons of cement, 34.3 million tons of
clinker and 9.5 million m? of concrete. These production capacities are
located in Guangdong, Hong Kong, Fujian, Yunnan and Inner Mongolia.
The respective annual production capacities attributable to the Group
according to our equity interests in these associates and joint ventures
were 20.2 million tons of cement, 11.6 million tons of clinker and 4.4
million m? of concrete.

The Group places strong emphasis on corporate social responsibility
and actively promotes energy saving and emission reduction, production
safety and green development. All cement and clinker production plants
of the Group are equipped with residual heat recovery generators to
reduce energy consumption. Our emission concentrations of nitrogen
oxide, particulate matters and sulphur dioxide are better than the
national standard limits of pollutant emissions. The Group also actively
launches projects of co-processing municipal solid waste, urban sludge
and hazardous industrial waste by use of cement kilns. In addition, in
order to promote corporate transformation, innovation and sustainable
development, the Group actively strengthens R&D and application of new
products, new materials and new technologies, as well as explores the
opportunities of extension along the industry chain.

—E-NEFER —H
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The cement and clinker production plants
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The cement and clinker production plants with co-processing projects
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The cement grinding lines
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The concrete batching plants
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The cement and clinker production plants owned by associates and joint ventures
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The cement and clinker production plants with co-processing projects owned by associates and joint ventures
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The cement grinding lines owned by associates and joint ventures
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The concrete batching plants owned by associates and joint ventures
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

16 April 2019

30 October 2019

EVENT

Runfeng New Materials, the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary, acquired approximately 20.0% equity
interests of Universal Marble at a consideration of
RMB388,116,348 (equivalent to approximately
HK$453,394,000). Together with the acquisition of
approximately 20.0% equity interests of Universal
Marble at a consideration of RMB387,880,100
(equivalent to approximately HK$453,117,000) on 18
January 2019, Runfeng New Materials currently holds
as 10 40.0% of Universal Marble in aggregate.

CR Cement HK, the Company's wholly owned
subsidiary, subscribed 40,164,000 H shares of YCIH
Concrete at the global offer price of HK$3.36 per
share, representing approximately 9.0% of its total
issued share capital and a total consideration of
HK$134,951,040. The H shares of YCIH Concrete
had been listed and started trading on the main board
of the Stock Exchange since 31 October 2019 (stock
code: 1847).
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DATE

November 2019

January 2020

EVENT

Wuping China Resources Mining Limited, the
Company’s subsidiary, won the bid for the mining
rights of a granite quarry for construction (used for
manufactured sand) in Wenxi mining concession,
Wuping County, Longyan City, Fujian, with resource
reserve of approximately 56.0 million tons and
planned annual production capacity of approximately
2.0 million tons.

The Group acquired a plot of land with an area of
approximately 45,500 m? in Yamen Town, Xinhui
District, Jiangmen City, Guangdong for the production
of prefabricated construction components, with
design annual production capacity of precast
concrete components of approximately 50,000 m3.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

January 2020

February 2020

March 2020

EVENT

The Group acquired land with an area of
approximately 153,000 m? in the High-Tech Industrial
Cluster Park in the Industrial Park Zone of Laibin
City, Guangxi for the production of prefabricated
construction components, with design annual
production capacity of precast concrete components
of approximately 200,000 m®.

The Group commenced operation of one clinker
production line with annual production capacity
of approximately 1.4 million tons and two cement
grinding lines with total annual production capacity
of approximately 2.0 million tons in Anshun City,
Guizhou.

China Resources Cement (Shangsi) Limited, the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, won the bid for
the mining rights of a limestone quarry in Jiangyu
Mountain, Shangsi County, Fangchenggang City,
Guangxi, with resource reserve of approximately 65.0
million tons and planned annual production capacity
of approximately 5.0 million tons.
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EERIRITIER BRI EREEGRARARE 1. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings and unsecured medium

B ARG E
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
—E-hF —E-N\E —T—+tF
2019 2018 2017
EXT(BEEAT) Turnover (HK$ million) 38,955.6 38,791.5 29,9584
RETFIE-TIE -TER EBITDA (HK$ million)

HEBAN (BBET) 14,040.5 13,7297 74333
FERBF(BEETL) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 8,694.4 8,006.7 35926
AREHEEARIERT Profit attributable to owners of

(B8#r) the Company (HK$ million) 8,617.5 79754 36167
FREREF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 1.234 1.179 0.554

R-B-h& RZT-/\F RIZT—+F

+=f=+-8B +=ZA=+—-8B +=RA=1+—H

As at As at As at

31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2017

BEBRE(BERT) Total assets (HK$ million) 61,170.9 60,506.4 56,526.6

ALNEHE ANEEER Equity atiributable to owners of

(B&#T) the Company (HK$ million) 41,979.7 37,6913 30,309.0

EERER (B88T) Non-controlling interests (HK$ million) 286.5 2039 1735

EEX (##1) Gearing ratio (note 1) 18.9% 33.2% 56.6%
SREEFE-RE (BT) Net assets per share — book (HK$)

(#22) (note 2) 6.01 5.40 464

it notes:
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FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$38,955.6 million, representing an increase of 0.4% over
2018. The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to HK$8,617.5 million,
representing an increase of 8.1% over 2018. Basic earnings per share for
the year was HK$1.234.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.335 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$0.273
per Share). Subject to approval by shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed
on or about Monday, 20 July 2020 to shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Monday, 6
July 2020. Such final dividend will not be subject to any withholding tax in
Hong Kong.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.26 per Share in cash for
2019 (2018: HK$0.275 per Share) and the total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2019 will be HK$0.595 per Share (2018: HK$0.548
per Share).

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2019, as both domestic and overseas risks and challenges rose
significantly, the Chinese government has upheld the general principle
of pursuing progress while ensuring stability. Taking supply-side
structural reform as the main theme, the government promoted high-
quality development and maintained sustainable and healthy economic
development. According to the statistics published by the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, in 2019, China’'s GDP grew by 6.1% year-on-year to
RMB99.1 trillion. National FAI (excluding rural households) increased by
5.4% to RMB55.1 trillion year-on-year.

According to the statistics published by the respective provincial bureaux
of statistics, in 2019, the GDPs of Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan,
Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi, where the Group has business operations,
reached RMB10.8 trillion, RMB2.1 trillion, RMB4.2 trillion, RMB531.0
billion, RMB2.3 trillion, RMB1.7 trilion and RMB1.7 trillion respectively,
representing year-on-year increases of 6.2%, 6.0%, 7.6%, 5.8%, 8.1%,
8.3% and 6.2% respectively. According to the statistics published by the
National Bureau of Statistics of China, the year-on-year changes in FAI of
the aforementioned provinces were 11.1%, 9.5%, 5.9%, -9.2%, 8.5%,
1.0% and 9.3% respectively.

In 2019, national infrastructure investments remained stable. According
to the statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China,
national infrastructure investments (excluding the industries for production
and supply of electricity, heat, gas and water) increased by 3.8% year-on-
year. According to the statistics published by the Ministry of Transport of
China and the National Railway Administration of China, FAI on highways
and waterways in China amounted to approximately RMB2.3 trillion in
total, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.6%, and FAIl on railway
amounted to RMB802.9 billion, which was more or less the same as
2018.

—E-NEFER
Annual Report 2019
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During the year, the Chinese government launched numerous policies to
promote infrastructure construction, including acceleration of the issuance
and use of special local government bonds, the early assignment of partial
new quotas of special bonds for 2020, expansion of the scope of project
capital and reduction of the minimum capital ratio. These policies had
been beneficial to the promotion of cooperation between the government
and private capital, the expansion of effective investment and the
stabilization of infrastructure as a support for cement demand.

In 2019, the housing market was stable at large. According to the statistics
published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2019, the floor
space of commodity housing sold in China was 1,720 million m?, which
was more or less the same as 2018, and the sales amount increased by
6.5% year-on-year to RMB16.0 trillion. Real estate investment in China
reached RMB13.2 trillion, representing a year-on-year increase of 9.9%.
Among which, the floor space of houses newly started construction
increased by 8.5% year-on-year to 2,270 million m? while the floor space
of houses completed increased by 2.6% year-on-year to 960 million m?.
As of the end of 2019, the floor space under construction by the real
estate developers nationwide reached 8,940 million m?, representing a
year-on-year increase of 8.7%. Stability of the real estate market will be
conducive to the steady development of the cement industry.

The Chinese government promoted new-type urbanization, and actively
advocated policies for rural revitalization and poverty alleviation through
transportation infrastructure. In March 2019, the National Development
and Reform Commission of China issued the circular on “Key Tasks of
New-type Urbanization for 2019”, which proposed to optimize plans for
urbanization, strengthen support for transportation networks, promote
high-quality urban development, reinforce the construction of urban
infrastructure, accelerate the development of urban-rural integration, and
improve the capabilities for construction and management of municipal
infrastructure. According to the statistics published by the Ministry of
Transport of China, the total operational length of newly built and re-
built rural roads in 2019 was approximately 290,000 km. The promotion
of urbanization and rural construction will provide support for cement
demand.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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THE INDUSTRY

In 2019, the cement demand in China grew steadily. According to the
statistics published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2019,
the total cement production in China amounted to approximately 2,330
million tons, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.1%. According to
the statistics of China Cement Association, in 2019, cement production
in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou and Shanxi
were approximately 170 million tons, 120 million tons, 94.4 million tons,
20.2 million tons, 130 million tons, 110 million tons and 49.8 million tons
respectively, representing year-on-year changes of approximately 2.6%,
54%,7.5%, -8.0%, 8.8%, -0.9% and 11.4% respectively.

According to the statistics of the China Cement Association, in 2019, there
were 16 new clinker production lines nationwide with new annual clinker
production capacity of 23.7 million tons in total. According to the statistical
information of the Company, there were 2 new clinker production lines in
Guangxi with new annual clinker production capacity of approximately 2.8
million tons in total.

Regarding policies for the cement industry, the Chinese government
further improved policies for the building materials industry, enhanced
product standards, continuously advanced energy saving, emission
reduction and production safety, reinforced environmental protection
law enforcement and supervision for promoting the high-quality and
sustainable development of the cement industry.

In August 2019, the National Development and Reform Commission of
China issued the “Catalogue for Guiding Industry Restructuring (2019
Version)”, which shall come into force in 2020. Under the “Encouraged
Category”, cement technical technologies such as co-processing, special
cement and carbon capture, as well as concrete product technologies
such as concrete for marine work and ultra-high performance concrete
had been added.

Since October 2019, PC32.5 grade cement had been fully abolished in
China. During the year, the General Office of the MIIT issued 10 cement-
related standards including magnesium phosphate cement and gypsum
slag cement in order to further improve the standards of cement products
and promote product upgrade in the industry.

In January 2020, the MIIT issued the requirements for further regulating
capacity replacement in the cement and glass industries. With effect
from 2021, cement and clinker production lines which had suspended
production for two years or had been in production for not more than one
year in total within three years shall not be used as the quota of capacity
replacement.

SE-REER 1
Annual Report 2019
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In terms of environmental protection, in June 2019, the Chinese
government issued the “Regulations on Central Inspection Work on
Ecological and Environmental Protection”, which set forth the Central
Government’s implementation of the inspection system for ecological
and environmental protection and required the implementation of
“revisit” inspections for rectifications. Previously, the Central Government
had completed two batches of ecological environmental protection
“revisit” inspection work. Measures such as filing cases, penalties, fines,
administrative and criminal detentions were imposed on problematic
enterprises.

The Chinese government actively promotes the construction of green
mines and accelerates the comprehensive rectification and control of
open-pit mines. It is targeted to shut down more than 1,000 non-coal
mines without conditions for production safety by 2019 and to essentially
establish a property rights system for natural resources assets featuring
clear ownership, determinate rights and obligations, strict protection,
smooth circulation and effective regulation by 2020.

The Chinese government attaches great importance to production safety
and occupational health. During the year, measures for coordination
between administrative law enforcement and criminal justice for
production safety had been specified, and special treatment and control
of dust toxic hazards had been launched in the mining, metallurgical and
chemical industries. Severe punishment would be imposed in accordance
with law for refusal to rectify illegal behaviours.

In addition, the Chinese government actively promotes the development
of prefabricated construction industry. According to the “Thirteenth Five-
Year Action Plan for Prefabricated Construction” issued by the Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China, the government aimed
at increasing the proportion of floor space of prefabricated buildings to
newly constructed buildings in China to over 15% by 2020, among which,
the target proportion in the key development areas (Pearl River Delta,
Yangtze River Delta, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei) shall exceed 20%. According
to the plan of the Guangdong government, nine cities in the Greater Bay
Area had been classified as key development areas, among which, the
target proportion of floor space of prefabricated buildings in Shenzhen
Municipality and Guangzhou City shall exceed 30%. In addition, Nanning
City, Liuzhou City, Hezhou City and Yulin City had been classified as
the AR-level pilot cities for prefabricated construction by the Guangxi
government. The proportion of floor space of prefabricated buildings in
Nanning City is targeted to exceed 20% by 2020.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In terms of aggregates, as the management and control of natural gravel
resources and the regulation of environmental protection have become
stricter, the Chinese government actively promotes the development
of the manufactured gravel industry. In November 2019, the Chinese
government issued “Certain Opinions on Promoting the High-Quality
Development of the Manufactured Gravel Industry”, which aimed at
forming a relatively comprehensive and reasonable security mechanism
for the supply of manufactured gravel and increasing the proportion of
production capacity from ultra-large-scale manufactured gravel enterprises
with annual production capacity of at least 10 million tons to 40% by
2025.

TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

Through its positioning in Southern China, the Group promotes
transformation and innovation, and actively explores opportunities for
extension of industrial chain. The Group has achieved breakthroughs
in the new businesses of aggregates, prefabricated construction and
engineered stones.

With regards to aggregates, the Group acquired the mining rights of
aggregate quarries located in Wuping County, Fujian and Shangsi County,
Guangxi in November 2019 and March 2020 respectively, which has
further enriched the Group’s reserve of aggregates resources.

Prefabricated construction business is one of the Group’s key new
businesses for future development. So far, the Group has 7 prefabricated
construction projects, among which, projects in operation include
Dongguan RunYang in Guangdong and Nanning Hongji in Guangxi;
projects under construction include Nanning Wuhe and Guigang Runhe
in Guangxi as well as Zhanjiang RunYang in Guangdong. In January 2020,
the Group successfully acquired lands for prefabricated construction in
Jiangmen City, Guangdong and Laibin City, Guangxi.

In April 2019, through Runfeng New Materials, the Group acquired
40.0% equity interests of Universal Marble, whose principal business
is the production of natural stones and engineered stones. In June,
the Group entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with Yunnan
Construction and Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd., whereby both
parties shall launch comprehensive cooperation in terms of cement,
concrete and aggregate businesses. In October, the Group subscribed
for approximately 9.0% equity interests of YCIH Concrete, a subsidiary
of Yunnan Construction and Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd., to
become one of the strategic shareholders. The parties’ cooperation will be
beneficial to enhancing the Group’s market competitiveness in Yunnan
Province and creating the development strategy for extension of industry
chain.

—E-NEFER
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The Group attaches great importance to corporate social responsibility,
and proactively responds to the Chinese government's policies on
energy saving and emission reduction. By use of cement kilns for co-
processing municipal waste, urban sludge and hazardous industrial
waste, the Group actively participates in the treatment and management
of social solid waste, air and water pollution for the transformation into an
environmentally-friendly enterprise.

During the year, the Group participated in various industry forums,
including the “National Standards ‘Administrative Code of Prevention
and Control of Occupational Exposure to Dust' cum Occupational Health
Management Seminar” held by the China Academy of Safety Science
and Technology, the Second ACI International Solid Waste Management
Summit, the “Forum on Planning Proposals of Co-Processing by Use
of Cement Kilns” held by the Department of Energy Conservation
and Comprehensive Utilization of the MIIT, and the 2019 Third China
International Solid Waste Summit to conduct exchanges with corporate
representatives, industry experts and governmental institutions on issues
of safety and environmental protection such as occupational health and
co-processing.

In 2019, the Group’s unfailing efforts in sustainable development were
recognized by the industry and society. These include:

° In May, Guangzhou Zhujiang Cement Co., Ltd. and China
Resources Cement (Changjiang) Limited were awarded the Bronze
Award for the Manufacturing Sector and the EcoChallenger of
“BOCHK Corporate Environmental Leadership Awards 2018"
respectively by the Federation of Hong Kong Industry;

° In May, China Resources Cement (Longyan) Limited was included
in the register of the first batch of Green Manufacturing in
Fujian Province by the Department of Industry and Information
Technology of Fujian Province;

° In September, China Resources Cement (Wuxuan) Limited was
included in the register of the fourth batch of Green Manufacturing
by the MIIT;

° In September, China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited was

awarded the Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner Production
Excellent Partner (Manufacturing) Commendation by the
Environment Bureau of Hong Kong and the Department of
Industry and Information Technology of Guangdong Province;

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



FRWS
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

. TR RIMEHKEERATELRE
FREE RIS B B IR B HFIE /22019
FEEHBRETEERERE] AR
%

. BE_T-NFE AEBEAIMEREMH
16EEE LS AR Rk B AR ARAR BRI
ZE H UREREE EOEE B
2 ¥ LR BN ERSEEER
HWEBEREILN — T —NFEPEBARE
REINABR R AR BT LRBREEN S

Bo
BBE R =

—EoTFER (TR RENEZF  FEBA
BEFRPIGE TIERER KPS EEER-

EHUENRSREFE 2REEREEKE

REIRA — AR EEHRAE TIERE/ ME -

ERITRRIGIRIR B R, R ar (<18 T
(Bpix R RINE RBINE BB BR
H) RSB RETe

° In November, China Resources Cement (Lianjiang Fengcheng)

Limited was jointly selected as shortlisted energy-efficient “pace-
setter” enterprise in major energy-consuming industries in 2019
by the MIIT and the State Administration for Market Regulation;

° As of the end of 2019, 16 mines at 13 production plants of the
Group were included in the registers of provincial-level or AR-
level green mines, among which, 8 mines at the production plants
located in Luoding of Guangdong, Guigang, Nanning, Pingnan,
Shangsi and Tianyang of Guangxi, and Heqing of Yunnan were
included in the register of national-level green mines which had
passed the selection by the Ministry of Natural Resources of China
in 2019.

ZERNE (216H) ER L Gl EBIREBRER
ELRNEENERT [EEEREEEBUE
FHERGER) | 1B

China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited was
awarded the Hong Kong — Guangdong Cleaner
Production Excellent Partner (Manufacturing)
Commendation by the Environment Bureau of
Hong Kong and the Department of Industry and
Information Technology of Guangdong Province

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECT

2020 is the closing year of the “Thirteenth Five-Year” Plan. The Chinese
government will persistently seek progress amidst stability as its general
keynote, and promote high-quality development. Affected by the novel
coronavirus epidemic, the global economy is facing challenges. In late
January, the Chinese government has set up a leading group on novel
coronavirus prevention and control to resolutely win the battle for epidemic
prevention and control, whilst accomplishing the work for “Six Stabilities”
(stable employment, financial markets, foreign trade, foreign investments,
domestic investments and expectations) and maintaining the stable
operation of the economy.

—B-NEEFH
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Since February, the Chinese government has introduced a series of
preferential policies on taxation, finance and social security. The required
reserve ratio of financial institutions has been lowered to enhance the
efficiency of corporate financing and reduce the financing costs. Special
loans are supplied to support the prevention and control of epidemic as
well as the resumption of operation and production of enterprises. During
the period affected by the epidemic, the Chinese government launched
various measures including lower port-related levies, exemption of highway
toll fees for vehicles, provision of concessions on corporate electricity
consumption and encouraging reduction or exemption of rents for
enterprises, thereby further alleviating the pressure on corporate operation.
In terms of project construction, the Chinese government proposed
the resumption of operation of enterprises and projects according to
requirements in the fields of highways and waterways works, housing
construction and urban infrastructure construction. The government
accelerated the implementation of major projects and infrastructure
construction which had been specified in national planning, and required
the early commencement of a batch of construction projects which serve
the implementation of major national strategies and are in line with the
direction of the “Fourteenth Five-Year” Plan and investment policies.
Preliminary work, review, approval, tendering and commencement of
construction for these projects will be accelerated.

Regarding transportation infrastructure, in 2020, the Chinse government’s
target FAI on railways is approximately RMB800.0 billion while the
target FAI on highways and waterways is approximately RMB1.8 trillion,
which are more or less the same as the targets in 2019. According to
the “Thirteenth Five-Year” Plan, the target total operational length of
railways in China will reach approximately 150,000 km by 2020, among
which, that of high-speed rails will reach approximately 30,000 km. The
total operational lengths of highways and urban rail transit will reach
approximately 5 million km and 6,000 km respectively.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In respect of real estate, in order to promote the stable and healthy
development of the property market, the Chinese government persists
in maintaining the position that “residential properties are not for
speculation”, strengthens urban revitalization as well as renovation and
upgrade of available housing, vigorously develops rental housing, and fully
implements city-specific policies and long-term effective management
regulation mechanism for stable land prices, stable property prices and
stable expectations. In addition, the Chinese government promotes
strategies for rural revitalization to improve infrastructure for water supply,
power supply and information technology in rural areas. It is targeted that,
by 2020, impoverished regions will be basically connected to the main
national highways, and county seats with the necessary conditions will be
connected to roads of Grade Il or above.

In February 2019, the State Council of China promulgated the “Outline
Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area”, with the objective to essentially form the framework for an
international first-class bay area and world-class city cluster by 2022
and fully develop an international first-class bay area by 2035 where
economic system and mode of development would be mainly supported
by innovation. In July 2019, the Guangdong Provincial Government
published the “Three-Year Action Plan for Promoting the Construction
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area by Guangdong
Province (2018-2020)", which aimed to achieve the total operational
length of rail transit of 2,400 km and that of expressways of 5,000 km
in the Greater Bay Area by 2020, whilst promoting the construction of
world-class airports cluster and ports cluster. The gradual advancement
of construction in the Greater Bay Area will drive the regional demand
for building materials such as cement and concrete in the medium to
long term.
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Looking ahead, the Group will persistently develop the three core strengths
of the “lowest total costs, leading market position in the region, innovation-
driven development”. The Group is dedicated to enhancing efficiency and
quality of operation and further improving the management standards
of environmental protection, safety and health. The Group will deepen
brand marketing and the construction of sales channels, strengthen the
capability in R&D of new products, new technologies and new materials
for the creation of competitive advantage by differentiation. The Group
will fulfil corporate social responsibility, promote co-processing by use of
cement kilns and foster green development of the industry. In addition, the
Group will grasp the opportunities in the development of the Greater Bay
Area, accelerate the pace of transformation and innovation, and promote
the development strategy for extension of industry chain. The Group will
also continue to seek opportunities for strategic cooperation with domestic
and overseas leading enterprises for the joint promotion of sustainable
development of the cement industry in China.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank the Directors, the
management team and all employees for their dedication and hard
work, which contributed to the healthy development of the Group’s
business. On behalf of the Board, | would also like to express our gratitude
to shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and other
stakeholders for their persistent trust and unfailing support to the Group.

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



BRI
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TERRETAPRE

HNORFRRE T R AR B ERR R BT
R BEMZEM G OREEE BEHER
LKEEEERERERE KEMRRTIREE
BORHY RSB AR IR IR TS AR D%
FEBEXERIHEGE NEEXEL R
NEEIRFE N EMPENRMORRE L EMEE
BI% RAKERERRNEIEZERE 1IN
BIRK AR EEF BRI AN EERA
Z— Bt RERBEBRFEREERIKR
TERBENTZEBERR M TAREERZ —-F
B RIRIRE  Z 2 A ERBERRERT
EriRT AEREEZSE T ER ST R AISER
ARSI -

REA 4%
JI Youhong, Chief Executive Officer

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Cement and concrete are the main and basic building materials for
infrastructure projects, property construction and rural development.
Cement consumption is highly correlated to economic development and
FAI. As cement and concrete are relatively heavyweight building materials,
the key to success of a producer’s business is highly dependent on its
core competitive advantage within the regional market. The performance
of the Group’s business operation is therefore subject to certain major
factors such as the business environment of the regions where the Group
has business operation, which significantly affects the selling prices of
the cement and concrete products. Besides, coal cost represents one
of the significant causes for volatility in the cost of cement production.
Accordingly, the substantial fluctuation of coal price poses one of the
principal potential risks and uncertainties affecting the performance of
the Group and the cement industry at large. As the Chinese government
continuously poses stricter requirements for environmental protection,
production safety and occupational health, the Group’s competitiveness in
these aspects is the key to its sustainable development.
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ACQUISITIONS

On 16 April 2019, Runfeng New Materials, the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiary, acquired approximately 20.0% equity interests of
Universal Marble at a consideration of RMB388,116,348 (equivalent
to approximately HK$453,394,000). Together with the acquisition
of approximately 20.0% equity interests of Universal Marble at a
consideration of RMB387,880,100 (equivalent to approximately
HK$453,117,000) on 18 January 2019, Runfeng New Materials currently
holds as to 40.0% of Universal Marble in aggregate.

On 30 October 2019, CR Cement HK, the Company’s wholly owned
subsidiary, subscribed 40,164,000 H shares of YCIH Concrete at the
global offer price of HK$3.36 per share, representing approximately
9.0% of its total issued share capital and a total consideration of
HK$134,951,040. The H shares of YCIH Concrete had been listed and
started trading on the main board of the Stock Exchange since 31 October
2019 (stock code: 1847).

NEW PRODUCTION PLANTS

The Group's cement production plant at Anshun City, Guizhou

ERKORERABR AR
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Since 2019, the Group completed the construction of one clinker
production line with annual production capacity of approximately 1.4
million tons and two cement grinding lines with total annual production
capacity of approximately 2.0 million tons in Anshun, Guizhou. In addition,
the Group added one concrete batching plant and shut down one
concrete batching plant. The Group’s total annual concrete production
capacity remained unchanged.

CAPACITY UTILIZATION

The utilization rates of the Group’s cement, clinker and concrete
production lines in 2019 were 102.1%, 112.7% and 39.2% as compared
with 102.9%, 113.7% and 39.8% respectively for 2018.

COST MANAGEMENT

Operational Management

In 2019, in order to enhance the operational efficiency of production
plants, the Group continuously implemented delicacy management of
production operation, strengthened internal benchmarking management
and offered 74 technological supports through the coordination of
expert resources such as technical committee and the Technology
Research and Development Centre for solving the common problems of
production plants such as production technical indicators and equipment
management. During the year, the Group implemented 219 technological
upgrades, covering the scopes of safety, environmental protection, energy
saving and consumption reduction, which were conducive to improving
the performance indicators and quality of production and operation.

The Group continuously implemented lean management and promoted
key projects of technological upgrade for energy saving. As of the end of
2019, the Group had completed the technological upgrade of packaging
machines and dust collection systems of mobile loading machines at all
cement production plants and grinding stations, which had improved
measurement accuracy, reduced operating costs and further enhanced
operating efficiency and economic benefits. Upon the foundation of the
successful experience concluded from the cement production plant
in Pingnan, the Group initiated plans for water treatment at the mines
of cement production plants located in Lianjiang, Guangdong and
Hepu, Guangxi during the year. In addition, in order to reduce energy
consumption and maintenance costs, save energy and enhance efficiency,
the Group had trialed new technologies and new equipment such as
highly effective energy-saving technology of draught fans and highly
effective energy-saving two-stage air compressors at some production
plants.
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In terms of quality management, the Group proactively organized checks
and comparisons of coal and cement among all cement production plants.
The Group continuously improves checking standards and rectifies the
problems appeared in the checking process to stabilize the qualities of
coal and grinding aids and to reduce production costs.

On the other hand, the Group continuously promoted informatization,
digitalization and intelligentization. Pilot projects of intelligent
manufacturing had been rolled out at the cement production plants
located in Tianyang and Nanning, Guangxi as well as Fengkai,
Guangdong. Among which, for the intelligent manufacturing pilot
project conducted at the cement production plant located in Tianyang
in cooperation with Siemens Ltd., China, the main functions of the
first phase had commenced trial operation, which included important
functional modules such as management of production and operation,
full-lifecycle management of equipment, prediction and analysis of
equipment, and advanced controls. For the Group’s pilot project of
equipment and quality management system in cooperation with China
Resources Microelectronics at the cement production plant located in
Nanning, the equipment management system and quality management
system had successfully commenced operation and achieved integration
and connection with the “Smart Card” system and the automatic loading
system. The real-time online automatic batching system of the cement
production plant located in Fengkai had commenced operation, which
had solved problems such as adjustment for time delay due to manual
batching and low passing rate and had further stabilized the quality of
clinker.

Procurement Management

In 2019, the Group purchased a total of approximately 10.1 million
tons of coal (approximately 10.5 million tons in 2018), among which,
approximately 80% and 20% were sourced from northern China and
neighbouring areas of our production plants respectively (76%, 21%
and 3% were sourced from northern China, neighbouring areas of our
production plants and Australia respectively in 2018). The proportion of
direct procurement from coal producers increased to approximately 82%
(79% in 2018). In the future, the Group will continuously strengthen
cooperation with large-scale domestic coal suppliers, adjust the strategies
of imported coal according to the Chinese government’s policy on coal
import in order to secure a stable supply of coal of excellent quality.

In terms of procurement of other raw materials, the Group continuously
develops new materials, expands new channels and introduces new
suppliers to secure the supply of raw materials and reduce procurement
costs. Amid the Chinese government’s stricter requirements for
environmental protection and the stronger protection of natural resources,
the Group has been gradually using manufactured sand instead of river
sand and water-washed sea sand in Guangdong and Guangxi in order to
meet the requirements for environmental protection and reduce costs.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



BEES MR Nifr
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

YR ER

VREERAREERMSHF INEEREEL
*o_ﬁfﬁﬁ XRRERLEBRASTE

HEHEEMRKAZ LB - 51 AEERE
ﬁ%ﬁ?&%mkﬁﬁu?’f?’?ﬂiﬁﬁm%//\b’ﬁiﬁg?g
BEHBRER AR ESER RELE
WA L TR R

—NE AEEEFETRSFERHE N
3A0ENE - RARENEBRRERIBENSE
HYE SRS ©

BErh EIBUR SRR ESURTH NEETEE(L P
BEMBEAEIN EREHR REVHEE-

BE_TNFE AEEHEE T EPEE

T EMBEBRIK= AR - FHEEEL 492,140
BN EEANE B E RIS T -

AN REEED RFFREEE RS TR
THREBKE —RBERBEERRD LS
ECREEEIERENA  JORHEBRB T ERE
RREFEEMERHEL R LR

i 8

—NE AEBEERHRETRERLE
B2 FEmETRELEEREERE BY
BEENER AREBEREERNBFE
BETIE BAERRERBEEHRE Y
HEMETTAR ER TEA AN ESIRN @tk
BHBE R MR AE  bEo - NEE R
BHEREEIREM MBS TE UWERYER
ERH TR AR IRE

Logistics Management

Logistics management is one of the Group’s key measures in maintaining
its market competitiveness. In 2019, the total social logistics costs
were on a rising trend due to environmental protection inspections and
strict control on vehicle overloading. During the year, the Group actively
implemented tendering for logistics transportation, organized two-way
logistics and reduced the impact of rising social logistics costs through
measures such as controlling port resources of excellent quality and
initiating joint shipment by railway.

In 2019, the annual shipping capacity of the Group along the Xijiang River
was approximately 34.4 million tons, which secured stable and continuous
logistics capabilities for the Group’s business operation.

Amid the Chinese government’s stricter requirements for environmental
protection, the Group continuously optimized the layout of its silo terminals
and cooperation methods to build compliant and environmentally friendly
silo terminals. As of the end of 2019, the Group controlled the operations
of 35 silo terminals with annual capacity of approximately 21.4 million
tons, which are mainly located in the Pearl River Delta Region. This
consolidates the Group’s leading market position in Guangdong.

In addition, the Group is dedicated to providing excellent services to
customers and continuously enhancing the level of informationized
logistics. The “Smart Card” system had been launched at 14 cement
production plants, and the mobile application for placing sales orders of
cement products had been rolled out in all the regions where the Group
has business operation.

SALES AND MARKETING

In 2019, the Group continued to intensively work on the construction
and management of brand image, formulated management measures
for the appraisal of franchise stores of the brand image, and optimized
the management of franchise stores. The Group integrated channel
construction with digitalized transformation as well as traditional media
with new media such as the Internet, and implemented targeted
advertising by the combined online and offline modes to strengthen
the brand awareness among target consumer groups. In addition, the
Group continuously promoted the registration and consolidation of brand
trademarks to achieve full legal protection on the trademarks of our
products.
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RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION

Capability of Research and Development

As of the end of 2019, the Group's Technology Research and
Development Centre had 45 specialized employees, including 4 doctors
and 14 masters. Among the R&D personnel, 2 were professorate senior
engineers.

The Group applies for patent licenses for its various R&D achievements.
As of the end of 2019, the Group held 158 patent licenses, including 24
inventions and 134 utility models.

In 2019, the Group’s laboratory of the Technology Research and
Development Centre provided 1,982 checks and tests for the Group'’s
production plants, effectively supporting lean operations of production
plants. During the year, the laboratory of the Technology Research and
Development Centre conducted optimization projects for production plants
including Fengkai, Guangdong, as well as Tianyang, Hongshuihe, Pingnan
and Guigang, Guangxi. Energy consumption at production had been
further reduced and product quality had been enhanced by diagnosis
and improvement on kiln grinding system, optimization on the quality of
production technique and improvement on the performance of grinding
aid.

On the other hand, the Group continuously rolled out R&D on new
products and new technologies to meet the needs of different markets
and customers. The Group continued to promote products such as
“Wang Pai Gong Jiang” renovation cement, masonry cement and pervious
concrete. Cement was also sold to nuclear power stations in Fujian, which
was mainly used for the construction of nuclear islands of nuclear power
stations as well as large-volume concrete buildings including military
engineering, dams and hydroelectric power stations. In addition, the
Group had researched and developed nano-curing agent product suitable
for rapid demolding of precast concrete components to shorten the time
for components to demold.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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All-Staff Innovation

The Group encourages all-staff innovation and promotes the
implementation of innovation projects. In 2019, the Group continuously
promoted the application of 15 key innovation projects at each production
plant, among which, the innovation project of mobile dust collection
had been applied to all the cement production plants of the Group,
and dust emissions from cement packaging and delivery had met the
environmental protection requirements according to third-party checks
and tests. Other projects had also gradually commenced pilot work and
application at each production plant for the treatment and management
of mines, energy saving, emission reduction, storage management and
technical quality management.

EXTENSION OF INDUSTRY CHAIN

Aggregate

The Group is exploring opportunities for the development of aggregates
in the regions where it has business operation. In the future, we will fully
leverage on the synergetic advantages of cement, concrete, aggregates
and prefabricated construction businesses, promote industrial integrative
development and further consolidate the core competitive advantages of
the Group.

In November 2019, the Group successfully acquired the mining rights
of a granite quarry for construction (used for manufactured sand) in
Wenxi mining concession, Wuping County, Longyan City, Fujian, with
resource reserve of approximately 56.0 million tons and planned annual
production capacity of approximately 2.0 million tons, which is expected to
commence operation in 2021.

In March 2020, the Group successfully won the bid for the mining
rights of a limestone quarry in Jiangyu Mountain, Shangsi County,
Fangchenggang City, Guangxi, with resource reserve of approximately
65.0 million tons and planned annual production capacity of
approximately 5.0 million tons, which is expected to commence operation
in 2021.
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Prefabricated Construction

As of the end of December 2019, the Group had 2 prefabricated
construction projects in operation, among which, the project located in
Dongguan City, Guangdong was attributable to the associate DongGuan
RunYang United Intelligent Manufacturing Company Limited. Its products
are mainly supplied to public housing and commodity housing projects in
Shenzhen Municipality and Zhuhai City. For the project located in Nanning
City, Guangxi, the Group cooperates with Nanning Hongji Cement
Products Co., Ltd in production, which mainly supplies to commodity
housing projects in Nanning and neighbouring cities.

The Group has 3 other prefabricated construction projects under
construction in Zhanjiang City, Guangdong as well as Nanning City and
Guigang City, Guangxi respectively. Among which, the concrete batching
plants of the projects in Guigang and Nanning have commenced
operation in 2019.

In January 2020, the Group acquired land for the production of
prefabricated construction components in Yamen Town, Xinhui District,
Jiangmen City, Guangdong. We won the bid for the land with an area
of approximately 45,500 m? and design annual production capacity of
precast concrete components of approximately 50,000 m3. In the same
month, the Group acquired land for the production of prefabricated
construction components in the High-Tech Industrial Cluster Park in
the Industrial Park Zone of Laibin City, Guangxi. We won the bid for the
land with a total area of approximately 153,000 m? and design annual
production capacity of precast concrete components of approximately
200,000 mq,

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Design annual

Area of production
Project name land acquired capacity Status Particulars
(m?) (m?)
&R Guangdong
55 (1) - 40,000 &% o EmBAAFEHENIT HWETRELEERARETEER -
Dongguan Runyang In operation e Currently, products are mainly supplied to public housing and
(note 1) commodity housing projects in Shenzhen Municipality and Zhuhai City.
HLERG 210,000 400,000 ety o —HRRTHEREMHEES (REHEEL200000 7K) BER =
Zhanjiang Runyang Under T-FHE-
construction e Phase 1 production line of precast concrete components (design annual
capacity of 200,000 m3) is expected to commence operation in 2021.
IPER 45,500 50,000 HElH o BRIZZTE-AHBLe
Jiangmen Yamen Under o CREILBHUL (FERL00,0003 5 K) KRR L TERIB A ESTE
planning BR-T-—FHE-
e Won the bid for the land in January 2020.
o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 900,000 m?)
and production line of precast concrete components are expected to
commence operation in 2021.
&7 Guangxi
BERE (72) - 15,000 Egm o EmBAFEREREREEATARETSEEE
Nanning Hongji In operation e Currently, products are mainly supplied to commodity housing projects
(note 2) in Nanning and neighbouring cities.
HELSR 167,000 400,000 et o RELENUL (FEA0000LHK) ERZZ-NETZAE
Nanning Wuhe Under B ORRIEABMLESREIN S —FRE-
construction o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000 m?)
had commenced operation in December 2019; production line of
precast concrete components is expected to commence operation in
2021.
BEEBA 130,000 200,000 #% o CRERTEMUL(FELE0000 5K ER-E-NFH—AR
Guigang Runhe Under EORELIELEHEERERN S 2FEE-
construction o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000 m?)
had commenced operation in November 2019; production line of
precast concrete components is expected to commence operation in
2020.
REHE 153,000 200,000 HElH o BRIZEZZF-ARGLi-
Laibin Runhe Under o BERZTZ_FRE-
planning e Won the bid for the land in January 2020.
o Expected to commence operation in 2022.
= notes:

1. AEEEFEZEAARRETEGHA L IEERAR49% 1. The Group holds 49% equity interests of the associate DongGuan RunYang United

BORERS Intelligent Manufacturing Company Limited.
2. AEEEEEREKERNRBERARSIEEE- 2. The Group cooperates with Nanning Hongji Cement Products Co., Ltd in production.
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New Materials

In April 2019, the Group completed the acquisition for 40.0% equity
interests of Universal Marble through Runfeng New Materials. The
principal businesses of Universal Marble are processing of natural
stone, and manufacture and sale of engineered stone. Its products are
mainly applied in the renovation and decoration of municipal buildings,
residences, shopping malls, hotels and office buildings. This acquisition
will further foster the Group’s strategic transformation, create business
synergy values and achieve the development strategy for extension of
industry chain. Runfeng New Materials actively builds R&D capabilities
by undertaking R&D and promotion of new products such as inorganic
engineered stones, and achieved product development through the trial
production of pervious concrete and engineered stone made of large
aggregates. Currently, the engineered stone products sold by Runfeng
New Materials have been applied in construction projects such as cultural
exhibition centres, commercial properties and gardens in Guangdong and
Shaanxi Province.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The functional currency of the Group is RMB while the financial figures
are all denominated in HK$. Comparing with 2018, RMB had depreciated
against HK$ by approximately 4%.

Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to HK$38,955.6 million, representing an increase of 0.4%
from HK$38,791.5 million for 2018. An analysis of segmental turnover by
product is as follows:

“Z-NF —T-)N\F
2019 2018

HE SWM/IKK HE BN/ K
T THEER EEH + THER BEE
W,/ YK BT Tz  B/URXK BT TET

Average Average

Sales selling Sales selling
volume price Turnover volume price Turnover

'000 HKS$ per '000 HK$ per
tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000 tons/m? ton/m? HK$'000
Kk Cement 82,528 370.7 30,597,238 82,602 3778 31,207,149
A} Clinker 4,497 321.8 1,447,028 4,033 3289 1,326,334
RE L Concrete 14,212 486.3 6,911,295 14,231 4397 6,257,987
st Total 38,955,561 38,791,470
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In 2019, our external sales volume of cement, clinker and concrete
decreased by 74,000 tons, increased by 464,000 tons and decreased by
19,000 m3, representing a decrease of 0.1%, an increase of 11.5% and a
decrease of 0.1% respectively over 2018. During the year, approximately
76.9% of the cement products we sold were 42.5 or higher grades
(71.5% in 2018) and approximately 35.6% were sold in bags (38.9% in
2018). Internal sales volume of cement for our concrete production was
2.9 million tons (2.9 million tons in 2018), representing 3.4% of the total
volume of cement sold (3.4% in 2018).

BREMBTNDMERE

Segmental turnover by product

BEET HK$ million
6,911 30,597 KR Cement 6,258 31,207
1,447 @ =R Clinker 1,326 ,
@ SREL Concrete

2019 2018

R-F-NF KAEBEZREI D NIORHEN

N

Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2019 were as follows:

“Z-NF —E-N\F
2019 2018
BE SHTHEN EEE HE SHTHER BxE
i B T i B Tk
Average Average

Sales volume selling price Turnover  Sales volume selling price Turnover

£/ BRE Province/AR '000tons  HK$ per ton HK$'000 '000tons  HK$ per ton HK$000
ER Guangdong 30,519 4146 12,654,217 31,339 4188 13,125,328
-3 Guangxi 26,528 347.8 9,227,310 25,765 3484 8,977,758
R Fujian 10,675 330.6 3,529,526 10,082 3628 3,658,008
hte Hainan 4,519 400.3 1,808,772 5,030 4110 2,067,217
ey Yunnan 4,207 377.2 1,587,052 4,896 3584 1,754,755
EM Guizhou 2,181 260.1 567,320 2,361 3195 754,235
1i7E Shanxi 3,899 313.7 1,223,041 3,129 2780 869,848
oty Total 82,528 370.7 30,597,238 82,602 3778 31,207,149
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The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2019 were
HK$370.7 per ton, HK$321.8 per ton and HK$486.3 per m?3 respectively,
representing a decrease of 1.9%, a decrease of 2.2% and an increase
of 10.6% respectively from 2018. The increase in average selling price
of concrete in 2019 reflected the higher cost of production due to the
increase in materials prices.

Cement sales volume by geographical area

’000 tons
G ’ 2,361 3,129
= uangdong
&7 Guangxi 4,896 i
@ FEE Fujian 5,030 - 31339
@ 7 Hainan !
@ =75 Yunnan 10,082 2018
&M Guizhou
@ (L7 Shanxi
25,765

Costs of sales

The consolidated cost of sales of the Group comprised coal, electricity,
materials and other costs, which represented 29.9%, 11.5%, 35.3% and
23.3% of the cost of sales respectively for the year (33.4%, 11.9%, 32.5%
and 22.2% in 2018 respectively). As for cement products, coal, electricity,
materials and other costs represented 36.6%, 14.1%, 23.3% and 26.0%
of their costs respectively for the year (39.7%, 14.2%, 22.0% and 24.1%
in 2018 respectively). Materials cost is the major component of the cost of
sales of concrete, representing 91.3% of the cost of sales of concrete for
the year (90.9% in 2018).

The average price of coal we purchased in 2019 was approximately
HK$673 per ton, representing a decrease of 10.4% from the average
price of HK$751 per ton in 2018, while the average thermal value of coal
increased by 0.3% to 5,234 kcal per kg. During the year, our unit coal
consumption decreased to 145.2 kg per ton of clinker produced from the
average of 147.2 kg in 2018. Our standard coal consumption decreased
to 105.5 kg per ton of clinker for the year from the average of 106.5 kg in
2018. As a result of the decrease in coal price and coal consumption, our
average coal cost for the year decreased by 11.5% to HK$97.8 per ton of
clinker produced from HK$110.5 in 2018.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Our average electricity cost decreased by 3.9% from HK$31.1 per ton
of cement to HK$29.9 for the year. During the year, we enjoyed the
benefits of lower electricity tariff for a total of 3,951.2 million kwh of
electricity consumed (3,926.7 million kwh in 2018), which accounted for
60.9% of the total electricity consumption for the production of cement
products (59.4% in 2018), and saved HK$165.8 million (HK$211.0
million in 2018) under direct power supply agreements and price bidding
arrangements. Our electricity consumption remained steady at 72.9 kwh
per ton of cement for the year (73.0 kwh in 2018). Our residual heat
recovery generators generated 2,083.8 million kwh of electricity for the
year, representing a decrease of 0.7% over 2,098.6 million kwh in 2018.
The electricity generated in 2019 accounted for approximately 32.1% of
our required electricity consumption (31.7% in 2018) and we achieved a
cost saving of approximately HK$1,017.9 million for the year (HK$1,036.8
million in 2018).

Other costs mainly comprised staff cost, depreciation, and repairs
and maintenance cost. Repairs and maintenance cost included in the
cost of sales of cement products for the year was HK$1,098.9 million,
representing an increase of 16.0% from HK$947.6 million in 2018.

Cost structure of cement products

HK$ per ton
$53.1 $87.2
Bk Coal (24.1%) (39.7%)
@ ZEH  Electricity
@ E#E Materials
Hfth  Others 2018
$48.3

(22.0%)

$219.7
(100.0%)

Gross profit and gross margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2019 was HK$15,657.5 million,
representing an increase of 1.5% from HK$15,420.0 million for 2018 and
the consolidated gross margin was 40.2%, representing an increase of 0.4
percentage points from 39.8% for 2018. The increases in consolidated
gross profit and gross margin for the year were mainly attributable to the
lower cost of sales of cement products compared to 2018. The gross
margins of cement, clinker and concrete for 2019 were 44.0%, 41.9%
and 23.1%, as compared with 42.9%, 39.9% and 24.2% respectively for
2018.
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Other income

Other income for 2019 was HK$603.4 million, representing an increase of
5.1% from HK$574.3 million for 2018.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2019 were HK$1,986.7 million,
representing an increase of 0.1% from HK$1,985.2 million for 2018. As a
percentage to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution expenses for
the year remained the same as 2018 at 5.1%.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2019 were HK$2,328.5 million,
representing a decrease of 8.5% from HK$2,544.7 million for 2018. As a
percentage to consolidated turnover, general and administrative expenses
decreased to 6.0% for 2019 from 6.6% for 2018.

Exchange (loss) gain

An exchange loss of HK$36.5 million was generated from non-RMB
denominated net borrowings of the Group mainly due to the depreciation
of RMB against other currencies during the year (HK$104.5 million
exchange gain due to appreciation of RMB for 2018).

Share of results of associates

The associates of the Group contributed a profit of HK$326.7 million for
the year (HK$181.9 million in 2018) of which loss of HK$89.9 million,
profit of HK$100.3 million, profit of HK$289.5 million and profit of
HK$15.6 million (profit of HK$17.0 million, profit of HK$26.3 million, profit
of HK$136.5 million and loss of HK$4.8 million in 2018) were attributable
to the Group’s associates operating in Inner Mongolia, Fujian, Yunnan and
Guangdong respectively.

Share of results of joint ventures

Our joint ventures principally operating in Guangzhou area contributed a
profit of HK$221.0 million for 2019 (HK$220.9 million in 2018).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2019 was 27.6%, as compared
with 29.4% for 2018. Had the effect of the results of associates and joint
ventures, the exchange difference, as well as the withholding tax in the
Chinese Mainland for dividends and the deferred tax on the intended
distribution profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland to a holding
company in Hong Kong been excluded, the effective tax rate of the Group
for 2019 would be 25.2% (25.4% in 2018).

Net margin

Net margin of the Group for 2019 was 22.3%, which was 1.7 percentage
points higher than that of 20.6% for 2018.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding mainly included cash on hand, bank
loans, unsecured medium-term notes, issue of equity securities and cash
flows generated from operations.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:

R+=A=+—H
—E-h#F —ZT—N\F
¥ F
As at 31 December
2019 2018
‘000 ‘000
ABIT HK$ 244,549 1,763,654
AR RMB 10,420,451 9,299,880
ETT Uss$ 152,465 514

R-ZF-NEF+-A=1—H AEENRTER
#AJE 733,300,000,0007 7T M A R #12,600,000,000
7T+ B AR AR #511,456,000,0007T AR E AL AT ]
IR - AR S B H 3R 1T B SR AR RR /34,577,100,000
ATHFEER (R T /\F+-_A=1+—HRK
9088600000/ B T HELRR)  BIEFRIA T EHT
BERNER:

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s banking facilities amounted to
HK$3,300.0 million and RMB12,600.0 million, of which RMB11,456.0
million was unutilized and remained available for drawdown. The total
bank loans of the Group amounting to HK$4,577.1 million equivalent
(HK$9,088.6 million equivalent as at 31 December 2018) comprised
loans in the following currencies:
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The bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018 were unsecured.

As at 31 December 2019, bank loans of the Group which carried
interests at fixed and variable rates amounted to HK$223.3 million and
HK$4,353.8 million respectively (HK$4,788.6 million and HK$4,300.0
million respectively as at 31 December 2018).

In 2016, the Company was granted an approval by the National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors of PRC for the
issuance of medium-term notes in an aggregate amount of not more than
RMB9.0 billion and commercial paper in an aggregate amount of not
more than RMB4.5 billion in China. On 5 September 2016, the Company
completed the issuance of the first tranche of the medium-term notes in
the amount of RMB3.0 billion at the coupon rate of 3.50% per annum for
a term of five years which will expire in September 2021. These medium-
term notes are unsecured and remained outstanding at 31 December
2019.

Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$3,300.0 million equivalent with expiry dates from November 2020
to May 2022, CR Holdings is required to hold not less than 35% of
the issued share capital in the Company. Under the terms of certain
agreements for the total banking facilities of HK$3,300.0 million
equivalent, the net gearing ratio of the Company (calculated by dividing
net borrowings by equity attributable to owners of the Company, and as
may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not exceed
180%. The Group was in compliance with the above financial covenants
as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group adopts robust and prudent treasury policies in financial
management. Treasury management, financing and investment activities
are all managed and monitored by the senior management of the
Company, and all treasury activities of the Group are centralized. The
Group regularly monitors its current and expected liquidity needs as
well as compliance with bank loan agreements in order to maintain its
sufficient cash reserves and flexibility in funding for meeting the Group's
short-term and long-term liquidity needs.

The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$ and
RMB. The Group's exposure to currency risk was attributable to the bank
balances and debts which were denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the entity to which these bank balances and
debts were related. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency exposure. However, the
management regularly monitors the relevant foreign currency exposure
and will consider taking appropriate measures to control the risk arising
from significant exchange fluctuations. These will include hedging
significant currency exposure and/or increasing the proportion of RMB-
denominated borrowings of the Group should the higher interest costs
be considered justifiable against the risk of exchange losses. The Group
was not engaged in any hedging contract as at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018. As at 31 December 2019, non-RMB denominated
debts accounted for 42% of the total debts of the Group (34% as at 31
December 2018).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, there was no charge on assets by the Group
(Nil as at 31 December 2018).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had issued guarantees to banks
in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB1,258.2 million
(RMB1,815.6 million as at 31 December 2018) granted to associates,
of which RMB1,198.5 million (RMB1,640.2 million as at 31 December
2018) had been utilized.
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ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Pursuant to the placing, underwriting and subscription agreement dated
11 June 2018, the Company issued 450 million ordinary Shares at a price
of HK$9.30 per Share in cash to CRH (Cement) Limited, the Company’s
immediate holding company. The gross funds raised was HK$4,185.0
million and the net proceeds, after deducting all professional fees and
other out-of-pocket expenses, was approximately HK$4,180.3 million,
representing a net issue price of approximately HK$9.29 per Share. The
closing price as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 11 June 2018 was
HK$10.32 per Share. Details of the placing and the top-up subscription
were disclosed in the Company’'s announcements dated 11 June 2018
and 25 June 2018.

The Board considers that the abovementioned issue of Shares has
strengthened the capital base of the Company. Details of the use of net
proceeds are as follows:

R=Z-N\§ R=Z-N&F
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Er=[E FR Er=[ REBHA
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Amount Amount Amount
Amount utilized utilized unutilized Expected
Intended use of intended to as at during as at timeline
FIBRENETERE net proceeds be utilized  31/12/2018 theyear  31/12/2019 of utilization
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
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BEER prefabricated By 2021
construction business
BRERER Development of 1,254,000 - 182,100 1071900 —Z=—F 5]
aggregate business By 2021
BRER Repayment of debts 836,000 836,000 - - TEA
Not applicable
—REEES General working capital 418 279 418,279 - - TEA
Not applicable
st Total 4,180,279 1,321,179 294,400 2,564,700
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Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
carried out any fund raising activities in respect of issue of equity securities
during the year.
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ARFFEREARZTH FUTURE PLAN AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
BEARLXH Capital expenditure

REZE—NFTZA=1T—H8 FAEBEBAEEE  Asat 31 December 2019, the Group had outstanding capital expenditure
Bt ) i AR S E AR S 1 42,5153000008 7T for production plants under construction in the amount of HK$2,515.3

Annual Report 2019

ZEEEAMFIBNT million. Details of these production plants are as follows:
R-E-N\%& R=B-h%E
_EBEAM t-A=t-H g t-A=1-H
gAzies  chEE  cHRE  Bemaad
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Outstanding
Total capital Expended Expended capital
expenditure as at during  expenditure as at
EH Projects for the project 31/12/2018 the year 31/12/2019
HKS$ million HKS million HK$ million HK$ million
ERUNEMZIETEEESR  Construction of production lines in Anghun
(KERZR B BEEED R City, Guizhou, with total annual capacities
#72,000,000M & of approximately 2.0 million tons of cement
#71,400,0000 ) and approximately 1.4 million tons of clinker 15305 574.8 643.2 3125
FRMRERE TN Construction of a production plant for
REARERHEERY prefabricated construction components with
(Rt FERE design annual capacity of approximately
#7400,0003Z 7 K ) 400,000 m? in Zhanjiang City, Guangdong 4546 69.4 209 364.3
SRR EREEmL Construction of a production plant for
REAREBHEERN prefabricated construction components with
(Rt FERE design annual capacity of approximately
#1400,00032 775K ) 400,000 m? in Nanning City, Guangxi 546.4 24.2 65.1 457.1
ARNREREETN Construction of a production plant for
REAREBHEERNY prefabricated construction components with
(REHFER design annual capacity of approximately
#9200,0003 77 % ) 200,000 m* in Guigang City, Guangxi 2344 239 263 184.2
FRNRERRETH Construction of a production plant for
REARERHLERN prefabricated construction components with
(REHFER design annual capacity of approximately
#9200,0003 77 % ) 200,000 m? in Laibin City, Guangxi 215.0 - - 215.0
SRR ERIF TN Construction of a production plant for
REAREEHEERNY prefabricated construction components with
(REFFER design annual capacity of approximately
#950,00032 77k ) 50,000 m* in Jiangmen City, Guangdong 2279 - - 2279
SRR T A Construction of a production plant for
FHEEEN aggregates with planned annual production
(F8 8% E 52 492,000,0000 ) capacity of approximately 2.0 million tons in
Wuping County, Fujian 3553 - 1734 1819
SRR ER ERE Construction of a production plant for
FHEEEM aggregates with planned annual production
(37 214 £ 85475,000,000M2 ) capactty of approximately 5.0 million tons in
Shangsi County, Guangxi 4451 - - 4451
eIy R Construction of 3 concrete batching plants with
CRETMBFER total annual capacity of approximately 1.8
#71,800,00032 17 ) million m? of concrete 1274 - 0.1 1273
s Total 41366 692.3 929.0 2,515.3
“E-NEER
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Payment of capital expenditure

In addition to the capital expenditure on the production plants under
construction, the Group had outstanding payment for the construction of
production plants completed in the previous years, which have already
been included under other payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019. Total payments for capital
expenditure of the Group are expected to be approximately HK$1,321.6
million and HK$1,283.4 million in the years 2020 and 2021, which will
be financed by proceeds from previous placing of Shares and internally
generated funds.

JI Youhong
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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This report aims to enhance open communications with and address
the issues concerned by our shareholders, investors, stakeholders and
the public on the Group’s philosophy, governance,
and performance on the two main scopes of environmental and social
responsibilities.

implementation

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This report is prepared mainly with reference to the principles and
provisions of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

SCOPE OF REPORT

This report mainly includes the statistics and information for the year
ended 31 December 2019, as well as comparative data of the year ended
31 December 2018. The main scope of report covers 96 cement grinding
lines, 45 clinker production lines and 61 concrete batching plants of the
Group. Unless otherwise stated, this report does not cover the Group’s
associates and joint ventures.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company established the “Corporate Culture and Social
Responsibility Steering Committee”. The Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer serve as the President and the Vice President of the
committee respectively and are responsible for the leadership, promotion
and decision-making of the Company’s strategic directions with respect
to social responsibility, which lay a solid foundation for the Company
to launch its social responsibility work. During the year, the Board was
engaged in environmental, social and governance work through adopting
the Environmental and Social Responsibility Report and conducting a
seminar on the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
and related Listing Rules.

—B-NEEFH
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The principle of “Three-tiered Management and Control” has been
implemented in the Group’s EHS organizational system at each level,
which comprises the EHS organizational institutions of headquarters,
major operating regions and production plants. EHS organizational
institutions at each level includes the EHS Committee, the EHS
Supervision and Management Department and the EHS Supporting
Department: the EHS Management Committee at headquarters is chaired
by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The headquarters set up
the EHS Department and appointed the Chief Safety and Environmental
Officer. EHS departments or EHS offices are set up at our major
operating regions and production plants respectively under the direct
management of persons in charge of corresponding major operating
regions and production plants. The Group was dedicated to improving
the EHS accountability policies. All departments at headquarters, major
operating regions and production plants entered into the “Letter of EHS
Undertaking”, and relevant policies had been incorporated in the annual
performance appraisal.

A. ENVIRONMENT

The Company proactively fulfils its social responsibilities as a corporate
citizen, vigorously implements green production, reduces emission
of pollutants and strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations.
According to the requirements of national, industrial and local laws and
regulations, we carry out prevention and control of air, water and noise
pollutants. All pollutant emission levels of all production lines were better
than or met the national and local standard limits of pollutant emissions.

1. EMISSIONS

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including but not
limited to: the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the
People’'s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise Pollution, the
Environmental Protection Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Soil Pollution, and the Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Cement
Industry.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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With strict reference to relevant requirements on environmental laws and
regulations, the Group had established the “EHS Management Series”
of the “Management Manual” of the Company and sound environmental
management system, and issued definite requirements on the monitor
and management of pollutant emissions relating to co-processing projects.
The Group’s star-grading management appraisal system sets targets
based on the results of industry benchmarking or internal benchmarking.
Comprehensive appraisal on the environment, health and safety aspects
of every cement production plant is conducted, which enhances the
management standard and fosters corporate sustainable development.

Green Production

During the production and manufacturing process of our major products
(namely, cement, clinker and concrete), the Group mainly emits pollutants
including nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and particulate matters.
The Group proactively promotes green production. Currently, 100%
of our cement production plants have obtained permits for pollutant
emissions, and 100% of our cement and clinker production plants
have been equipped with pure low-temperature residual heat recovery
generation systems!, denitration systems? and bag filters®. In addition,
the Group selectively applied desulphurization technology according to
the actual needs of operation of each production line. As of the end of
2019, the Group completed the construction of 3 sets of wet-process
desulphurization systems and 11 sets of composite desulphurization
systems.

1 Pure low-temperature residual heat power generation system directly uses the residual
heat of medium-and-low temperature waste gas discharged from the emission ends of the
kilns of the cooling machine for power generation, with no fuel consumed or pollutants
produced.

2 Dinitration system is a system which prevents environmental pollution by excessive
emission of nitrogen oxides from the combustion process within the cement kilns through
reducing the amount of nitrogen oxides generated and eliminating nitrogen oxides in the
flue gas.

3 Bag filter is a dry-type dust filter devise for collecting fine, dry, non-fiber dust through the
application of the main principles of bag-type fiber filter and gravitational settling.

“E-hEFR 51
Annual Report 2019



RIERHESIRS

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

AEEEFRR SR ER G T 6 BR
H BRI PR A EEARDS A B DRIE L Y AR BE A
TRMAEG BB & R RE B £ EE Y
REBBETERS  E—FRIDSAYBERAE
RETEEE S - REHEIRTIBE R EEKRF 3L
BaLTE MR RHRFEEE R BHERE
g AEEE T NFREIPATREER
TEEESSRDFRERSE TSR

& AR
SRNMEE -

AR BB SOFBER M - JRFIRRIRMKF
FETKF - REEBRATTE S RE R IF
LR R AT (heSNCR ) - I B> AR BABE R AT
BEE E—PREASILCYIFRRE —F=
TERAEREENREEE MBI TIE-
BE_TNFE AEEREAABELEE
M BRBEN ME RSO S E R R
RSB EFNERRR BB RUREEEEL0
/MR BERBEREIHRRE
R EEERI RO EEE R -

52 ERKORERABR AR

The Group has established a platform at headquarters to monitor
the emissions of environmental pollutants, thereby achieving the
headquarters’ real-time monitor and alarm system on pollutant emissions
of all production lines. The risk management capability on pollutant
emissions has been further enhanced by timely reminders to urge
production plants to verify abnormal data through the platform. Since
2019, the Group had taken the initiative to be subject to scrutiny from all
sectors of the society by spontaneously making full disclosure on real-time
pollutant emissions data of all production lines in order to continuously
improve the standards of clean production, build an excellent corporate
image of strict legal compliance and harmonious community, prevent and
control risks of environmental protection.

The Group had been proactively seeking new technology of emission
reduction and enhancing technological standards and management
standards of environmental protection. The Group actively researched on
intelligent denitration technology of highly effective selective non-catalytic
reduction (heSNCR), which had integrated multi-level combustion
technology to further reduce the emission concentration of nitrogen
oxides. Pilot work will be rolled out at our cement production plants in
2020. As of the end of 2019, the Group had applied a new type of bag
filters in high temperature for ultra-low emissions at the cement production
plants in Hepu County and Guigang City, Guangxi, Yangchun City and
Fengkai County, Guangdong. The emission concentrations of particulate
matters had been reduced to below 10 mg/m?, which are far lower than
the national special emission limits. The technology will be continuously
promoted at our cement production plants in Southern China in the future.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group applies the mobile dust collection technology of cement
loading, and implements technological upgrade of cement packaging
machines for further reduction of emission of particulate matters. In
2019, the Group had fully completed the work on dust treatment and
management of cement packaging and loading with full coverage on the
application of mobile dust collection technology of cement loading, which
had enabled the compliance with national requirements of “Quota of
Occupational Access to Harmful Factors at Workplace” (GBZ2.1-2007) for
the dust emitted during packaging and delivery. The automatic bagging
technology had also been successfully applied at the cement silo of the
cement production plant located in Jiangmen, Guangdong. The pilot
project for the application of automatic bagging technology and automatic
loading technology at the cement production plant located in Nanning,
Guangxi had passed acceptance inspection in late 2019. Completion
of the project had further improved the working environment of cement
bagging and loading, enhanced the automation level of the equipment
and effectively reduced the emission of particulate matters. The pilot
application of automatic packaging, bagging and loading machines in
Nanning had been recognized by the competent authorities including the
National Health Commission of China, and would be expected to gradually
promote in the Group. The Group’s achievements in the research of
highly-effective bag filters and filter materials for ultra-low emissions were
accredited as the key and advanced R&D achievements of “Two Second-
Generation” Technology and Equipment Innovation and Upgrading
Research and Development by the China Building Materials Federation.
The Group was also invited to participate in drafting the industrial
standard JB/T 13416-2018 “Bag Filter Materials for the Treatment and
Management of Dust Emission in Flue Gas by Cement Industry”.

As of the end of 2019, the cement production plants located in Tianyang,
Nanning, Pingnan and Wuxuan of Guangxi, and Heging of Yunnan had
been included as green factories in the register of national-level Green
Manufacturing. The cement production plants located in Pingnan,
Wuxuan, Shangsi and Luchuan of Guangxi, Longyan of Fujian, and Jinsha
of Guizhou were included as green factories in the registers of provincial-
level or AR-level Green Manufacturing.

—E-NEFER
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HE-ZT—+H T \FE - ZFT—NF+= Data of pollutants emitted from the major discharge outlets of the Group’s
A=+—HItFE AEEKBEEEMTESE  cement production plants for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018
AR S L MEERERESINT and 2019 is set out as follows:

—E-hE —T—N\F —T—+F

2019 2018 2017
RE‘EERE (W) Emission of nitrogen oxides (tons) 37,584 39,822 41,513
—E bR E (M) Emission of sulphur dioxide (tons) 1,824 2,352 2,726
SR PR E (8) Emission of particulate matters (tons) 2,083 2,361 2,472

AEBHNRENY SR RBERNYFHEEER Our emission concentrations of nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and

EEYERER S AYBEIZERE 75175 particulate matters are lower than the national standard limits of pollutant

BAEEML - HE T —+4F - —T—)\FF =  emissions, placing the Group at a leading position in the industry. The

T-NF+_A=1+—HBIEFE AEEKEL  average emission concentrations of pollutants emitted from the major

EAMESHR O RS TFIBERORE A KRB discharge outlets of the Group's cement production plants for the years

FAARIEEEIZE ST ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 as well as the benchmarks of
relevant national standards are set out as follows:

KEIERRTEY
B AEBAREER N
(GB 4615-2013) FTEHRONSEYNEHIEREE
Emission Standard of Air Pollutants Average emission concentrations of pollutants
for Cement Industry emitted from the major discharge outlets of the
(GB 4615-2013) Group’s cement production plants
—# sl
BERR(E HHBRE Z=B-hAEF —T-N\F IT—+F
Ordinary Special
emission emission
limits limits 2019 2018 2017
=Rl &7 Nitrogen oxides
(2%, MFHXK) (mg/m?) 400 320 240 254 259
—&bER Sulphur dioxide
(BR/MHXK) (mg/m?) 200 100 13 18 16
BRY) Particulate matters
(ZBR/7HK) (mg/m?) 30 20 9 11 11
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Handling of Waste

Fully enclosed delivery is adopted during materials treatment and delivery
process at all the clinker production lines of the Group. Each transit
point had been equipped with filters to collect particulate matters and
minimize dust scattering. The Group applies the dust collected by highly-
effective bag filters in our raw materials, semi-finished products and
finished products in order to recycle the solid waste generated during
the production process. Waste-free or less-waste technology has been
adopted at mining areas. To achieve zero discharge of waste residue,
harmless wastes such as waste slag and stones are all compositely
utilized.

Regarding harmful wastes, the Group recycles the waste oil generated
in the production process for lubrication of mechanical equipment
in accordance with the “hazard-free, mass-reducing and recyclable”
principle. Oil barrels are recycled by the original manufacturers or handled
by qualified institutions.

Control of Carbon Emissions

The “Thirteenth Five-Year National Work Plan to Control Greenhouse
Gas Emissions” published by the Chinese government had specified
that, by 2020, the emission of carbon dioxide per unit of GDP would be
reduced by 18% from 2015. The “Thirteenth Five-Year Development Plan
of Cement Industry” published by China Cement Association had also
specified that the reduction in emission of carbon dioxide from cement
industry should reach 15% during the “Thirteenth Five-Year” period. The
Group will strive to make achievements on emission reduction following
the directions of the target requirements issued by the government and
the industry.

The Group places strong emphasis on the work for tackling climate
change, and actively reduces carbon emissions through production
operation and R&D of products. In terms of production operation, the
mines of the Group’s cement production plants located in Fengkai County,
Guangdong are approximately 50 km away from the port terminal. In order
to solve the issue of limestone transportation, the Group invested in the
construction of a 52 km long belt corridor, the central transportation artery
which connected the limestone quarry, production plant and port terminal.
The project commenced the first phase of construction in September
2008, and a double-belt corridor of 40 km in length had completed
construction and commenced operation. The second phase for a belt
corridor of 12 km in length is under construction. Compared to vehicle
transportation, the belt corridor in Fengkai can reduce carbon dioxide
emissions.

—E-NEEH
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In terms of energy saving and consumption reduction, all the cement
and clinker production plants of the Group are equipped with residual
heat power generation systems. In 2019, approximately 2,083.8 million
kwh of electricity was generated from residual heat, representing
approximately 32.1% of the Group'’s electricity consumption required for
production of cement products, which was equivalent to reducing the
emissions of approximately 704,300 tons of carbon dioxide every year.
The Group continuously implements lean management and technological
upgrade projects for energy saving and consumption reduction. Energy
consumption had been reduced by equipping cement grinding systems
with roller press, adopting final grinding technology by roller press during
the processing of raw materials, and initiating upgrade on high-voltage
frequency conversion. Furthermore, the Group actively promotes co-
processing projects by use of cement kilns. Our existing 8 co-processing
projects make use of the heat value of municipal solid waste, urban
sludge and hazardous industrial waste to replace some of the fuel, thereby
reducing coal consumption and carbon emissions. During the year, the
Group’s emission intensity of greenhouse gases had been continuously
decreasing. In the future, we will continue to strictly control carbon
emissions for tackling climate change.

On the other hand, the Group has been actively conducting R&D on
low-carbon products and technology. Our Technology Research and
Development Centre had been researching and developing low-carbon
cement featuring low consumption of resources and low burden to the
environment, and there would be approximately 10% reduction in carbon
dioxide emission during combustion process compared to traditional
Portland cement. The Technology Research and Development Centre is
also researching on coal combustion technology for a higher combustion
efficiency through controlling its combustion behaviour, which will
decrease coal consumption of unit products, reduce emissions of carbon
dioxide and other exhaust gas, and cut production costs. As of the end
of 2019, various cement and clinker products of the Group’s production
plants located in Luoding, Guangdong, as well as Tianyang, Nanning
and Guigang, Guangxi, and Heging, Yunnan had passed the low-carbon
product certification.

Besides, 8 plants in Guangdong and 5 plants in Fujian of the Group had
settled the carbon credit quota for 2018, and the calculation of quantity
of carbon emissions for 2019 had been done in accordance with the
“Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions

for Cement Enterprises (Trial)” in preparation for the future unification of
national carbon market.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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2. USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has an energy management system and the policy
“Supervision and Management of Energy Saving and Emission
Reduction”. All resources consumed during production process
are measured for the assessment of operational performance of the
production plant in order to enhance the utilization rates of energy and
resources as well as economic benefits. In addition, the Group persistently
encourages energy saving mainly through the use, saving and recycled
use of energy, investment of environmental protection technologies for
energy saving, technological upgrade on emission reduction, R&D and
innovation.

The Group insists on the application of new technology and new
equipment of high standards. All the cement and clinker production plants
are equipped with residual heat power generation system, which would
recycle and convert the residual heat generated during the process of
cement production into electricity. It raises the efficiency of energy use,
reduces coal consumption, alleviates air pollution and greenhouse effect,
and brings about good economic, social and environmental benefits.

The Group actively promotes conservation and recycling of water, and
initiates the pilot comprehensive composite treatment and management
on the collection and recycled use of industrial wastewater, domestic
wastewater and rainwater in the cement industry. Strict procedures and
standards for treatment of domestic wastewater had been formulated
with reference to national first-class emission limits. All the cement and
clinker production lines had been equipped with intensive biochemical
water treatment system. Treated industrial wastewater and domestic
wastewater is fully recycled for uses in residual heat power generation
systems, cooling water production systems, gardening in the factories
and dust settling at storage yards. Initial rainwater is collected for direct
recycled use. All wastewater is not discharged. Following the pilot trial at
the cement production plants located in Nanning, Guangxi and Fengkai,
Guangdong, the Group plans to promote the implementation at 7 cement
production plants including Pingnan, Guangxi in 2020, to highlight the
requirements for technology advancement and preference for lower
operating costs under the condition of stable operation, thereby achieving
the goals of zero discharge of wastewater and composite utilization of
water resources.
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In 2019, water consumption of the Group was 32,545,608 tons, and
intensity of water consumption for the production of cement and clinker
was 360.4 kg per ton of cement produced.

The proportion of cement sold in bags by the Group decreased from
38.9% in 2018 to approximately 35.6% in 2019, which had reduced the
demand for product packaging. Recyclable packaging bags are also fully
utilized to reduce waste of resources and energy. In 2019, consumption of
packaging materials decreased by approximately 9.3% year-on-year.

In addition, the Group continuously advocated for the concept of green
office and called for all-staff joint construction of a resources-intensive and
environmentally-friendly enterprise. The Group promoted OA and ERP
office systems, advocated for paperless offices, strengthened management
on office equipment, reduced energy waste, promoted use of water-
saving appliances to reduce water consumption, and recycled plastic
and paper to reduce waste generation. Commuter buses were offered
to employees at some production plants and some operating regions for
work commutes. We also advocate for public transportation, bicycles and
walking as alternatives to driving private cars for work commutes.

3. ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

Co-Processing

In reliance on independent innovation, the Group promotes co-processing
projects in the three scopes of municipal solid waste, urban sludge
and hazardous industrial waste in order to fulfil its corporate social
responsibility whilst supporting transformation of environmental protection
and achieving sustainable corporate development.

Compared to traditional landfilling, co-processing of solid waste by use
of cement kilns* enables the Group to substantially save land resources
and eliminate poisonous pollutants such as dioxin by effective use of heat
inside cement kilns, thereby achieving “hazard-free, mass-reducing and
recyclable” processing and creating a healthier living environment for local
residents.

4 Co-processing by use of cement kilns is the processing of solid wastes which meet the
requirements for entering kilns, whether with or without pre-treatment, by inputting the
solid wastes into cement kilns for combustion, taking advantage of the features of cement
kilns including high temperature, alkalinity and large capacity, during production of cement
and clinker.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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As of the end of 2019, the Group had 8 co-processing projects in total.

Details of the projects are set out as follows:

HE &8 kRt FRERE D (W) iR B8
Annual Processing
Project Name Type Capacity (tons) Status
BrRERS Y58 8 A B IR 110,000 B
Binyang, Guangxi Municipal solid waste In operation
E v S 90 HE BT 3% 180,000 B
Tianyang, Guangxi Municipal solid waste In operation
B E mBER (i22) 110,000 B
Nanning, Guangxi Urban sludge (note 2) In operation
BEMERIK (521) MBOTE (522) 300,000 EEH
Zhushui, Guangzhou (note 1) Urban sludge (note 2) In operation
BMEER (1) MBOT (§22) 300,000 B
Yuebao, Guangzhou (note 1) Urban sludge (note 2) In operation
BEET TR EEY) 30,000 B
Changjiang, Hainan Hazardous industrial waste In operation
=R 48 A VE BT 3R 110,000 HEE
Midu, Yunnan Municipal solid waste In trial operation
EmBE (i#1) 48 A VE BT 3R 110,000 HEE

Fengging, Yunnan (note 1)

i3

1 IREERAERARNRBEESM

Municipal solid waste

notes:

In trial operation

1. Located in the cement production plants of our associates and joint ventures.

2. MEIHBEESKEORNZSE HWKEBEESKE 2. The Nanning project co-processed wet sludge of 80% moisture content. The Zhushui

A0%IAT BVEZ)5fE  HLER TR B FE SR B BN T 2 7K %40%

AT HES T -

(2R —tF ZE-N\EFRZE-NF+ =
A=+—HIEFE  ANEBKEEEREMIIHBFE

REEBUREIIINT

project co-processed dry sludge of below 40% moisture content. The Yuebao project co-

processed dry sludge of below 40% moisture content in Guangzhou City on an urgent

basis.

Data of waste co-processed by the Group’s cement production plants for
the year ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 is set out as follows:

—E-hF —ZET-N\F —T—tF
2019 2018 2017
YASASERIR (WE)  Municipal solid waste
co-processed (tons) 162,700 166,000 82,400
MBS Urban sludge co-processed
(80% & 7K =& - TiE) (with 80% moisture content, tons) 56,500 49,300 49,700
TEEMEEY (WE)  Hazardous industrial waste co-
processed (tons) 7,200 8,700 6,700

—E-NEFER
Annual Report 2019 59



RIERHESIRS

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

BEREERA

REEBRNARNRRE L EFBERREETH
FER EARICENEC  FRANABEAE RS
BNMAER BERBELEZERNANERL:
REBRGEMB R EREMRENERL
Bt RRFREEHRBER

BE_ZT—+% T \FR_ZT—NF+=
A=+—BU&FE AEBENREERMMNTE
EEBLRARIAESEEHIIT

Composite Utilization of Resources

The Group is dedicated to research and exploration of the application
of industrial wastes in cement production. Through optimization of the
prescription of raw materials, the project on composite utilization of
limestone residue resources was launched to achieve industrialization
of utilization of mining waste resources, foster composite utilization of
resources and recyclability of social waste processing, which is a proactive
contribution of environmental protection to the community.

Data of industrial waste utilized by the Group’s cement production plants
for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 is set out as
follows:

—E-NEF —E—N\F —ET—+tF
2019 2018 2017
TEREBGRE Quantity of industrial waste
FIAE (FHE) utilized (‘000 tons) 21,080 21,840 21,470
BILEE Treatment and Management of Mines
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The Group places strong emphasis on treatment and management of
mines. Ecology, environmental protection, safety and intensive utilization
of resources have always been the primary focus of our work. We confirm
the work approach of scientific planning, reasonable mining, resources
conservation, promotion of harmonious development between human
beings and the nature as well as green, ecologically and environmentally
friendly mining enterprise. Restoration of mines is included in the
production, operation and long-term development plans of the Company.

Environmental assessments must be conducted for new projects and
damages on the ecology in the course of development and construction
are avoided to the greatest possible extent. For the mining areas, through
recycled use of water resources in the mines, there is zero discharge
of wastewater. Measures are taken for timely recycling of waste oil and
application of shock reduction and weak shock blasting technologies,
in order to reduce the impact of production and operation activities on
ecological environment and ensure existence and continuity of species in
the region.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Before closure of a mine, the Group would undergo treatment,
management and restoration of the environment at the mine in strict
compliance with the “Project of Mining Geo-Environimental Protection and
Integrated Renovation” and the “Land Rehabilitation Plans” formulated
at the time of applying for the mining permits and approved by relevant
competent authorities of natural resources according to the “Provisions
on the Protection of the Geologic Environment of Mines” published by the
Ministry of Natural Resources of China. In terms of ecological restoration,
the concept of “biodiversity” has been actively introduced by planting
various vegetations with reasonable mix and match for a coordinated
landscape of the regreened mining area and the surrounding natural
environment. The green coverage ratio of the mining area reached 100%,
with a gradual restoration of ecological balance. It would be inspected for
acceptance by relevant competent authorities of natural resources.

The Group proactively implements the “National Mineral Resources Plan
(2008-2015)" issued by the Ministry of Land and Resources of China
and the “Implementation Opinions on Accelerating the Construction of
Green Mines” jointly issued by six national departments, and initiated the
construction of green mines according to the “Green Mine Construction
Specification of Cement Limestone” issued by the Ministry of Natural
Resources of China. As of the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
had completed ecological restoration of its mines with a cumulative area of
approximately 2,228,700 m? (approximately 1,861,100 m? in 2018). As of
the end of 2019, a total of 16 mines at 13 plants among 27 cement and
clinker production plants of the Group had been included in the registers
of provincial-level and AR-level green mines, among which, 8 mines at 7
plants had passed the selection of national-level green mines.

“E-hEFR 61
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The mine of China Resources Cement (Nanning) Limited had passed the selection of national-level green mine
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In addition, in terms of the treatment and management of water inrush
at mines, the Group had successfully blocked the 3 major water inrush
points at the mine of the second phase in Pingnan. Water inrush had
been reduced by 117,000 m3 per day, and 1.1 million kwh of electricity
had been saved per year due to reduced water discharge. Costs of
discharging water resources had also been saved, and mining resources
had been increased. An excellent corporate social reputation had been
maintained as the risks of sink and collapse of buildings in the vicinity had
been effectively solved and the local ecological environment had been
completely restored. The technology of the project has been recognized by
the society and won the Second Class Award of Science and Technology
Award from the China Society for Rock Mechanics and Engineering.
Meanwhile, upon conclusion of the experience of water treatment at the
mines in Pingnan and on the foundation of technological achievements,
the plans for water treatment at the mines of Lianjiang, Guangdong
and Hepu, Guangxi had been completed, which drove for the orderly
commencement of preparation work for water treatment.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Employees by geographical region

20,433 20,142 19,665

159 159 151

2018

@ &t
Hong Kong

2017 2019

® FEMI
Chinese Mainland

B. SOCIAL

| - EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

The Group regards our employees as the most valuable resources for
our corporate survival and development. We provide and create a broad
career development platform and opportunities for the employees to
display their individual talents.

1. EMPLOYMENT

General Information

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 19,816 full-time
employees (20,301 as at 31 December 2018) and its employee attrition
rate was 5.4% (6.4% as at 31 December 2018). A breakdown of our
employees by geographical region and gender is set out as follows:

RERESHES
Employees by gender

83% 83%

83%

2017
® it

Female

2018
@ =i
Male

2019

—E-hEER
Annual Report 2019

63



RIERHBERMIRS
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

B EEE DR E BRSSO T A breakdown of our employees by function is set out as follows:
R+=—BA=+—8H
—E-NEF —2—N\F T —+tF
As at 31 December
2019 2018 2017
gt Management 402 393 390
WIS fTBU R EA Finance, administration and others 2,485 2,648 2,672
HEAB Production staff 11,627 11,753 11,996
Fir A8 Technical staff 4,420 4,618 4,633
TEHAB Sales and marketing staff 882 839 901
HBET Total 19,816 20,301 20,592
HERIDRIESPMAEINNT A breakdown of our employees by age is set out as follows:
R+=—A=+—H
—E-NHF —E-N\F —T—t&F
As at 31 December
2019 2018 2017
2988 K AT 29 or below 3,023 3,648 4,501
30E395% 301039 8,450 8,635 8,612
4024957 4010 49 6,697 6,524 6,294
508% M A 50 or above 1,646 1,494 1,185
4ast Total 19,816 20,301 20,592

FARE B REEAET  89%AFMN11%4A  Among our 402 senior and middle-level managerial staff, 89% are
T 7T6%IFE KBS FEA 21%EHE XK male and 11% are female, 76% possess university degrees or above,
BEHE BHEFHFRNAEGHR (N2 —\F 21% have received post-secondary education and the average age of
+=A=+—B5 543934 89% 11%74%  managerial staff is approximately 46 (393, 89%, 11%, 74%, 22%, 45 as
22% ~ 458%,) ° at 31 December 2018).
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Labour Law and Standards

The Group is in strict compliance with laws and regulations including the
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Regulations on Paid Annual Leave of the Employees,
Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurances, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests,
the Special Rules on the Labour Protection of Female Employees, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors, the
Provisions for Special Protection of Under-Aged Labour and the Provisions
on Prohibition of Using Child Labour. By adhering to the principle of
equal employment, we prohibit all discrimination due to differences
in gender, age, territory, education, religion, nationality, races, sexual
orientation and disability. We also oppose forced labour, overtime work,
harassment and abuse. We effectively protect the rights and interests
of employees, support the minimum wage, and ensure that employees
enjoy fair entitlements in terms of recruitment, labour, salary, training,
promotion, compensation and rest periods. As of the end of 2019, 21.0%
of employees were of ethnic minorities and 59 employees had disabilities.

The Group insists on legal use of labour and prohibits employment of child
and forced labour. We strictly check the age of applicants, never employ
minors aged below 16, adopt special labour protective measures for minor
workers aged above 16 but below 18, and never force others to work
by means of violence, threats or restrictions on their physical freedom,
in order to protect their legal rights, interests and health pursuant to the
Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Minors, the Provisions for Special Protection of Under-
Aged Labour and the Provisions on Prohibition of Using Child Labour.
Employees must truthfully provide their personal data at commencement
of employment, and must start to work in accordance with the
requirements of relevant policies after commencement of employment.
Cases of holding forged identification documents or providing false
personal data or false work experience, once found, will be handled
according to the relevant requirements of the Group’s policies. Serious
cases with detrimental effects might be handled according to relevant legal
requirements.
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We put strong emphasis on the diversity of our employees. Our
recruitment channels include campus recruitment, social recruitment and
internal referral. The recruitment process is equal and impartial based
on the job duties of the roles without any pertinent conditions. Abiding
by the principles of fairness, equality and negotiation for unanimous
consensus, the Group enters into employment contracts with employees in
accordance with the requirements of labour law to specify the rights and
obligations of both employers and employees. We continuously improve
the timely and effective mechanism and channels for negotiation and
communication to actively promote democratic management. Smooth
feedback channels are opened for employees to provide real-time
feedback opinions and aspirations through diversified channels such as
employees’ congress, whistle blowing hotlines, whistle blowing emails and
OA forum. Opinions and suggestions from employees are sought at each
level when formulating systems and policies involving vital interests of
employees.

Human Resources Policies

We offer our employees remuneration packages mainly on the basis of
individual results performance and work experience and also having
regard to internal fairness and market competitiveness, including basic
wages, performance related bonuses, allowance and other staff benefits.
Using issues as guidance, the Group continuously optimizes and improves
the staff remuneration management mechanism. An interrelated mode
had been established to link the total salaries with staff performance
indicators for strengthening the improvement of staff performance.
In combination with the results of internal and external studies as
well as data benchmarking, the structure of junior and middle-level
remuneration had been optimized to intensify the performance leverage
and incentives of remuneration. An annual remuneration adjustment
mechanism was designed to incline towards core roles to increase the
market competitiveness of key roles. The bonus allocation mechanism
had become more results-oriented and contributory from profits in order
to reflect the mutual use of all-staff benefits, mobilize the enthusiasm of
employees, attract and retain excellent talents and employees in core
roles.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Group continued to optimize and offer various benefits and
entitements to its employees. Timely and full contributions to the “Five
Social Insurances and One Housing Fund” and the Mandatory Provident
Fund are made for Mainland employees and Hong Kong employees
respectively. Targeted body check packages were continuously provided
to employees. Commercial insurances were taken out for employees and
their two close family members, which promoted the care for employees
and improved protection to employees. We oppose to any form of forced
labour, implement the policy of an eight-hour working day, and have
policies for overtime work and holiday adjustment in place to secure
adequate resting period for employees.

The Group proactively optimized the mechanism for talent quality
appraisal indicators and the appraisal methods, which were applied to
the promotion and composite appraisal of the senior and middle-level
managerial staff. The capability quality models of the Group’s senior and
middle-level managerial staff had been organized and improved through
comprehensive appraisal of senior and middle-level managerial staff,
discovery and development of talents with high potential. The senior and
middle-level managerial staff were trained with capabilities to take up
any role and stimulate team vitality. We vigorously selected and cultivated
young senior and middle-level managerial staff for the systematic
promotion of construction of talent ladders. The job appraisal system to
evaluate the performance of professional technical personnel had been
amended, and job appraisal was conducted on a regular basis. We
proactively organized a series of “Excellent Craftsmen” programmes such
as vocational practical skill training, technology competitions and talent
shows. We combined business strategy, job requirements and personal
development needs to gradually improve various talent training systems
and actively cultivate “knowledgeable, skillful and innovative” talents in
order to ensure the secured supply of talents for the Group'’s high-quality
development.

The Group focuses on protecting the rights and interests of female
employees. The requirements for maternity leave and lactation leave for
female employees are fully implemented. “Employee nursing rooms” and
“ladies’ changing rooms” are provided for female employees. Equal career
development opportunities are offered to ensure that female employees
are entitled to non-differentiated remunerations and benefits. Besides,
the Group provided personalized benefits through measures such as
organizing activities of International Women’s Day and annual body check
projects targeting female employees to raise the sense of belonging and
happiness of our female employees.

—E-NEEH
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Care for Employees

The Group is dedicated to enhancing the working environment and team
ambience for its employees. Various group activities were organized for
better physical and mental health of our employees, such as staff birthday
parties, festival celebrations, sports activities, calligraphy competitions and
fitness activities. During the year, we organized an interesting athletic meet
for headquarters staff combined with physical fitness, brand promotion,
interesting athletic meet, family activities, group birthday party and long-
term service award presentation ceremony, which had further enhanced
our headquarters staff's cohesion and sense of belonging.

2019 Shenzhen headquarters employees’ family day cum interesting athletic meet
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Employees participated in 2019 China Resources Shenzhen Nanshan Half Marathon
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The Group has always paid keen attention to caring for employees. To
understand their practical difficulties and needs as well as to care for and
follow up with the improvement on their living conditions, we regularly visit
employees in need and their families with solicitude. We send regards
and blessings to these employees during festivals to reflect our corporate
spirit of humanity and care. In 2019, the Group and its employees
donated a total amount of approximately RMB1,157,000 to the “China
Resources Cement Gratitude Fund”, which aims at caring for and helping
the employees in need. Employees in need were subsidized with a total
amount of approximately RMB969,000.

—B-NEEFH
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2. PRODUCTION SAFETY AND
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH

The Group is in strict compliance with the Production Safety Law of the
People’'s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Safety in Mines and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases, and promulgated
the “EHS Management Series” in the “Management Manual” and
other relevant policies and regulations of the Company for the stringent
implementation, monitor and continuous improvement on the staff
occupational health and safety management system, reinforcement
of safety management on counterparties and proactive launch of
supervisions and inspections. Safety risk assessments of projects were
conducted in accordance with relevant national laws and regulations.
In 2019, the Group promulgated and implemented policies including
the “Safety Management Measures on the Storage Yards of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited”, “Management Measures on EHS
Duty of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited”, and “Policy for
Accountability of Safety Incidents of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited”. Currently, the coverage rates of the OHSAS 18000 Occupational
Health & Safety Management System and staff body checks are both
100%. As of the end of 2019, the Group had a total of 274 specialized
EHS management personnel, among which, 192 were specialized safety
management personnel (including 59 registered safety engineers).

The Group is committed to production safety standardization and
raising the overall standards of safety management through continuous
improvement on fundamental management and innovative management
models. As of the end of 2019, 28 cement production plants of
the Group (inclusive of grinding stations) have passed the on-site
assessments as the First-Class Enterprise in National Production Safety
Standardization and the limestone mines of 17 cement production plants
have passed the assessments as the Second-Class Enterprise in Safety
Standardization. Pilot construction of a First-Class Mine of Production
Safety Standardization commenced at the cement production plant in
Tianyang. The pre-assessment of the mines in Tianyang had completed in
August, which possessed the qualifications required for the assessment as
the First-Class Mine in Production Safety Standardization.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Safety Inspections

The Group had established long-term effective mechanism for the
inspection, treatment and management of latent hazards of production
safety incidents. Multi-level inspections, supervision, treatment and
management of latent safety hazards were continuously reinforced at
headquarters, major operating regions and production plants to prevent
and minimize incidents of personal injuries and secure the safety of
our employees’ lives and properties. In 2019, the Group successively
conducted annual safety assessment inspection on 32 cement production
plants and 54 concrete batching plants, annual large-scale safety
inspections at 9 cement production plants and 1 concrete batching
plant, specific safety inspections at the mines of 14 cement production
plants, on-site supervision on the repairs and maintenance as well as
management of counterparties at 13 cement production plants. 17
concrete batching plants were inspected and assisted. Meanwhile, the
Group conducted safety audit. The on-site safety audit of 5 cement
production plants and 2 concrete batching plants drilled comprehensively
on the reasons for management issues, which had enhanced
improvement on management systems, standardized management
process, strengthened safety risk management and promoted better safety
management. Throughout the year, 244 large-scale composite inspections
and 200 specific inspections were done at major operating regions and
production plants. During the year, approximately 18,545 participants
attended the emergency drills organized by the Group.

Safety Training

The Group actively implemented safety training and combined online and
offline training methods. Videos of safety emergency drills were uploaded
on the Group’s online learning platform at the learning system of China
Resources University to encourage our staff to self-study. In 2019, the
aggregate duration of safety training for the Group’s staff amounted to
approximately 328,000 hours, whereas that for counterparties amounted
to approximately 73,000 hours. At the same time, an online examination
platform had been created to effectively implement safety leadership and
enhance the management standards of health and safety. A closed book
examination on health and safety knowledge was organized for senior
and middle-level managerial staff in December, with 207 participants in
attendance.

Safety Activities

The Group organized a wide variety of safety activities to promote all-staff
participation in safety management, arouse corporate safety culture and
implant the concept of safety management in staff, families and society.
During the year, the major operating regions and production plants under
the Group organized 88 sessions of EHS knowledge competition with
a total of 5,875 participants in attendance. A total of 11 teams of the
Group participated in the final EHS knowledge competition organized by
China Resources Group. A series of activities during the promotion week,
including keynote presentations, staff forums and lectures were launched
around the theme of “Healthy China in company with Occupational
Health”, with approximately 13,049 participants in attendance.

ZE-NFFR 71
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Safety Innovation

The Group has preliminarily formed a practice method with the features
of cement industry to advocate the full application of EHS management
elements and encourage systemization of EHS management. We actively
promoted the intelligent management of storage yards. Pilot projects
of intelligent vehicles were launched in storage yards of the cement
production plants located in Pingnan and Nanning, Guangxi and Luoding,
Guangdong. It is expected to achieve a full coverage of intelligent
management of storage yards at cement production plants by the end
of 2020. Lockout tagout management will be fully rolled out on the basis
of the experience from the lockout tagout pilot project at the cement
production plant located in Huizhou, Guangdong. Blasting of mixed
explosives was promoted. The mines of 13 cement production plants had
been using on-site mixed explosives to initiate blasting. 10 mines had
maintained a consistent utilization rate of mixed explosives at above 90%,
which had increased the intrinsic safety standards of mine blasting.

Management of Counterparties

The Group reinforced safety management on counterparties in
accordance with the “Policy for Safety Management on Counterparties
of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (Trial)”. Contractor of
construction projects, service providers for maintenance and repairs
of equipment, transportation providers, headhunters, suppliers, waste
handlers, tenants, technical service providers are all included in the
scope of counterparties. The Group abides by the principle of “whoever
uses a counterparty has to manage them and is responsible for them”
in counterparty safety management. Counterparties are managed on the
basis of classification and levels. Counterparties working at higher risk are
subject to the mechanism of advanced notice, filing of cases and regular
monitoring. The Group would review and verify the safety qualifications of
each counterparty prior to signing a contract with it. Safety requirements
would be incorporated in the contract, and the counterparty would have to
enter into a safety agreement simultaneously. Before a counterparty may
enter our factories, the Group would confirm the protective gears, safety
method statement and contingency rescue plans. Upon entering the site,
all personnel are required to attend pre-entrance safety training and site
safety training to secure the safety and health of the counterparties.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Emergency drill for urgent karst cave incidents jointly launched with professional mine rescue
team at the mine of the cement production plant at Pingnan, Guangxi
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3. DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Talent is the basis of a corporation and one of the important core
resources for corporate development. The Group puts very strong
emphasis on building teams of talents and continuously improves the
mechanism for talent development and various talent development
systems. The curriculum system, lecturer system and management
system had been steadily perfected by integration of the corporate
development needs and personal development needs of staff other than
safety training. Pursuant to the “Training Management Policy (Interim
Version)” of the Company, the Group organized trainings each year based
on the Company’s strategic planning, business themes and management
themes. Research and analysis on training needs would be conducted to
formulate training plans.

Regarding offline training, the Group smoothly conducted training on
management, profession and skills in 2019 to meet the needs for the
Company’s business development and talent cultivation. Management
of internal lecturer was continuously optimized by means of grading and
upgrade to encourage internal course development. External lecturers
and programmes were introduced at the same time, which had effectively
broadened training horizons and enhanced quality on training. In 2019,
approximately 2,400 participants attended offline training for a total
duration of approximately 89,600 hours.

Regarding online training, following the application and spread of Internet
Plus, the Group focused on rebuilding the online learning platform,
namely, the learning system of China Resources University, which had
integrated the contents of the i-Learning system used previously for
enriching the mode of staff training and enhancing the convenience
for participating in training so as to provide a secure supply of talents
for the Group's business development. In 2019, 30 programmes of
special-themed series were introduced from external sources, and over 30
mini-courses were self-developed internally. There were 55 professional
courses, a total of over 120 online courses were newly uploaded, and over
20 sessions of special-themed elective learning were launched. In 2019,
approximately 19,300 participants attended online training for a total
duration of approximately 165,300 hours.

In 2019, the total duration of online and offline training relating to the
Group’s staff development was approximately 254,900 hours and the
average training duration per employee was approximately 13 hours,
calculated from the total number of employees as at 31 December 2019.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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F+-A= —1— AIEFE REZIIABEY system, 97.3% of our employees were trained for the year ended 31
597.3% —\F:993%)  1ZIER &H‘aﬂzﬁbiﬂ December 2019 (99.3% in 2018). Percentage breakdown of employees
%) E’\Jxaﬂ\ﬁﬂ LERRARES 20T trained by gender and function are set out as follows:
BR+t=—A=+—H
—E-hF —E-N\F
As at 31 December
2019 2018
B Male 98.1% 99.3%
pegca Female 93.7% 99.2%
EEE Management 97.5% 99.7%
B 7B E M Finance, administration and others 97.9% 99.5%
EEAE Production staff 96.8% 99.1%
Bt AB Technical staff 99.6% 99.6%
T8EAE Sales and marketing staff 90.5% 99.3%

B R B EREE A5 EEERE
China Resources Cement College launched the “Run Xiaofeng Deep Blue Scheme” qualified
middle management talent cultivation project
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Il - OPERATING PRACTICES

1. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group is concerned with the management and control of
procurement compliance, and dedicated to creating an effective
procurement system. Our suppliers or business partners are required
to fulfil certain responsibilities, including compliance with laws and
regulations, environmental protection, integrity operations and quality
assurance. “Integrity Terms of Suppliers” are incorporated as annex in all
our procurement contracts, which all suppliers are required to enter into
and comply with. Three-tiered management and control of procurement
covering headquarters, operating regions and production plants is fully
reinforced through measures such as amendments to procurement
management policies, training of all procurement staff, spot checks on
compliance by internal audit and rectifications, optimization of business
workflow with informationized procurement management system, writing
and publication of “Monthly Report on Procurement Management”,
and delegation of management functions. In addition, the Group puts
Sunshine Procurement into strict practice. We actively launch alert
education and set up whistle-blowing letterboxes. All procurement staff
and suppliers are required to sign the “Sunshine Declaration” and the
“Integrity Practice Guideline” and implement “Things to Note when
Procurement Staff are in Contact with Suppliers” of the Company for
arousing integrity awareness of all the procurement staff. At the same
time, the Group abides by the procurement principles of green, safety and
development by deepening market research, selecting business partners
in compliance with national policy requirements such as possession of
complete qualification and meeting standards of environmental protection,
strengthening the use of industrial waste, encouraging transportation of
vehicles which delivered raw materials to our factories to comply with the
standard weights, and offering safety training to drivers. Suppliers were
required to sign the “Safety and Environmental Protection Agreement”.
We develop and use new materials and new technology for reduced
consumption and environmental protection, which promoted industrial
upgrade and ensured high-quality development.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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In strict compliance with the principles of openness, fairness and
impartiality, the Group implements procurement through the supplier
relationship management system and achieves full-lifecycle supplier
management on admission, cooperation, evaluation and exit for
continuous optimization of supplier structure. Driven by market forces
and demand, the Group conducted in-depth market research and
analysis on procurement needs for guidance in the decision making on
procurement. We unleash the combined effect of technology and business
for promoting procurement of good value for money to reduce the costs
of materials consumption. Scope of sourcing is expanded for discovering
and cultivating potential suppliers. In striving to build a fair and impartial
competitive environment and foster healthy competition among suppliers,
the Group puts the concept of open and competitive procurement into
practice, continuously increases the proportion of tenders, and prevents
behaviours of bid rigging and collusive bidding by checking associated
relationships.

“E-AERMEESNEERHA
Number of suppliers by geographical region in 2019

@ =it
Southern China

@ HipitE

Other regions

The Group had established a transparent, dynamic and traceable supply
chain, which is managed in real time by the supplier appraisal system.
We would procure from the outstanding suppliers on a priority basis
provided that their prices are consistent with our target costs. Suppliers
which require rectifications would be provided with our timely feedback
on their weaknesses, offered relevant assistance and examined on their
rectification results upon the deadline. Substandard suppliers would be
removed from our eligible supplier database in a timely manner. Suppliers
with any dishonest behaviors, once found, will be added to our blacklisted
supplier database.
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2. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

We wholeheartedly provide quality service to our customers based on
the customer-oriented principle, whilst upholding the core values of
honesty and trustworthiness and strictly abiding by business ethics. By
improving communications with customers and taking the utmost care of
the rights and interests of our customers and consumers, we have met or
even exceeded our customers’ expectations for enhancing our customer
satisfaction.

The Group is in strict compliance with the Product Quality Law of
the People’s Republic of China. In addition, pursuant to the “Quality
Management Series” in the “Management Manual” of the Company,
there are clear and stringent requirements on managing every detail
of production process, including the management quality standards of
materials, coal, raw materials and clinker. The “Management Measures
for Grinding Agents (2017 Version)” and the “Management Standards
of Coal Sampling and Preparation” of the Company standardize the
quality acceptance inspection and use of incoming raw fuel materials.
Laboratory equipment, repairs and maintenance, inspection requirements,
operating guidance, environmental configuration and filing records are
all standardized and covered in the management manuals, which offer
guarantee on the product quality assurance and ensure up-to-standard
product quality.

All production plants of the Group had passed the ISO 9001:2015 Quality
Management System Certification, ISO 14001:2015 Environmental
Management System Certification and OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational
Health & Safety Management System Certification. Coverage rate was
100%.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The State Administration for Market Regulation of China and the
Standardization Administration issued Amendment No.3 to the GB175-
2007 “General Portland Cement” in November 2018 for the full abolition
of PC32.5R grade cement with effect from 1 October 2019, whilst the
four strength grades of 42.5, 42.5R, 52.5 and 52.5R were maintained.
To thoroughly implement national policies, the Group actively promotes
innovation, transformation and upgrade of products. During 2019,
seminars and market research on abolition of PC32.5R grade cement
were proactively initiated to fully understand customers’ demands and
formulate response measures. All PC32.5R grade cement had been
abolished and replacement products including PC42.5 grade cement
and masonry cement M32.5 had been successfully launched by late
September, among which, the new masonry cement M32.5 product had
the features of quality stability, colour stability, high later-strength, good
construction performance and high fracture resistance, which is more
suitable for the demand of a majority of users as compared with PC32.5R
grade cement.

Quality Management

During the year, the Group established a system for quality control
throughout the whole production process covering raw materials,
process control, product delivery and after-sales service, which organized
production in strict compliance with standards including those for
auxiliary materials of raw materials, workmanship, semi-finished products,
finished products, packaging and inspection. Quality of input materials
was controlled in every connected step of production. The production
process of clinker and cement was supervised and tested on a 24-hour
basis for implementing comprehensive quality management. The Group
relies on a comprehensive and effective quality management system to
manage and evaluate the quality of our products. Key quality indicators of
production process and products had been incorporated into the scope
of performance appraisal of the operating regions and production plants
as a continuous drive for better quality across all departments through
performance management, so as to provide consumers with products of
excellent quality. The Group also continuously enhances its management
standards in terms of quality and workmanship technology through the
implementation of various lean improvement projects.
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The Group maintained persistent cooperation with the National Quality
Supervision and Testing Center for Cement, and amended and improved
the “Standards for Inspection Methods” of the Company to drive for
continuous improvement on standards of quality supervision and testing.
During the year, we organized participation in the China Skills Competition
— Cement Chemical Analyst Skills Competition. A total of 15 participants
received awards, among which, 1 participant was awarded the National
Technical Master Hand and 1 participant was awarded the designation of
Excellent Arbitrator (only 1 participant among all cement enterprises won
this award).

The Group continues to take action for quality upgrade. In 2019, solid
and fine quality improvement was implemented in progress. The R&D
project of China Resources Cement (Pingnan) Limited on quality control of
specific cement for the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge won the Third
Class Award in the 2019 Second Achievements Presentation Competition
organized by the QC Circle of State-owned Enterprises and the certificate
of “Technical Achievement of level QIC-III" in the Fourth National Quality
Innovation Competition organized by the China Association for Quality.

The Group's process of quality check is as follows:

Quality Planning

e To produce cement products according to market demand, and
reasonably arrange resources of mineral admixture.

e To test each batch of incoming raw materials.

To carry out general surveys on the quality of raw material resources at
the production plants, and build a comprehensive record of resources.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Quality Control

e To supervise and test the production process of clinker and cement on
a 24-hour basis by quality management department.

e To monitor each step throughout the production process, and
implement quality assessments.

Quality Assurance

e To conduct comparative tests in cooperation with the National Quality
Supervision and Testing Center for Cement.

e To conduct special sample checks on quality with full coverage from
raw materials to products twice every year, and focus on investigation,
control and management of toxic substances including chloride ions,
hexavalent chromium and radioactive substances.

Quality Improvement

e To conduct market research for providing front-end services for
production.

e To continuously improve the products based on customers’ feedback
after use.

e To roll out innovative research at the Technology Research and
Development Centre.

No products sold or shipped were subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019.

Besides, the Group had set up standards for managing quality incidents,
which identify and diagnose the incidents, provide solutions to handle
substandard products and offer compensation standards,
mechanism and process flow. Once discovered and confirmed that
substandard products have left our factories or there are serious quality
issues in the process of using the products, we would immediately
inform the relevant customers to stop using or isolate that batch of
products, organize recall on that batch of products if unused, confirm and
compensate damages to customers. We will also conduct investigation
and analysis on the quality incidents, formulate rectification measures and
account for responsibilities, and verify the rectification results.

recall
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Customer Services

The Group is dedicated to enhancing satisfaction on customer services.
We collect and compile information from customer visits, details of
customers’ complaint handling, sampling of the Company’s and
competitors’ products on a monthly basis for continuous improvement
on products and services through analysis on reason for customers’
complaints, demands regarding products and customers. Meanwhile,
the Group designated staff from the customer service department at
our operating regions, the quality management department of our
cement production plants and sales personnel to handle our customers’
complaints within 24 hours, and had achieved a handling rate of 100%.

In 2019, the Company’s marketing department organized key user
training activities in each operating region for promoting pre-emptive
customer services and further standardizing the user guide of cement
for domestic customers to minimize customers’ complaints. Customer
training in the Guangdong Region had become a regular activity, for
at least once a month in each sales region and at least 3 times per
month for each customer service personnel in the operating region, and
had gradually become a characteristic of the company’s services. For
continuous improvement on product performance, approximately 23
sessions of customer training were organized in the unit of production
plant in the Guangxi Region, which covered aspects of product
knowledge, instructions of use during construction, product functions
and precautions. Key user training and brand promotion activities were
organized in Zhangzhou, Zhangping and Meizhou districts of the Fujian
Region, during which storage, transportation and quality control personnel
of production plants were invited to have on-site sharing with customers
and downstream key users. The cement production plants at Jinjiang of
the Hainan Region organized customers to attend practical training on
cement paste and slurry to strengthen communications with customers
and provide guidance to customers on standard instructions of use during
construction. Key user training sessions were organized in the Yunnan,
Guizhou and Shanxi Regions according to requirements.

Upon taking the above measures, the number of product and service
related complaints received by the Group had been significantly reduced
in 2019.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group pays keen attention to the protection of intellectual property
rights by proactively initiating protection on intellectual property. The
“Policy on Management of Intellectual Property Rights of China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited” and “Policy on Management of Trademarks
of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited” had been improved,
“Methods of Managing Patents” and “Brand Building Operating
Guidelines” of the Company are implemented for the continuous
promotion of trademark registration, right confirmation and copyright
registration in accordance with law and for the vigorous defense of our
rights and crackdown on counterfeit goods.

The Group established a traceable supervision system for product
quality, integrated the weighbridge and packaging systems into the
ERP system and ensured that each issued bag of cement was printed
with a unique identification code, which provided technical support
for follow-up on quality supervision of the Company’s products and
combatting counterfeit. We continuously collected information on the
use of “Runfeng” trademarks in the cement industry and sales regions,
and provided support for follow-up on protection of trademark rights. In
September 2019, the Company reported and investigated a total of 4,600
counterfeit “Runfeng Cement” woven bags in Baoan District of Shenzhen
Municipality.

“E-NFFR
Annual Report 2019 83



RIERHESIRS

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

BF e

AEEREPESMARTROBFEWEEE

WKL CGERICRIERAR A TRE TIFEIER
E) K GERNOREBRAR AR BEWE EIEN
%) FHRREEERY T, ERETERERER
B EE BEAREEENESE BiE B

VR EHENEEERNREREE RN FEXR
RREPRHBIENER BHREROBED
MEGERDEER BREPESL R

REEHIT ERNORERBRAREEREE
EHR) - (ERNORERRERMRS) FER
ZETFEEMRMAR FEENBELER
B REETEMEMNEY S - FA - ALE R
ERBBEENZFERER ARESLZEZR
et - REHIREE RUEIIRAIETINE
PRFHEE RS2 I O EABUR R R
WA BN RS HS) HEBREFBURETR
& T NFEREVBELE2EHARLEP
PERER 2 =)

ERKORERABR AR

84

Customers’ Rights

The Group treats customer data as core trade secrets. Customer data is
under strict protection pursuant to the relevant management requirements
including “Regulations on Managing Confidentiality Work of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited” and “Management Measures
on Trade Secrets of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited”.
Independent files are created for all customer data with designated staff in
charge of data collection, filing and update. We also set up management
of access rights to make inquiry on the relevant data. Meanwhile, in order
to ensure security of customer data, we strictly manage the granting of
access rights to our systems to make inquiries, export and application of
information of our customers’ transactions in our information systems.

The Group implemented cyber-security management and technical
details including “Measures on Cyber-Security Management of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited” and “Regulations on Cyber-Security
Technology” of the Company to continuously increase investments of
cyber-security with balanced emphasis on security management and
reinforced protection. During the year, the Group strengthened protection
of data in systems and management of access rights to systems,
initiated risk assessment on cyber-security, identified weaknesses in
the information systems and reinforced protection in a timely manner
for enhancing security of information systems. A mechanism for off-site
disaster back-up synchronization of core application data was established
to protect the data of our business and customers. In 2019, there was no
incident of breach of cyber-security or customers’ privacy rights.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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3. ANTI-CORRUPTION

According to the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’'s Republic of China, the Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Group’s staff management measures and policies, no person is allowed to
take advantage of their position to demand and receive bribery or obtain
benefits by improper means. It is also forbidden to blackmail, conduct
fraud or launder money. Once identified, the employee will be dismissed
and blacklisted. Significant cases will be reported to the police or judicial
authority.

The Group always places strong emphasis on and continuously
strengthens the work for integrity cultivation and probity education. In
2019, over 300 sessions of “integrity education delivered to the door”
were intensively conducted, reaching 15,742 participants in total. Daily
confiding conversations were initiated with 1,044 staff. All the senior and
middle-level managerial staff were organized to sign the “Commitment
Letter on Integrity and Self-Discipline”, and over 400 probity files had been
set up. 359 responses to opinions on integrity cultivation were issued. In
May 2019, the Company held an alert education meeting, with 895 senior
and middle-level managerial staff and staff involved in sensitive roles in
participation. After the meeting, learning was organized in a timely manner
with full coverage of alert education to all staff.

The Group is committed to maintaining good corporate governance
with an emphasis on the spirit of accountability and a high level of
transparency. We formulated the “Whistle-Blowing Policy”, which has
been published on the Company’s website to encourage our employees
and parties who deal with us (for example, customers, contractors,
suppliers, creditors and debtors) to report any misconducts within the
Group. At the same time, we maintain smooth whistle-blowing channels
including telephone hotlines, in-person visits and online reporting, visits
and the internet. All investigations on non-compliance issues are handled
seriously.

None of the Group or its employees were involved in any corruption
litigation cases for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019.
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111 - COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

To further promote the launch of charitable community business and
improve the corporate brand image, the Group strengthened the
accountability management of charitable community activities as well as
the supervision and discipline of state-owned enterprise in the aspects
of poverty alleviation to more effectively reflect the social benefits of the
Group'’s charitable community business. In 2019, the Group amended
and improved the “Enforcement Regulations for Charitable Community
Activities of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited” according to the
Charity Law of the People’s Republic of China, relevant laws, regulations
and policy documents issued by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
the Administration Commission of the State Council regarding fulfillment
of social responsibilities of state-owned enterprises and implementation
of external donations, which had further regulated the management on
review and implementation of our charitable community activities.

During the recruitment and hiring process, local residents in the vicinity of
the Group'’s production plants will be given preference in recruitment for
ordinary posts, subject to compliance with national laws and regulations, in
order to fulfil the corporate social responsibility of a state-owned enterprise.

Besides, the Group proactively participates in community service work in
the vicinity of the locations of our production plants. Through donations
of cement products, we help neighbouring towns and villages in the
construction of roads, repairs of bridges and improvement of local
infrastructure through renovation and upgrade of old houses and launch
of hygiene remediation activities. We also make donations in cash or in
kind to underprivileged regions and families in need to solve their practical
difficulties. The Group pays keen attention to caring for special groups
and regularly organizes each regional headquarters and production plants
(including departments in Hong Kong and Redland Concrete Limited)
to visit and express solicitude to elderly care institutions, rehabilitation
centres, the elderly without family, the general public in need, people
with serious intellectual disabilities or the disabled in the neighbouring
villages. We are very concerned regarding education and development for
children in the underprivileged mountainous regions and help to create a
better learning environment and ambience through donations of clothes,
stationery, books, teaching equipment, scholarships, study grants and
rolling out charitable subsidized schooling. Data of external donations in
2019 is set out in the charitable donations section of the Report of the
Directors.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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China Resources Cement (Longyan Caoxi) Limited organized a visit to bring warmth and
solicitude to the elderly

K (HE)ERAGIFREE = [HE ] BBz EEEZE)
China Resources Cement (Nanning) Limited launched the third fund-raising activity of subsidized
schooling for the “Runmiao” caring fund
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INDICATORS (“KPI”)

APPENDIX 1: KEY PERFORMANCE

“E-hE —T-N\F —ZT—+F
2019 2018 2017
RE(mEERE (M) (#21) Emission of nitrogen oxides (tons) (note 1) 37,584 39,822 41513
REWEREE Emission intensity of nitrogen oxides
(A ERREE) (371) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.5439 05715 0.6230
REWFHLERRE Average emission concentration of nitrogen oxides
(B NAK) (##1) (mg/m?) (note 1) 240 254 259
—afehigsE (M) (i#1) Emission of sulphur dioxide (tons) (note 1) 1,824 2,352 2,726
&R EE Emission intensity of sulphur dioxide
(AT ERREE) (771) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.0264 0.0338 0.0409
&R E Average emission concentration of sulphur dioxide
(ZR/NHK) (#1) (mg/m?) (note 1) 13 18 16
BRI E (8) (77#1) Emission of particulate matters (tons) (note 1) 2,083 2,361 2472
BRI R E Emission intensity of particulate matters
(A /WRRES) (771) (kg per ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.0301 0.0339 0.0371
BRI EEBRE Average emission concentration of particulate
(B%R,/ M%) (i#1) matters (mg/m?) (note 1) 9 11 11
RERBHNE Emission of greenhouse gases
(THM-_SIREE) (771) (000 tons of carbon dioxide equivalent) (nofe 1) 58,710 59,710 57,130
BEREHEREE Emission intensity of greenhouse gases
(E—SftixEE (tons of carbon dioxide equivalent per
BRRES) (1) ton of clinker produced) (note 1) 0.8497 0.8569 0.8574
REE (BBTRR) (#2) Electricity consumption (million kwh) (note 2) 6,426 6,500 6,220
KERAREE S Electricity consumption of cement and clinker
(BBTRE) (#2) (million kwh) (note 2) 6,398 6,473 6,194
RAETHEE Electricity consumption of concrete
(ABTEE) (i2) (million kwh) (note 2) 28 27 26
MEAKEERE (FELE) Electricity consumption per ton of cement (kwh) 72.9 73.0 73.1
BUHKERTERE(TRE)  Electricity consumption per m3 of concrete (kwh) 2.1 2.0 18
RS (FuE) Coal consumption (‘000 tons) 10,033 10,254 9,834
MEAK AL FE (A T) Unit coal consumption per ton of clinker (kg) 145.2 1472 1473
MEARHEEEFE (A7) Standard coal consumption per ton of clinker (kg) 105.5 106.5 106.9
RARREEE (THIER) Consolidated energy consumption
(‘000 tons of standard coal) 7,915 8,035 7,732
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2019 2018 2017
BLEEVLERALRE Consolidated energy consumption per RMB10,000
(W BT ARE) output (ton standard coal per RMB10,000) 2.65 2.73 3.03
FET TLIEINER L ERA R Consolidated energy consumption per
(BER/ BTARE) RMB10,000 value addition
(ton standard coal per RMB10,000) 5.85 6.14 861
BEMELERES (M) (523) Consumption of packaging materials (tons) (note 3) 63,765 70,330 74,533
EMRERERE
Fr SR ENRES) Consumption intensity of packaging materials
( #13) (kg per ton of cement packed in bag) (note 3) 2.17 2.19 2.18
IT¥pdmatmeE (T
(it4) Industrial waste utilized (‘000 tons) (note 4) 21,080 21,840 21,470
A ETEN R BFRIEEE (BE)  Municipal solid waste co-processed (tons) 162,700 166,000 82,400
THSRIGRIEES (ME) (7#5) Urban sludge co-processed (tons) (note 5) 56,500 49,300 49,700
T¥BREMHRKEEES () Hazardous industrial waste co-processed (tons) 7,200 8,700 6,700
e e (&) Total number of suppliers 9,074 8,007 6,631
BTTEEREEEH(A) Number of staff injured at work 13 9 10
—MRALEEWEEEH(R) Number of incidents of general or above level 2 3 1
EHHTH (A) Fatalities 2 1 1
EWETFTARTE %) Fatality rate (%o) 0.099 0.049 0.047
ZEEIAR Number of participants in safety training 245,398 218,716 182,207
ZEEIEEE (%) Safely training coverage rate (%) 100 100 100
TEEERBRINE Number of safety emergency drills 1,135 991 625
ERL2EBEABEE (A) Number of specialized safety
management personnel 192 212 205
ZEEEABRBEAZ(A) Number of licensed safety management personnel 1,277 1,064 1,068
Z2HEERA(BEBTARE)  Investment in production safety (RMB million) 156 146 130
BR B R BE T BEER A Investment in technological upgrade for energy
(BBTTARE) saving and emission reduction (RMB million) 120 94 432
RREFA (ABTARE) Total investment in environmental protection
(RMB million) 443 393 675
i notes:
1. GEEEARERMKBEEEMMEES RO - 1. Scope of statistics includes the major discharge outlets of the Group’s cement production
plants.
2. FETEEARKEAREENINEE - 2. Scope of statistics includes the power purchased externally for production.

BEMEIEARSENENBE -5 — \F HiF 3. Packaging materials refer to the packaging for cement sold in bags. Since 2018, the scope

HENR - —FHREMEHRESNAERE- of report had been adjusted from procurement quantity to consumption of packaging
materials.
4, TEREESGHESHEEEMA BA BEMATE HER - 4. Scope of statistics of industrial waste includes coal gangue, stone residue, de-sulphur
BEEES- gypsum, fly ash and blast furnace slag.

5. FERBO%EREIRTE

5. 80% moisture content for wet sludge.
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Misg— IR -2 RERIEE APPENDIX 2: REFERENCE TABLE OF
# ol ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
INDICATORS
=g R =] B
Aspect Details Chapter Page

A RBE
A Environmental

«
.k

AL#HHY —RBEE Al 50-56
Al. Emissions General Disclosure

BRERARBEREEN KRS AEREERENNE

HEEH:

() 126 85

(b) BEBTHBETABERTENBEBERRAMNER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BREIEITALL  BERERE R EUR B — 88
KPI'Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions Appendix 1
data.
HREMIEEAL2 RERBEHNEREE- B — 88
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity. Appendix 1
BRERISEALS MELABSERENEERTE- Al 55
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.
BRERISEALL FMEAERSEENEERTE- Al 55
KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity.
BRERISZALS  HMUREERENEE LRGSR Al 51-56
KPI Al.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and
results achieved.
MREMEITALS HRRBEERBIEEVMNHE REEELEN Al 55
R EHR
KPI' A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.
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Aspect Details Chapter Page
A BE
A Environmental
A2.ERREA —MRB R A2 57-58
A2. Use of Resources General Disclosure
BREAER (BIER K REAMRME) KR
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials.
MREBIEIZA2] RERESHNERR SHREREEERTE . Mik— 88-89
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in - Appendix 1
total and intensity.
PREMIEEA22 BEKEREE- A2 58
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity.
BREMIEEA23 flsERE A RS EIRAEHER A2 57-58
KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and
results achieved.
BRERIEEA24  HCREVERKOR LR B EAEE  UREARK A2 57-58
et EIRFIERR
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives
and results achieved.
BREMEZTA2S HRLAABEMENEERGEESEUHGE . MEE— 89
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products Appendix 1
and with reference to per unit produced.
A3 RERAAREIR
A3. The Environment —M%i% 5 A3 58-62
and Natural General Disclosure
Resources BIEBETAHRBERRAERENERNT ENEEK
Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.
BRERIEEA]l HAEBEDHERERRABERNEATZERE A3 58-62
EREBRABYENTE-
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
—E-NFER
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Details Chapter

B
Page

B #E
B Social

I MEBRETEHE

I. Employment and Labour Practices

BlLIEE
B1. Employment

B2RERZZ
B2. Health and
Safely

—RH R B(N1

General Disclosure

Bz R e BERER TERE - RE FTEKE 2ol R

AR DA B E A 157 288 B AR M -

(@) B &

(b) ETFHBTABEAZENEBERZRRIINER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

BREEIEBLL  RIER EBERE  FRAMNKIRESHESE B
go

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

MRERIEEBL2 R FRAMN KRS MESRALE -

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

— MR B()2

General Disclosure

AARMZE2TIERERREREEHEBELEEN:

(a) W% Rk

(b)  ETFHBTABEAZENHBEZRRIINER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards.

MREMIEEB2] RAIEBERMIETHABRLE. B —
KPI B2.1 Number of work-related fatalities and rate. Appendix 1
BRENIEER22 HEIGEAIERH- -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
MREIERB23  HMMERANBRRRET 2 A RABHRT B()2
RERF %o
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.
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B Social

I EERETHER
1. Employment and Labour Practices

B3. &R R4 —MRIKE B()3 74-75
B3. Development and General Disclosure
Training FRRAREBITIEBRENNE R NIRER - ft &S

Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties
at work. Description of training activities.

MREMIEEBL RUMKESEMNEINZIEER DL - B(1)3 75
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and

employee category.

BRENIEEB32 RUFIRESERESD SEEETKIINTYE - -
i3

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.

B4.# TEH —fR R B(1 65, 67
B4. Labour General Disclosure
Standards BEABLEETHEGSETH:
(@) 126,354

(b) ETFHBTABEAZENEBERZRRIINER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRERIEERA] R BREAINEEAREET RAGIET . B()l 65, 67
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
MREMIEEBL2 HAEERERBELRERABEIRRNSE B 65
WA ©
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices

when discovered.
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B Social

I Z&ER
/. Operating Practices

B5.HEH#ERE
B5. Supply Chain
Management

B6.EREF
B6. Product
Responsibility

—RHE

General Disclosure

ERMHERNRE R G RREE -

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

BRERIEER5]  REE SR HEEEE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

MREMIEIEB52 N AHEAMEENEN mERITEBIER
HERME URBHESNRITRERTA-

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

—R R

General Disclosure

BHEMRRERNRBNEREZS BE RERLEEEURAERK

FVER)

(a) e &

(b) BTHBTABEAYENBEBRERRAMNER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating

to products and services provided and methods of redress.

BRERIEEB]l EEXCEXERARTRL2ERERERMA
EEoIER

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

BRENIEEB62 HEEERERRIRBNRFHE ARELHE-

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BREMIEIEB63 HlEAERREANMREREHANED

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

BRERIEEB64 HMEERTEREREDBYIERT -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

MRENIERB6S BB EERRE RALBEE - U RAEBHTR
BRI

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
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B7.RE5 —BEE B(I3 85
B7. Anti-corruption  General Disclosure

BRI 9% BEFROARER -

(@) B K

() BTFEBTAREAZENABERRROANER -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRERIEER7] RERBAHETASEESRHEIEELENE B3 85
SRR E RFDER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

Cases.
MREIEIRB72 R BERELBRERER  URAEERTRESRS B3 85
o
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
At
. Community
BS#HERE —MREEE B(Il) 86
B8. Community General Disclosure
Investment AR R2ERTREENEHRFENEREXBEDHEZEIHE

AR ©

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities” interests.

BRESIEEBS] HIERER- B(IIN) 86-87
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.

HREMIEEBS2 HAERIHEBEMHHAER- B(IN) 86
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHOU Longshan, aged 59, has been an executive Director since
March 2003, was the Chief Executive Officer of the Company from
August 2008 to October 2011 and has been appointed the Chairman
of the Board since October 2011. He is the Chairman of the Executive
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.
He currently serves as the Assistant General Manager of CR Holdings.
Mr. ZHOU obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from the lJilin
Finance and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He joined China Resources
Group in 1984 and has over 30 years’ experience in international trade
and corporate management. He was the Vice Chairman of the China
Building Materials Federation and the Vice Chairman of the China Cement
Association.

Mr. JI Youhong, aged 55, has been appointed an executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since September 2016.
He is a member of the Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. He joined the
Group in October 2003 and had served various managerial positions
of the Company including the general manager of various cement and
concrete subsidiaries, the Marketing Controller from November 2008
to December 2012 and the Regional General Manager (Guangxi) from
April 2012 to September 2016. He currently serves as the director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. JI is a senior engineer of building
materials accredited by the Private Enterprise Senior Engineer Panel of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. He graduated from the Nanjing
Industrial College (currently known as Southeast University), China with
a bachelor's degree in engineering in 1985 and a master's degree in
inorganic and non-metallic materials in 1988. He has over 30 years of
experience in construction materials engineering and marketing. He is
currently the Vice Chairman of the China Building Materials Federation,
the Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association and the Vice
President of the eighth Session Council of the China Concrete and Cement
Products Association.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. CHEN Ying, aged 49, was appointed a non-executive Director in
May 2012. He joined China Resources Group in 1993 and is currently
the Chief Strategy Officer of CR Holdings and the General Manager of its
Strategy Management Department. He has been a non-executive director
of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources
Land Limited and China Resources Gas Group Limited (all listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange) since June 2012. Mr. CHEN has
ceased to be a director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. (listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange) since June 2017.
Mr. CHEN obtained a bachelor's degree of architectural management from
the Tsinghua University, China, in 1993 and a master’s degree of business
administration from the University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in
2007.

Mr. WANG Yan, aged 48, was appointed a non-executive Director in
August 2014. He is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.
Mr. WANG joined China Resources National Corporation (currently known
as China Resources Company Limited) in July 1994. Mr. WANG was
appointed a director of China Resources Gas Limited in November 2005.
He was the Deputy General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited from September 2007 to April 2012. He was the Deputy General
Manager of the Internal Audit Department of CR Holdings from April 2012
to February 2016 and has been appointed the General Manager since
February 2016. He has been a non-executive director of China Resources
Power Holdings Company Limited, China Resources Land Limited and
China Resources Gas Group Limited since August 2014 and has been a
non-executive director of China Resources Medical Holdings Company
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Phoenix Healthcare Holdings
Company Limited) (all listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange)
since November 2016. Mr. WANG holds a bachelor’s degree in economics
from the Finance and Accounting Department, Capital University of
Economics and Business, and a master of business administration degree
from the University of South Australia, and is a qualified PRC Certified
Accountant.

“E-NEFFER
Annual Report 2019

97



EERBREEAERE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BEMRL L 435 RZT—\Fh ARESRE
RIERTEZ - BRARNRBZEZEGNKE R
ZTMZFEENFNAIMAZEHEE B AER
(@) B HaARBE - e T \F/\A
RETERRTIERERARMNIENTES R
TITR—NANANFEEBRPXREIHERES
B RR-ST=FEEEM GASSMEELT
B REBEHAASEE HIT AR
ﬁ?ﬁﬁ?i%&%ﬁ%m DATRD - STEIRE IR
17 BRI ZE R @ F RIS AT D BN BB AR
ﬁiﬁW$F A B REET TR

SUEFRE 39%%* R N\FRABZER
WITEZ -WAXRRFMEEG MEREES
ﬁavﬁ%ihf77_¢tﬁMA¥ﬂEI1ﬁ
B-TT=FtH=E “EZRARERED
ERARA TE%’E&%E@&W“AﬁﬁﬁE
BRITHERSETENTE - SEEA -
FRARNER (RE) ANERSBER X8
T \FhAREZERANERARIEE &
ﬁ%%ﬁxﬁAELﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁxkﬁ%E
EREFEHBRTEELR -ME T \FN
ﬂi?&%ﬂ%ﬁ?hﬁ@ﬁjm#ﬂﬁﬁ$°
REEN_ZT=FEPERDPETRBTEE
i%&&%_gffiﬁ¢lﬁaﬁélﬁﬁﬁ
PR -

ERKORERABR AR

98

Madam WAN Suet Fei, aged 43, has been appointed a non-executive
Director since May 2018. She is a member of the Audit Committee of
the Company. Madam WAN joined China Resources Group in August
2008 and is currently the Senior Deputy General Manager of the Finance
Department of CR Holdings. She has been a non-executive director of
China Resources Gas Group Limited since August 2018. Madam WAN
obtained a bachelor’'s degree of business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1999 and a master's degree of science in
finance from the University of Durham, the United Kingdom, in 2003. She
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a Chartered Financial Analyst. She previously served investment bank,
multi-national corporations and audit firm in equity research, strategic
development analysis of various industries, finance and audit respectively.

Mr. JING Shiqging, aged 39, has been appointed a non-executive Director
since May 2018. He is a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. JING joined China Resources
Group in July 2003. He worked in China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited from July 2003 to February 2012, with experiences
in various aspects including production technology, human resources
management and administration management. Mr. JING has worked in
the Human Resources Department of CR Holdings since February 2012,
and has been appointed as Deputy General Manager of the Human
Resources Department since May 2018 with extensive experience in
selection of corporate senior management, leadership development and
talent team building. He has been a non-executive director of China
Resources Gas Group Limited since August 2018. Mr. JING obtained a
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Changsha University of Science
and Technology, China, in 2003 and a master's degree of business
administration from the Nanjing University, China, in 2011.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



ESNEHREEAESRE
BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BERBEELE 685 B —TT/\F/\ AREEE
VIFRTES - BRARFREZEGREEE
AEREETRURARRERZEGNFMES
BXE -BEREN—NE=FEENETERE  #
BHEMBE -ERER - NEt=F+— A
ABBBR YR—NANEFHABHRRK-
BR—NANEFEAZ T LF R APREE
BARAMEREE - EEEBKHENSER
e RREEES STRER LCEREE
KMEOBEBRRR EEER -_TT_FLAE
ERBEERESTRER - RABKSEEROR
BREMZE MG LES  IRER IKE 2R
BH - RERE - BFHBEERE - RTRES
TR BERERSE 5 THENEBENN
HEEE-

EAEREIEEEREISTIREREM BAE
BRSERREES RN ABETEEER
EXe AABBEIBELARARNESETNKER
IRERR BOERR MEZRRBEMEE
BHAZEENER -EAER ST +F LA
WEBBTRIK - EAEN ST —FLETHE
BREENSEHEE WAFETATMHL-
BEEEGIEE\FLAEE—tF+ A
FEBEZERER AR (FIEFEEREEERA
A B IERITE SR - AL ABINARIEBR
FTER EMHRARIMNBLIERTESE - B =%
NFE+Z AT E AR A RREIER
TEE AR ARETEEREERE
RERARNBLIFNTEE BT —F+
ARREFEER (HER) BRA RSB IENT
BEf BT \FHARETEEIERERA
AIRBN I TERERE =T — \F R AREF
BRIERERARINBY IERTES -

Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 68, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company and a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. IP graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a degree in social sciences in 1973. Mr. IP joined
the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was promoted to
the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong
Kong Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007.
Senior positions held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of Secretary
for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His portfolio in
respect of economic development covered air and sea transport, logistics
development, tourism, energy, postal services, meteorological services,
competition and consumer protection. He was also responsible for labour
policies including matters relating to employment services, labour relations
and employees rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour,
Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong International
Theme Parks Company Board as well as the Chairman of the Logistics
Development Council, Port Development Board, Maritime Industry Council
and Aviation Development Advisory Committee. Mr. IP retired from the
Hong Kong Government in July 2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia
Star award from the Hong Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial
Justice of the Peace. Mr. IP was an independent non-executive director of
Synergis Holdings Limited from September 2008 to December 2017. Mr.
IP has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of five
other listed companies on the main board of the Stock Exchange, namely,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited since December 2009, Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited since October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited
since April 2018 and Million Cities Holdings Limited since June 2018.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 74, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. He is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company and a member of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. SHEK was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in
1995, awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star in 2007 and awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star in 2013. Mr. SHEK has been a member of the Legislative
Council for Hong Kong representing the real estate and construction
functional constituency since 2000.

Mr. SHEK acts as an independent non-executive director of numerous
companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, including
Paliburg Holdings Limited since July 2002, Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited since March 2004, Chuang’'s Consortium International
Limited since May 2004, NWS Holdings Limited since September 2004,
Regal Portfolio Management Limited (the manager of Regal Real Estate
Investment Trust) since February 2006, Eagle Asset Management (CP)
Limited (the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust) since
March 2006, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited since December
2006, Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited since September 2007, SJM
Holdings Limited since October 2007, Chuang’'s China Investments
Limited since April 2008, ITC Properties Group Limited since September
2010, Lai Fung Holdings Limited since December 2012, Cosmopolitan
International Holdings Limited since December 2013, Goldin Financial
Holdings Limited since January 2017, Everbright Grand China Assets
Limited since January 2018, CSI Properties Limited since July 2018 and
Far East Consortium International Limited since June 2019. Mr. SHEK
was also an independent non-executive director of TUS International
Limited from June 2015 to January 2017, ITC Corporation Limited (now
known as PT International Development Corporation Limited) from June
2006 to March 2017, Midas International Holdings Limited from August
2001 to January 2018 and MTR Corporation Limited from December
2007 to May 2019, companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. SHEK is a Court member of the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, a Court and Council Member of the University
of Hong Kong, a non-executive director of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority, an Independent Member of the Board of Governors
and Chairman of English Schools Foundation, a member of the Advisory
Committee on Corruption of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption, an independent non-executive director of Ping An OneConnect
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, and a member of the Executive Committee of
Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui Welfare Council Limited. Mr. SHEK graduated
from the University of Sydney, Australia with a Bachelor of Arts Degree and
a Diploma in Education.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 75, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 2008. She is a member of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Madam ZENG is a senior
engineer at professor level accredited by the State Economic and Trade
Commission and a registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited
by the National Development and Reform Commission of China. She
studied at the Beijing Architecture and Industrial Institute from 1963
to 1968 and started her career and served at Benxi Gongyuan Cement
Factory as a technician and director of the laboratory between 1969 and
1983. From 1984 to March 2001, she worked at the Production Division
and the Planning Division of the State Building Materials Bureau and
served as the deputy director and the director of the various departments
and divisions. She was the Vice President of the China Cement Association
from April 2001 to April 2014 and has been appointed as a distinguished
expert since July 2014. She has been the branch officer of China
Association for Engineering Construction Standardization from July 2002
to date. Madam ZENG is specialized on managing the development
and planning for, and the scientific advancement, policies and laws and
regulations, construction investment as well as setting up the relevant
standards and quotas applicable to the building materials industry. She
took the lead in formulating the relevant building materials industry
development plans for the Seventh Five-Year Plan, Eighth Five-Year Plan,
Ninth Five-Year Plan and Tenth Five-Year Plan and in setting up a wide
spectrum of construction standards and quotas for the building materials
industry, including the standards of design for a cement factory. In the
area of engineering and construction management, she was awarded with
a number of Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the provincial level.
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Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, aged 51, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of the
Audit Committee of the Company and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. He has been a practicing director of Nelson CPA Limited.
He has extensive experience in professional accountancy in Hong Kong
in particular in advising and speaking on issues relating to International
and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in Hong Kong and other
Asian cities. He obtained a bachelor's degree in business administration
from the Hong Kong Baptist University in 1992, a master degree of
business administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in 1998 and a master of science degree in finance from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2001. Mr. LAM has been appointed
a member of the Air Transport Licensing Authority of Hong Kong since
August 2013 and a member of Transport Advisory Committee of Hong
Kong since October 2019. Mr. LAM is a practicing fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of several professional bodies in Australia, the USA and the United
Kingdom, including CPA Australia, the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England
and Wales. He is also a CFA charter holder and a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. LAM has also been appointed
an independent non-executive director of Hydoo International Holding
Limited, listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange since March
2013.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG Liang, aged 57, has been appointed the Senior Vice
President of the Company since January 2014, and has been acting as
the Regional General Manager (Guangdong) of the Company since August
2016. He joined China Resources Group in 1994 and had since then
been responsible for marketing and promotional activities. He was the
Regional General Manager (Sichuan) of China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited and the Deputy General Manager of China Resources Snow
Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. He joined the Group in January 2013 and had
served various managerial positions including the Chief Marketing Officer
and the Regional General Manager (Hainan). Mr. ZHANG obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering from the Dalian Institute of Light Industry
(currently known as Dalian Polytechnic University), China in 1984. He has
over 30 years of experience in marketing and corporate management.

Mr. WANG Junxiang, aged 52, has been appointed the Senior Vice
President of the Company since July 2016, and has been acting as
the Regional General Manager (Shanxi) since November 2019. He
joined China Resources National Corporation (currently known as China
Resources Company Limited) in 1989. He joined the Group in July 2003
and had served various managerial positions including the Financial
Controller, the Chief Procurement Officer, the Regional General Manager
(Guangdong) and Chief Human Resources Officer. Mr. WANG obtained a
bachelor's degree in economics from the Shanghai University of Finance
and Economics, China in 1989 and a master's degree in business
administration from the University of South Australia in 2004. He has over
20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. ZHANG Yingzhong, aged 53, has been appointed the Chief Safety
and Environmental Protection Officer of the Company since January 2014.
He joined the Group in September 2007 and was the Chief Operating
Officer from February 2010 to January 2014. Mr. ZHANG completed an
associate programme in ceramic technology profession from the Wuhan
University of Technology, China in 1995. He has over 30 years of working
experience in the building materials and cement industry.
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Mr. LIU Guixin, aged 55, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Guangxi) and the Regional General Manager (Guizhou) of the
Company since September 2016. He joined the Group in July 2003 and
had served various managerial positions including the Regional General
Manager (Shanxi), the General Manager of the Technology Research
and Development Centre and the Chief Operating Officer. Mr. LIU
obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from the Wuhan University of
Technology, China in 1987. He has over 30 years of working experience in
the building materials and cement industry.

Mr. HUANG Ting, aged 50, has been appointed the Chief Procurement
Officer of the Company since October 2019. He joined China Resources
National Corporation (currently known as China Resources Company
Limited) in 1992. He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served
various managerial positions including the Deputy General Manager
(Guangdong), the Financial Controller and the Chief Financial Officer. Mr.
HUANG obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from the Xiamen
University, China in 1992. He has approximately 20 years of experience in
corporate management.

Mr. HE Youdong, aged 56, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Fujian) of the Company since January 2013. He joined the
Group in June 2010 and had served as the Deputy Regional General
Manager (Fujian). Mr. HE obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering
from the Fuzhou University, China in 1984. He has over 30 years of
working experience in building materials and cement industry.

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 54, has been appointed the Regional
General Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since November 2015.
He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial
positions including the Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong),
the Regional General Manager (Fujian) and the Chief Logistics Officer.
Mr. ZHENG obtained a master's degree in engineering from the Wuhan
University of Technology, China in 1993. He has over 30 years of working
experience in building materials and cement industry.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. WANG Xiaohu, aged 53, has been appointed the Chief Human
Resources Officer of the Company since April 2018. Mr. WANG joined
China Resources Machinery Company Limited in 1991. He joined the
Group in July 2003 and had served as the Deputy Marketing Controller
and the Person-in-Charge of Shanxi Region. Mr. WANG obtained a
bachelor's degree in engineering from the Northern Jiaotong University
(currently known as the Beijing Jiaotong University) in 1988 and
completed a master’s candidate programme in Management Science from
the University of Science and Technology of China in 1999. He has 20
years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. LI Baojun, aged 51, has been appointed the Regional General
Manager (Hainan) of the Company since March 2020. Mr. LI joined China
Resources Group in September 2002 and served as the General Manager
of the Strategic & Management Department of China Resources Power
Holdings Company Limited as well as the Assistant General Manager of
the Strategic Management Department of China Resources Group. He
joined the Group in January 2014 and had served as the Chief Strategy
Officer and the General Manager of the International Department of
the Company. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor's degree in engineering from
the Tianjin University, China in 1990, a master's degree in industrial
engineering from the Hebei University of Technology, China in 2003 and
a master's degree in business administration from the China Europe
International Business School, China in 2012. He has approximately 20
years of experience in strategic development and corporate management.

Mr. LI Chuanji, aged 50, has been appointed the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Yunnan) of the Company since March 2016. He joined
the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Chief Logistics Officer, the Deputy General Manager of
the Marketing Department and the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Fujian). Mr. LI obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from the
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China in 1992 and a
master's degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in 2013. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience in financial,
marketing and corporate management.

—E-NEER
Annual Report 2019

105



EERBREEAERE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BHEE 2 BT NFTAREZIAR
RNAGEFEELEE - BR-_TET=ZFLAMNAR
58 LETZEAESERE PEERARER
KB BMNARBCERERRBES 8L
REEERFREHRIREET AETHEER
REERE o HIEEM RKRITEREB =TFIIE
g

KL Slpx AT _TF = AREZTAR
NRAFEBMAEETE- RN _ZZHE—AM
AREE TREZEERRG REERART
SHE  BRARELE SR ARBIELHE
BRRBENERETSEES FRAENR_TTN
FREIXESFAREABKEERR LR K
EMSREREESTEREAH=TFER-

IRAE B BT NF-AREZER
AAREREHR - FR T —=F+AMAELA
Al BT ER AR A B AR R AEEZ A
REE T EREN—NNN\FEPBIEX
B CRBPEMEBRARE) RHEEETEM K
EAEEETEBEE B _TFER-

ERKORERABR AR

106

Mr. CAI Xiang, aged 52, has been appointed the Chief Operating Officer of
the Company since October 2019. He joined the Group in July 2003 and
had served various managerial positions including the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Guangdong), the Regional General Manager (Guizhou)
and the Chief Procurement Officer. Mr. CAl completed an undergraduate
programme in business administration from the Wuhan University of
Technology, China in 2006. He has over 30 years of working experience in
building materials and cement industry.

Mr. LI Wei, aged 51, has been appointed the Head of New Business
Office of the Company since March 2020. He joined the Group in January
2005 and had served various managerial positions including the Regional
Marketing Controller (Guangdong), the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Guangxi), the Deputy Regional General Manager (Hainan), the Chief
Procurement Officer and the Chief Marketing Officer. Mr. LI obtained a
master's degree in business administration from the Queen’s University of
Brighton, USA in 2009. He has approximately 30 years of experience in
marketing and corporate management.

Mr. WANG Yue, aged 43, has been appointed the Assistant President
of the Company since January 2014. He joined the Company in
October 2012 as the General Manager of the Internal Audit Department,
responsible for the internal audit and risk management functions of the
Company. Mr. WANG obtained a bachelor's degree in economics from
the Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (currently known as
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law), China in 1998. He has over
20 years of experience in corporate management.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement, concrete
and related products and services. Details of the principal activities of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on page 162.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.335 per
Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$0.273
per Share). Such final dividend will not be subject to any withholding tax in
Hong Kong.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK$0.26 per Share in cash for
2019 (2018: HK$0.275 per Share) and the total distribution for the year
ended 31 December 2019 will be HK$0.595 per Share (2018: HK$0.548
per Share).

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to provide returns to
our shareholders. Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rules,
regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company
may declare and pay dividends to our shareholders provided that such
declaration and payment of dividends does not affect the Group’s normal
operations.
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In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account, among others, the
Group's earnings performance, financial position, liquidity position,
current and future operations, capital requirements, the interests of our
shareholders and any other factors which the Board deems relevant.

The dividend policy will be continuously reviewed from time to time. There
can be no assurance from the Company that a dividend will be proposed
or declared in any particular amount for any given periods.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 22
June 2020 to Monday, 29 June 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting to be held on Monday, 29 June 2020, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 June 2020 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

Subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
Monday, 20 July 2020 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company after the close of
business of the Company at 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 6 July 2020 and
the register of members of the Company will be closed on Monday, 6
July 2020, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
shall be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 3 July 2020 with the
Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Company's business, a discussion and analysis of
the Group's development and performance during the year, the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, the material factors underlying
its results and financial position, and the future development of the
Company’s business are set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the
Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

In addition, the Group’s environmental and social policies and
performance, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group and the Company’s
relationships with its key stakeholders are discussed in the Environmental
and Social Responsibility Report and the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment properties of the
Group during the year are set out in Notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 48
to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized share capital of the Company
during the year. Details of the authorized and issued share capital of the
Company for the year are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DEBENTURES

Details of the unsecured medium-term notes of the Company for the year
are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various form
of raw materials and finished goods in the total amount of approximately
HK$2,737,000 (2018: HK$2,480,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there are currently no taxes
levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of Shares based
upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and there is no taxation in the
nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$2959.3
million (2018: HK$4,870.8 million).

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

ZHOU Longshan
JI Youhong
LAU Chung Kwok Robert (retired with effect from 10 May 2019)

Non-executive Directors

CHEN Ying
WANG Yan
WAN Suet Fei
JING Shiging

Independent non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
SHEK Lai Him Abraham
ZENG Xuemin

LAM Chi Yuen Nelson

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. ZHOU Longshan, Mr. JI Youhong, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen and Mr.
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Directors are entitled to fees fixed by the Board under the authorization
of the annual general meeting with reference to the prevailing market
conditions and his duties and responsibilities with the Company. The
executive Directors are entitled to salaries, allowances and discretionary
bonuses determined by the Board having regard to the Group's
performance, the prevailing market condition and recommendation made
by the Remuneration Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its parent company, any of its fellow subsidiaries or
its subsidiaries were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected
entities had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries, or its parent company a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or chief executives or any of their spouse or children
under the age of 18 or nominees to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



ES[/WE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

N2

i

ERREITRAERESZN

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’

m INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
RIE—NF+-_A=1+—8 —iREESN  Asat 31 December 2019, the Directors, chief executives of the Company
HAE S0 35215 B AN FMETFH S CMETE  or their associates held certain interests in the shares and underlying
$E BE AQRZSITHABSKENHE  shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the
AR A M H AR EE R R ABRIRE (DR register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
BRAETHEZOT as follows:

(a) Z&AF (@  The Company
FrisER RO RAERRG WA
EEnE 514 ROEHA HEBRITROMWEH ()
(%)
Number of
ordinary Aggregate long position in Shares and
Name of Director Capacity Shares held underlying Shares to issued Shares (note)
(%)
[Erel fic (R 2= 1,000,000 0.01
ZHOU Longshan Interest of spouse
o RAL EmBAA 60,000 0.01
JI Youhong Beneficial owner
PR BEolEA A 230,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner

B BREFAAR-E-AFH-A=t-8
B 31708 176,982,937 8178451 -

note: Based on 6,982,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2019.
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(b) EHEE (ZER)ERAB(X2FHW (b

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, an

HEEE) associated corporation of the Company
RIRG REBERGHFREH
FrFEE HEBEE (ZR)BRQF
EEgE &4 KRG EE ERITROBLLLH (7)
(%)
Aggregate long position in shares and
Number of underlying shares to issued shares of
ordinary China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Name of Director Capacity shares held Company Limited (note)
(%)
TE EmEEA 167,999 0.01

WANG Yan Beneficial owner

it RIREFEEEE (R ERATNR=ZT—N
F+=Z A=+—HBET)3,244,176905
A&ETE

() EBEHIEZRERATD(X2FAWE (o)

note: Based on 3,244,176,905 shares of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2019.

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an

HirE) associated corporation of the Company
RIRG REERG TR EH
B HEEENEZERERAAE
EENE g7 BB EE ERITROBLLH ()
(%)
Aggregate long position in shares and
Number of underlying shares to issued shares of
ordinary China Resources Power Holdings Company
Name of Director Capacity shares held Limited (note)
(%)
FE EnlEEA 44,000 0.01

WANG Yan Beneficial owner

it REEBENERERARNR=ZE—NEF
+ = A=1+—HBE%#17%1/H4,810,443,740%
steE-.

ERICRERER AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

114

note: Based on 4,810,443,740 shares of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited in issue as at 31 December 2019.
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(d EZHEHERAT (KQOTKMEBEEE (d  China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation of the

) Company
RROREBRG T EEH
FisEE HEREMBRATSET
EEnE g7 RO A & 13 B LE Bl (7))
(%)
Number of Aggregate long position in shares and
ordinary underlying shares to issued shares of China
Name of Director Capacity shares held Resources Land Limited (nhote)
(%)
BRIE BB A 500,000 0.01
CHEN Ying Beneficial owner
it RIEEEEENERARNR=E—NF+=A note: Based on 7,130,939,579 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue
=+—HBE3THN7,130939,5790 51 & - as at 31 December 2019.

(e) EHEHRIFERBMRAAE (KQATHIE (e) China Resources Gas Group Limited, an associated corporation

BEE) of the Company
RROREBRGNEFEEH
FrFEE HEBRRIZERERA A
EEpE &4 RHEE ERITROBLLEH (7)
(%)
Number of Aggregate long position in shares and
ordinary underlying shares to issued shares of China
Name of Director Capacity shares held Resources Gas Group Limited (rofe)
(%)
AW BEmEEA 6,000 0.01
ZHOU Longshan Beneficial owner
it REEBRRZERERARN-_Z—NIEF note: Based on 2,224,012,871 shares of China Resources Gas Group Limited in
+Z R=+—BE#170%(72,224012,8710% issue as at 31 December 2019.
BEE

ZE-NFFR
Annual Report 201¥9 1 1 5
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() EBEHBEEEERAIT(KQATAMNE @ China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, an associated
BEE) corporation of the Company
RIS REERG T RREH
FfsEE HERBEEEERLA
EEpR B4 KRG EE ERITROBLLLH (7)
(%)
Aggregate long position in shares and
Number of underlying shares to issued shares of China
ordinary Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
Name of Director Capacity shares held (note)
(%)
TE B (B4 2,000 0.01
WANG Yan Interest of spouse
it RIEZEHEZEBARATNNR-Z—NF note: Based on 6,284,506,461 shares of China Resources Pharmaceutical

+= A=+ — BB BT176.284,506 46115
e

B EXCPIREESN R E—NF+-A=1+—H"
REERA HAEERARAZSTRABRR
BFEBHBEAERIEES MR RAIEXV
HBRE A IR RS E (R A AN A B S A (AT AR
(EERBHF LG GRPIFEXVER) BIREE S M
HIE IR P SEXVERSE7 &2 B8 70 BY R E ARIFIRAE ST
AIZEHE NN B R B P AT ARIBE M
HIE {519 30216 1 TE ARSI % IR BIFT R B0 &
e Rty  FERARK ) M ERERE M s SR B
R-Z-NF+-A=1T—RH BEEFEEK
REITHRAR (BREEENECE N Am /RN
F2) AR S ERERB AR R ENA
BoxE (E& R LR mREs L
AT L F R

EEFHNRAEMRX

ARABRFAEBELMFEELEREEAR
BEERR AASEZEENEREREABARE
REETRE MAREES = EEZEEEREN
EERE YEFRIRERERE K-

ERKORERABR AR
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Group Limited in issue as at 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, so far as is known
to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held or deemed
or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any Director or chief
executives of the Company or their respective associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code
or which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be recorded
in the register referred to therein. None of the Directors and the chief
executives (including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had,
as at 31 December 2019, any interest in, or had been granted any right to
subscribe for the securities and options of the Company and its associated
corporations within the meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such
rights.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained directors and officers
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover
for the directors and officers of the Group against their potential legal
liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the course of performing
their duties. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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EREEAS SENIOR MANAGEMENT

REBEARNTRNITEE SMEIAE  Bl42%  The Group regards the executive Directors, senior vice presidents, vice
RENRaE AR ERERKE - presidents and assistant presidents of the Company as members of the
senior management team.

HE-ZT—NF+-_A=1+—HIFE BfF During the year ended 31 December 2019, total remunerations paid to
WIEANTESNEMEIEESK EMN@FEI  members of the senior management team who are not executive Directors

Ik are as follows:

S —=-N\F
FET THET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
e MOERh Salaries and allowances 13,854 18,311
B Ee Performance related bonus 40,025 37,177

RRE KA R Pension costs and mandatory provident fund
B AES HE contributions 2,438 1,924
56,317 57,412

WA TEENSPETREF KL ENZFHMNT  The remunerations of the members of the senior management team who

LATREE - are not executive Directors are within the following bands:
A
Number of individuals

—E-hE —F-NF
2019 2018
£ % 1,000,000 7T Nil - HK$1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 7 £1,500,000/8 7 HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 - -

1,500,001 7t 22,000,000t HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 -
2,000,001 7c 22,500,000/ 7t HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 - -
2,500,001 7c 23,000,000/ 7t HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 1 2
3,000,001 7c 23,500,000 7t HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 1 5
3,500,001 7c 24,000,000 7t HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 4 2
4,000,001/ 7t £4,500,000/%8 7 HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 1 3
4,500,001 7t £5,000,000%8 7 HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 3 2
5,000,001 7T 25,500,000/ 7 HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 2 -
5,500,001 7T 26,000,000/ 7 HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 1 1

IARFER AN REIRZEXKEMEBRECDA  The biographies of members of the senior management team at the date
FHRESREREEABRBE—EINEKE- of this annual report are disclosed in the section on Biographical Details of

Directors and Senior Management in this annual report.

—E-hEER
Annual Report 2014&9 1 1 7
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BEEHHBESNRR SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS
RIZE—NF+-_A=+—H BMESH—  Asat31 December 2019, so far as is known to the Directors, the following

WNIRYE B 5 M B S G M 33615 BEH A A FI#TE  persons, not being a Director or chief executives of the Company, had
R EOMATESRE  TOIA L (WIEEEAZ  interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
RIEEITHAB) AR AR, AR (D F #  Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company

BHEESARIAT under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:
BEREZALEE He RKE BROBE RESAEIHE
(%)
Approximate
Name of interested parties Long position/Short position Number of Shares shareholding
(%)
FEERBRAR (i) e 4,798,453,749 68.72
China Resources Company Limited (note)  Long position
EHRNBRATF (52) HE 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRI (note) Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited (7%) e 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRC Bluesky Limited (note) Long position
#£H(KH) (iF) HE 4,798,453,749 68.72
CR Holdings (note) Long position
#=HEE OKR)BRAE (32) e 4,792,189,749 68.63
CRH (Cement) Limited (note) Long position
i FEZERHERARNDERRNERARZMEEIT  note: China Resources Company Limited is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share
A E A A 1% ACRC Bluesky Limited 2 & capital of CRI, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued share capital
BEITRRAH E LB A - CRC Bluesky Limited 7 A2 of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
B (EE)2MEFTRANEREAA  MEH (£ share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
) AlBEMERE OKR)BRARIREERRARE share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited and Commotra Company Limited. CRH
HEBTRANBESHEEA - EHEE OB BRA (Cement) Limited directly held 4,792,189,749 Shares representing approximately
AIE B #84,792,189, 740 e (n - (5 AN A BB 2178 68.63% of the issued share capital of the Company, whereas Commotra Company
Z4968.63% * A B BRR A 7RI E 15 56,264,0000% 1% Limited directly held 6,264,000 Shares representing approximately 0.09% of the
) AR A BB B TARZNE0.09% © issued share capital of the Company.

B EXOPTIREESN  MEEMA R _ZE—NE+=  Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at 31

B=+—H BEEMALHARBESFLIE  December 2019, no other person had interests or short positions in the

1&BIEXVE B2 37 BRH IR EZAMIANA RIskEE R shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be

T 5 sk ZBSEFN AR RIBIBEE S LIS KM disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange under the provisions of

3B6IEEIFHE LM AR A TR M EREAZ!Y  Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the

RSO R register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

1 1 8 EBHAREBRERAR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



ES[/WE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

4RABITERAR M s HA6FT I RS TRERE 7732 578 Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 46 to the
SBALMRBETASEBEIFERBEISMTE  consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
AJEERAE A 37T continuing connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

E-FR ARBETHEBER
BB ZFH BT :

Details of such transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries of the
Company with connected persons during the year are summarized below:

EWmRAAERF

o WEE LR
FAT FAT
Annual cap

permitted under
Amount  the Listing Rules

HK$'000 HK$'000
BEBRSENEEEER Purchase of electricity from CR Power 1,018,600 1,193,378
(i#1) Group (note 1)
BEBMNBMBRAR Purchase of garments, promotional 35,597 43,188
=R (TR ERAF R materials, safety shoes, labour protective
HESBZHBRREE products and tools from China
AR (RS - BiRE Resources Textiles Company Limited,
BRAMETIAR (522) China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited and their respective
subsidiaries (note 2)
AEBFRKREER (£E) Maximum daily aggregate amount of loan 819,110 900,000
REFERMNB @/ATZ;‘E@E’U and related interest due from the groups
BERRAENEEA R85 of CR Holdings and CRI (note 3)
(#t3)
AEBREGEBIRITRG Maximum daily aggregate amount of 788,648 963,226

BERABNFHRER
EElir%_,w%E (ﬁf4)

deposits with China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (note 4)

ZE-NFFR
Annual Report 2014&9 1 1 9
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it

AEREHEEBES

R-ZE—tF+—A—H NRRHEEH
BENEBRBRARMASEEBEREN
SEBEE N LihE BRETRRE
EHE(FEENEEREETHE) N
REHE (FRENEEBERAEEE
THE) BT N\F-A—HE-ZF
“ERFEF - A=1+—HILRB=F -ZiH
BEAPAEBEART EEEEHFT
W —REHEERENERESENHE
F& - R A B E AR E R EERA R
EahE AEBENNERFRIEEK
RENHEZRRAEBER L2ERFT
BER ERFERRET B TENE
BB £ = BURH 2 (BI% - ARE
B (RE) RESERENZERBRAR
R AR N BIEOIERRCR - UARYR AR B
EHENEBRARRRASARRINEEE
At BRRZHERARR B/ -F
—tF+—A-BRNRERREE-

ERKORERABR AR
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notes:

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Purchase of electricity from CR Power Group

On 1 November 2017, the Company entered into an agreement
with China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for
the purchase of electricity by the Group from CR Power Group,
including but not limited to direct power supply (where CR Power
Group generates the electricity to be supplied) and agency power
supply (where CR Power Group purchases the electricity for
supply to the Group), for the term of three years from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2020. The agreement would enable
the Group to secure electricity supply at a fair, reasonable and
competitive price which is lower than the normal on-grid tariffs,
which in turn reduces operating costs of the Group. Under the
agreement, the electricity fees payable by the Group would be
determined after arm’s length negotiation in accordance with
the relevant national and provincial power supply system reform
policies and with reference to prices in the open market, which
shall be no less favourable than the price for similar transactions
with independent third parties. As CR Holdings is a controlling
shareholder of both China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited and the Company, China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 1 November 2017.
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BERGARARAT  EHREG (2
B)ERABDRBEEEAZHMEA AR
BERE REAR SFRE -SHRAM
kRIA

RZE—NF+ZA+WNE - KNAFDF
BEE BB R A RIR] B IR RS
KA SE A AR ATEZE e - LA K ER2E P AR &
(FERR) BR R RIT A ARIBE A (REE - &5
RABERIAMNERGZ 8 -T—NF
—A—HBEZT-hF+ZA=1+—HI
BH—F  FELUGIASBEEREZRRER
VEEN  R—MREEGRETHIES
AEBENEREAZRBR T EHERE
B B (8 55 = 7 (HIE R AV RAIR < IRIK
D IEZE R - S IEMRE AV
ERR AT IRAER WL EREE
mERNTISEREET MZSERE
TBEREMIBY E = A EEERE
BE1& - HAREEMHE MR AR R ERR
& (2% AR AR AEN (£E8) MfHE
2EMBAR - HUIRE ETRA - FEREL
BaAERAT REBRM ER)BRA
BIAARBINRIEA T R SHER
ARAFAHAE=Z—N\F+=-A+MHHEHN
DEREE - BIPR ERIBEOR ZEH
AAEBEERERGHEMERA R - FEHR
#(ZR)BRARRESSAZHEBEA
AEHE-Z-NAF+-A=1t—HIFE
MEHRHERE-

Purchase of garments, promotional materials, safety shoes,
labour protective products and tools from China Resources
Textiles Company Limited, China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries

On 14 December 2018, the Company entered into a framework
agreement with China Resources Textiles Company Limited for
the procurement of garments and promotional materials and a
framework agreement with China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited for the procurement of safety shoes, labour
protective products and tools respectively for a term of one year
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 in order to enable the
Group to have a greater flexibility in the choice of relevant products
on normal commercial terms and on a scale which would not
place the Group’s resources at risk or affect its relationship with
other independent third-party suppliers. Under the above two
framework agreements, the purchase prices of each relevant
product would be determined after arm’s length negotiation with
reference to the prevailing market prices of similar products. Such
prices shall be no less favourable than those available from other
independent third-party suppliers. As China Resources Textiles
Company Limited and China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited are indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries of
CR Holdings, China Resources Textiles Company Limited and
China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 14 December 2018. The transaction
amount set out on the table above was the aggregate transaction
amounts of the Group with China Resources Textiles Company
Limited, China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited
and their respective subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2019.

—E-hEER
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HER(KRE)REBRRDBER LT
BB AR 1

RZZE—XRE+_A=-+N\B ARFHE
= (S8 B ARBEEILAHE
WEFFEERI e AR MERAT
MIEMREE  (0FH (KB IBRAEE
B EERA BRI AR SR —
FIERT T & BB AE R B R (E B G S
ER S AR RIBRTZ AOFIE &
(WA FHEE B R B B — Rt ®
IS B ABRE SRR PTE S IF R & o [F]
A AATSEERROBRATDMRAAR
AN EFEEER - AR ME
RUATRIBENRSE : (VEEERMDERA
AR E MR EERARMERE RN
AR B ARBER — IR TS RS DA A
REEIEABE RS BERMFIERAT
SR FIEEI95% - M (N MR BRI A A]
e B R FE A — EERTT Sk 2 mb IR BE AR
S FEFTEGH AR B Z - Ll
NiHEEAT AR ERERSEHRER
REFREEMN A FEARFIREWEA
AN ReBBRERETER (£E)
REEROABRAREANEMERE
B2z nrle B ame BiRE e —F
—tF—-A—HEFE=T-NF+=A
—t+—HIERH=F - PR FHFERAR
RAIAMAZET—FTA=Z1+/\HH
NERPE-R_T—NF+_A=1+—
B AR EIRIREZ M () B SR8 e FE U
HROBRATINAREEEREEAA
= #5700,000,0007T (#85574781,445,000/8
7T) RAAEENEAREE21,315,0007T (8%
723,795,000/ 7T) °

'I 2 2 ERKORERABR AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Master Lending Agreements with CR Holdings and CRI

On 28 December 2016, the Company entered into an agreement
with CR Holdings for loan facilities denominated in HK$, RMB
and US$, whereby the interest rate would not be less than the
higher of (i) the rate at which CR Holdings or a corporate borrower
of similar standing is able to borrow in Hong Kong in an amount
equal to the relevant advance in the applicable currency from a
bank or a financial institution for the relevant period and (ii) the
deposit rate in Hong Kong which could have been obtained from
a bank or a financial institution for such relevant amount and
period. On the same day, the Company entered into an agreement
with CRI for loan facilities denominated in RMB, whereby the
interest rate would be no less than the higher of (i) 95% of the
rate at which CRI or a corporate borrower of similar standing is
able to borrow in the Chinese Mainland in an amount equal to the
relevant advance in RMB from a bank or a financial institution for
the relevant period and (i) the RMB deposit rate which could have
been obtained from a bank or a financial institution in the Chinese
Mainland for such relevant amount and period. The above two
agreements will provide the Company with greater flexibility in
the management of its surplus cash resources by enabling it
to lend a portion of its surplus cash resources and those of its
subsidiaries to other China Resources Group companies, including
CR Holdings and CRI. The terms of the above two agreements
are three years from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.
Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 December 2016. As at 31 December
2019, the Company had an outstanding loan due from CRI in the
amount of RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to HK$781,445,000)
and related interest in the amount of RMB21,315,000 (equivalent
to HK$23,795,000) under these two Master Lending Agreements.
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WEERRITRMN AR AR AN TIHIE
EAT LR FFBERARTHBEHAS
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T-NFE+ZA=1+—8 TEERKE
= BIRTTIRNBRARMNEREHEEA
AR #662,226,0007T (#8572739,275,000
BIL) REE_T-NF+A=1—
AIEFE  ANEE I AT BRTT
R BBR A RIFTIR LA A& BhE @

Deposit services and financial products provided by China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
shall provide deposit services and financial products to the Group,
including but not limited to letters of credit, bill of exchange,
discounting, assignment of receivables, etc. The term of the
strategic cooperation agreement was three years from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2020. The strategic cooperation agreement
would enable the Group to enhance its overall liquidity, optimize its
utilization of cash and capital and provide greater flexibility in cash
management for generation of better return on normal commercial
terms and on a scale which will not place the Group's resources at
risk or affect its relationship with other financial institutions. Under
the strategic cooperation agreement, the deposit rates would be
determined with reference to the benchmark rates published by
the People’s Bank of China or other preferred rates in the market
as offered by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. to its
other independent preferred customers, whereas the prices of
financial products would not be higher than those published by
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. that are applicable to its
independent preferred customers. As CRI holds more than 50% of
the registered capital of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.,
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above
transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 20 October 2017. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had
aggregate balance of deposits of RMB662,226,000 (equivalent
to HK$739,275,000) with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co.,
Ltd. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not
use any financial product provided by China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

ZE-NFFR
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Financial products provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd.

On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co.,
Ltd., pursuant to which, China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.
shall provide financial products to the Group, including but not
limited to cash management, asset management, assignment of
receivables, etc. The term of the strategic cooperation agreement
was three years from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020.
The strategic cooperation agreement would enable the Group to
enhance its overall liquidity, optimize its utilization of cash and
capital and provide greater flexibility in cash management for
generation of better return on normal commercial terms and on a
scale which will not place the Group’s resources at risk or affect
its relationship with other financial institutions. Under the strategic
cooperation agreement, the prices of financial products would
not be higher than those published by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd. that are applicable to its independent preferred
customers. As CRI holds more than 50% of the registered capital
of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transaction were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 October
2017. During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did
not use any financial product provided by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions
have been entered into:

(a)

(b)

(c)

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and
according to the relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Based on work performed, Ernst & Young, our independent auditor, has
confirmed in a letter to the Board to the effect that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the above transactions:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

(c) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the caps disclosed in the previous
announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September 2009.
The share award scheme does not constitute a share option scheme
pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and is a discretionary scheme
of the Company. The purpose of the share award scheme is to recognize
the contributions of officers and employees of our Group, excluding any
Director, towards the development of our Group in the past or as incentives
to selected grantees to achieve higher than target profits for our Group and
to align the interests of the selected grantees with sustainable growth and
development of our Group. The share award scheme is effective for a term
of ten years until 2 September 2019 unless terminated at the discretion of
the Board at an earlier date.
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Pursuant to the share award scheme, a trust has been set up and BOCI-
Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as the trustee. The trustee
may purchase Shares from the public market out of cash contributed
by the Company from time to time. The aggregate number of Shares
purchased under the share award scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all
issued shares of the Company. The aggregate number of Shares which
may be awarded to a selected grantee under the share award scheme
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Shares
purchased under the share award scheme will be held in trust for the
eligible employees until such Shares are vested in accordance with the
provisions of the rules relating to the share award scheme. There were
160,000,000 Shares acquired under the share award scheme at the cost
of HK$3.90 per share, which was funded by the Company, in October
20009.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the share
award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and such that
payments under the Scheme will be made in form of cash rather than
Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company can utilize the proceeds
generated from the disposal of the Shares purchased and held by the
trustee for awards to be made under the Scheme. Grantees do not have
any right to the Shares.

No grant was made and 35,176,000 Shares were disposed of in
2019, realizing net proceeds of approximately HK$269,377,000. Upon
termination of the Scheme, the trustee transferred all assets (i.e. cash of
HK$361,611,000) on trust under the Scheme to the Company. In 2018,
no grant was made and no Shares were disposed of. As at 31 December
2018, the trustee held 35,176,000 Shares, representing approximately
0.504% of the issued Shares, and cash of HK$87,245,000 on trust under
the Scheme.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 128 to 153 of
this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company's issued shares
as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for the past
five years is set out on page 276.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited
by Ernst & Young. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
independent auditor of the Company.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the independent auditor of the
Company with effect from the close of the annual general meeting held
on 11 May 2018. The appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent
auditor of the Company following the retirement of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu was approved by shareholders at the same meeting.

By Order of the Board

ZHOU Longshan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and maintaining
the highest standards of corporate governance and have adopted the
principles of the CG Code in the construction of our corporate governance
code. The Board believes that effective corporate governance practices are
fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding interests
of our shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted sound corporate governance principles that emphasize on
the quality of the Board, effective risk management and internal control,
stringent disclosure practices, and transparency and accountability to all
stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company had complied
with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, except for the
deviation as disclosed below.

DEVIATION FROM CG CODE

In respect of code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-executive
Directors were not appointed for a specific term. Since all Directors are
subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company at annual general
meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation basis
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company, there are
sufficient measures to ensure the Company complies with the same level
as that required under this provision.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out
in the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Company’s code of conduct and the
Model Code regarding their securities transactions during 2019.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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THE BOARD

Composition

The Board is responsible for directing the strategic objectives and
overseeing the management of the business of the Company. The
Directors are accountable for promoting the success of the Company and
making decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management,
and provide clear directions regarding such delegation so as to avoid
seriously impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in
exercising its powers. Duties and authorities delegated to the various board
committees are described in the respective sections below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced composition
of executive Directors and non-executive Directors helps to ensure the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make independent
judgments effectively. The operation and management of the Board and
the day-to-day management of the Company’s business should be clearly
divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated on any one individual.

In 2019, the following changes to members of the Board and its
committees took place. With effect from 10 May 2019, Mr. LAU Chung
Kwok Robert retired from office as an executive Director, a member of the
Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committee and did not offer himself for re-election at the
annual general meeting held on that day; with effect from the same date,
Mr. JI Youhong has been appointed a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee. The Nomination
Committee considered that the retirement of Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert
would not cause material obstruction to the Company’s businesses and
the Company would remain to be in proper compliance with the CG Code
in respect of the structure, size and composition of the Board. In light of
these, the Nomination Committee considered that there was no urgent
need to fill the vacancy and it shall appoint appropriate person(s) to the
Board and relevant committees if it considers necessary and beneficial
to the Company. As at 31 December 2019, the Board comprised ten
Directors, including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan
(Chairman) and Mr. JI Youhong (Chief Executive Officer); four non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. CHEN Ying, Mr. WANG Yan, Madam
WAN Suet Fei and Mr. JING Shiging; and four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham,
Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson. The number of
independent non-executive Directors represents more than one third of
the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules throughout
the year ended 31 December 2019. A description of the Directors is
set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Section on pages 96 to 106 and on the Company’s website.

ZE-NFFR
Annual Report 2019

129



EREBHRS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEZE EERBE

FAESHERARBE L IEANR TR R
FRRBA N AAMERARF16.18FRN R
BEAG EREIXBREBEAEDNET =_FmE—
R RTIERRERER MNREBFAE L
BRRIEFERENASRREBET -HWT
XiRREZEE-HETHNEL WEERELE
R REABHREEZEEME R AE
FRHER - IRIBA A REBERZMAE16 206
MERTEEZEHEEARF TEBEBEFK
Rl ERATNE LEEEE-

Exdl

EZENAEERE EFHRE—HAKEN
BmE YR ESREREEEE T AAKER
£ o I BR BREME B A REMETEN (&
ERMEESD -EERTHRERFELEERE
B AR EEEEAEELEXBTNEE X
REEERBNSHE -

AN ERREHABARFNEAEHER
NEEEREENSESEITARS-

ARRSEMAEE2EFEEERER URR
WERH R ENFBEIEE - AR EREELH
et g M EE R FREE -

BERE IS IR T ANE B2
BB R A RE I AN E IS SN E R ERNEIB -
TE-NFT— B BB IFITEEEE D
S RS L EHRE IS REETENR
ZNITEEREBE A M A KA AR R TR
REERETAI=RAMNER - BIBERERK
SERATAEE RO FEECRER A EE R E R
ENTAEELCNTBSRHREEER &F
TREPRERNEERBALENERT EE
SRR KEIER KEEAMSEREB N
Em WEAER -—REEQNEITERNERE
RE B L5 8 B R BT TIE MR

ERKORERABR AR

130

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

All Directors have entered into formal letters of appointment with the
Company and they are subject to re-election by shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least about once every three years on a rotation
basis in accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election
of retiring Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by separate
individual resolutions. Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are
identified, selected and recommended to the Board by the Nomination
Committee as more fully explained below under the section on Nomination
Committee. Any Director(s) so appointed shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting in accordance with Article 16.2 of
the Articles of Association of the Company.

Directors’ Training

Upon appointment to the Board, the Directors receive a package
of orientation materials about the Group and are provided with
a comprehensive induction to the Group’s businesses by senior
management. The package includes a copy of “A Guide on Directors’
Duties” issued by the Companies Registry of Hong Kong. Continuing
education and information are provided to the Directors regularly to ensure
that the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
businesses.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on the
Company to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge
their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of
seminar and reading materials.

From time to time, the Board will arrange visits for a deeper understanding
of the Group’s business operations and matters which could have
significant effect or impact on the Group’s business. In November 2019,
four independent non-executive Directors, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr.
SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen
Nelson, accompanied by two executive Directors, Mr. ZHOU Longshan
and Mr. JI Youhong, had a three-day visit in Guangdong, China. During the
visit of China Resources Cement Technology Research and Development
Centre, China Resources Cement College and the urban sludge co-
processing project at our joint venture in Guangzhou City, Guangdong,
the Directors obtained an understanding of the business environment
in Southern China and the Group’'s new products including pervious
concrete, lightweight concrete, cement crafts and cement-based stones.
They also exchanged ideas on construction and operation of dried sludge
co-processing project by use of cement kilns with a joint venture of the
Group.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Participation of Directors in continuous professional development during

the year is as follows:
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Visit to Guangdong,
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Reporting Guide and

to the Company or its

exchange ideas

related Listing Rules business with a joint venture
S ZHOU Longshan v v/ v
HRa JI Youhong v v v
Bl LAU Chung Kwok Robert - - -
(RZ2-NEF (retired with effect from 10 May 2019)
TATREM)
RE CHEN Ying - v -
Iz WANG Yan - v -
RER WAN Suet Fei v v -
St JING Shiging v v -
EHp IP Shu Kwan Stephen v v v
VaiE SHEK Lai Him Abraham v/ v/ v/
24 ZENG Xuemin v/ v/ /
HE& LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v/ / /
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Independence

For a Director to be considered independent, the Nomination Committee
and the Board must be satisfied that the Director does not and will
not have any direct or indirect material relationship with the Group. In
determining the independence of Directors, the Nomination Committee
and the Board follow the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and
consider all of the independent non-executive Directors as independent.
In addition, the Company has received annual written confirmation
of independence from all the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. None of the Directors has
or maintained any financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship with any of the other Directors.

Board Meetings

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a year.
Between scheduled meetings, the senior management of the Group
provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding the activities
and development in the businesses of the Group. The Directors shall have
full access to information on the Group and independent professional
advice at all times whenever considered necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least fourteen days in advance
and an agenda together with supporting papers no less than three days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much
advance notice as reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association
of the Company, a Director who has a material interest in any contract,
transaction, arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolution
and such Director shall not be counted for quorum determination
purposes.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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During 2019, seven meetings (including two meetings by way of
circulation of written resolutions) were held by the Board. The attendances
at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT EEHRER
=N KRB A&t
Meetings Written

Attended/Held Resolutions Total
HITES Executive Directors
JEEELL ZHOU Longshan 5/5 2/2 717
4 RAT JI Youhong 5/5 2/2 717
2R B LAU Chung Kwok Robert 3/3 0/0 3/3

(RZE—N%F (retired with effect from
RAATHRE) 10 May 2019)

EHITES Non-executive Directors
BRIE CHEN Ying 3/5 212 5/7
TE WANG Yan 1/5 2/2 3/7
mE R WAN Suet Fei 5/5 2/2 717
StE JING Shiging 4/5 2/2 6/7
BYFHITEE Independent non-executive Directors
= rp) IP Shu Kwan Stephen 5/5 2/2 717
A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham 5/5 2/2 7/7
B8 ZENG Xuemin 4/5 212 6/7
MR LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 5/5 2/2 717
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The matters covered in the meetings of the Board held during 2019
include adoption of the risk management and internal control report 2018
and rules of procedures of Board meetings; amendments to terms of
reference for the Executive Committee; approval of annual report 2018
(inclusive of Environmental and Social Responsibility Report 2018),
interim report 2019, the first and third quarterly financial reports in
2019, payment of discretionary bonus to executive Directors and senior
management, remunerations of independent auditor and independent
non-executive Directors, continuing connected transactions of the Group,
publication of announcements, as well as changes to members of the
Board and its committees.
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ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive Officer.
The Chairman approves and monitors the Company’s strategies and
policies, annual budgets and business plans, evaluates the performance
of the Company, and supervises the management of the Company.

Such division of responsibilities also helps to reinforce their independence
and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership
to, and overseeing the functioning of, the Board to ensure that it acts
in the best interests of the Group and that Board meetings are planned
and conducted in an effective manner. The Chairman is also responsible
for setting the agenda for each Board meeting upon considering, where
appropriate, matters proposed by the Directors and the Company
Secretary. With the support of executive Directors and the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
informed of issues arising at Board meetings and provided in a timely
manner with adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete
and reliable. The Chairman also actively encourages the Directors to be
engaged in the Board’s affairs and contribute to the Board’s functions.
The Chairman holds physical meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors not less than
once a year. The Board, under the leadership of the Chairman, has
complied with the corporate governance practices and procedures and
has taken appropriate steps to ensure effective communication with our
shareholders and other stakeholders.

During the period when the Chairman is absent and the normal functions
of the Chairman cannot be carried out, the Board may choose another
Director to take the role as the acting Chairman until the Chairman
resumes carrying out his normal duties or a new Chairman has been
elected and appointed by the Board, subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association of the
Company.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for managing the businesses
of the Group, coordinating overall business operations, attending to the
formulation and successful implementation of the Group's policies and
strategies approved by the Board and assuming full accountability to the
Board for all the day-to-day operations of the Group.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining the
operational performance of the Group. He also works with the Chief
Financial Officer and the senior management team and presents the
annual budgets to the Board for consideration and approval, and ensures
that the Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to
the funding requirements of the businesses of the Group and that the
funding requirements are met. He closely monitors the operating and
financial results of the businesses against the relevant plans and budgets,
and takes remedial action if necessary. He communicates regularly with
the Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all major
business development and issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee on 2 September 2009, the
Executive Committee on 13 January 2010, and the Corporate Governance
Committee on 29 February 2012.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

With effect from 10 May 2019, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert retired from
office as a member of the Executive Committee. As at the date of this
report, the Executive Committee comprises all the executive Directors,
namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and Mr. JI Youhong, and is chaired by Mr.
ZHOU Longshan.

The terms of reference for the Executive Committee have been uploaded
to the Company’s website. The Executive Committee shall monitor the
execution of the Company’s strategic plans and the operations of all
business units, exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board
between regular Board meetings, establish and authorize its committees to
deal with daily business operations or ad-hoc projects, and deal with any
other specific business authorized by the Board. Resolutions passed by
the Executive Committee will be subsequently reviewed and ratified by the
Board.
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During 2019, thirty meetings were held by the Executive Committee which
covered mostly the obtaining of banking facilities, changes of authorised
signatories of bank accounts, and recommendation to the Board regarding
amendments to terms of reference for the Executive Committee. The
attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT

=8

Meetings

Attended/Held

= ZHOU Longshan 30/30

LR JI Youhong 30/30

BIER(R_ZT—h&F LAU Chung Kwok Robert 417
AA+THREMR) (retired with effect from 10 May 2019)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises all the
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen,
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson, and two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. WANG Yan
and Madam WAN Suet Fei, and is chaired by Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been uploaded
to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its official
website for corporate communications. The duties of the Audit Committee
shall include but are not limited to: reviewing and monitoring the external
auditor’'s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards; discussing issues and
qualifications arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the
external auditor may wish to discuss; monitoring integrity of the Group'’s
financial statements, annual reports and accounts, half-year reports and
quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them; reviewing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems; and ensuring that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Group, and reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness.
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During 2019, four meetings were held by the Audit Committee to
review the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018, the three months ended 31 March 2019, the six months
ended 30 June 2019 and the nine months ended 30 September 2019,
annual report 2018, interim report 2019 and the risk management and
internal control report 2018. In these meetings, the Audit Committee
also reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the Group, the
risk management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function and the independence of the external
auditor. Recommendation was made to the Board for the remuneration
of independent auditor as well. The attendances at these meetings are as
follows:

b BT

BERE

Meetings

Attended/Held

ME & LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 4/4
=gl IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4/4
AiEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 4/4
2 ZENG Xuemin 3/4
TE WANG Yan 0/4
BER WAN Suet Fei 3/4
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

With effect from 10 May 2019, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert retired from
office as a member of the Remuneration Committee and Mr. JI Youhong
had been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee. As
at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen,
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson, two executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan and
Mr. JI Youhong, and one non-executive Director, Mr. JING Shiging and is
chaired by Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham.
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The terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee have
been uploaded to the Stock Exchange's website, the Company's
website and its official website for corporate communications. The
Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. It should
also be responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management (this should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment) and the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.

During 2019, one meeting (by way of circulation of written resolutions)
was held by the Remuneration Committee to make recommendation to
the Board for the payment of discretionary bonus to executive Directors
and senior management as well as remuneration of independent non-
executive Directors. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

EERER

RE

Written

Resolutions

A1ER SHEK Lai Him Abraham 1/1

P IP Shu Kwan Stephen 1/1

25 ZENG Xuemin 1/1

MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 11

= ZHOU Longshan 1/1

ORI (R=ZZE—NF JI Youhong 1/1
AA+HEZT) (appointed with effect from 10 May 2019)

SttE JING Shiging 1/1

BB (R=ZE—NF LAU Chung Kwok Robert 0/0

RATRHRE) (retired with effect from 10 May 2019)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen,
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, one executive
Director, Mr. ZHOU Longshan, and one non-executive Director, Mr. JING
Shiging, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website and its
official website for corporate communications.

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the talents, skills, knowledge,
regional and industry experience, professional experience, cultural and
educational background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining the
optimal composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced
appropriately. In reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider all aspects, including but not
limited to those described above, in order to maintain a truly diverse
Board. In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board,
the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merits against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on the Board.
The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition of the
Board and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of
new Directors, and also oversees the conduct of the annual review of the
effectiveness of the Board.
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Measurable objectives: The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly.

Monitoring and reporting: The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the corporate governance report of the Company, on the process it
has used in relation to Board appointments. Such report will include a
summary of the Board Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and progress made towards
achieving these measurable objectives.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy: The Nomination Committee
will review the Board Diversity Policy annually, which will include an
assessment of the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Policy sets out the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend suitable candidates of directorship.

In assessing the suitability of a candidate as Director, the Nomination
Committee would consider character and integrity; qualities in all its
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional and educational qualifications, skills,
knowledge, expertise, experience and accomplishment that are relevant
to the Group’s business and corporate strategy; commitment to devote
adequate time to effectively discharge duties as a member of the Board
and relevant committees of the Company; requirement for the Board
to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the
Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board; and such
other perspectives applicable to the Group. These factors are for reference
only, and not meant to be exhaustive.
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The Nomination Committee shall identify and select candidates as
Directors pursuant to the criteria as set out above, and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee may use any
process it deems appropriate to evaluate the candidates, which may
include personal interviews, background checks, presentations or written
submissions by the candidates and third party references.

A shareholder may also propose a person for election as a Director, details
of which are set out in the section on procedures for shareholders to
nominate a person for election as a Director of this report. For any person
that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a Director at the general
meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Director and determine
whether the retiring Director continues to meet the criteria as set out
above. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the general meeting.

During 2019, one meeting was held by the Nomination Committee to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and
assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. The
attendance at this meeting is as follows:
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Meeting

Attended/Held

g IP Shu Kwan Stephen /1
A1ER SHEK Lai Him Abraham 11
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 11
Erel ZHOU Longshan 01
SttH JING Shiging 171
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

With effect from 10 May 2019, Mr. LAU Chung Kwok Robert retired from
office as a member of the Corporate Governance Committee and Mr. JI
Youhong had been appointed as a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee. As at the date of this report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. LAM Chi
Yuen Nelson, and two executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHOU Longshan
and Mr. JI Youhong, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen.

The terms of reference for the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the Stock Exchange's website, the Company’s website
and its official website for corporate communications. The Company
realizes the importance of good corporate governance practice and is
endeavored to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
on corporate governance through the development, review and monitor
of the policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance,
the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to Directors
and employees of the Company. The Corporate Governance Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board with regard to any necessary
changes.

During 2019, three meetings (including one meeting by way of circulation
of written resolutions) were held by the Corporate Governance Committee
to review the training and continuous professional development records of
Directors and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code, and to make
recommendation to the Board regarding adoption of rules of procedures of
Board meetings and amendments to terms of reference for the Executive
Committee. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HE BT EHERBR
BERE KB &5t
Meeting Written
Attended/Held Resolutions Total
=g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2 1/1 3/3
AiEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 2/2 1/1 3/3
MR LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 2/2 1/1 3/3
Egel ZHOU Longshan 1/2 11 2/3
LRA(R=ZZF—N%F  JI Youhong (appointed with effect 0/0 11 11
AA+HEZRT) from 10 May 2019)
AR (R=Z—hF LAU Chung Kwok Robert (retired 2/2 0/0 2/2
AA+RHEME) with effect from 10 May 2019)
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During the year, the Company held one general meeting, namely, the

FRATH (EHR)RNESETB/EE265:5H  annual general meeting, at 50th Floor, China Resources Building, 26

KBS0 (T 2 IR AR - R BIE 2 FEE
RERRALRA BINBRAREITAE D220

Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Friday, 10 May 2019. Details
of the matters resolved and the poll results were published on the Stock

EL% 0 RIREASERES REBMSEEIL - Exchange's website, the Company's website and its official website for
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corporate communications at least 20 clear business days before the

general meeting and after the general meeting on that day respectively.

The attendance of the Directors at this meeting is as follows:

R=Z—-Hh
FHATH
BINER
Meeting
held on
10 May 2019
HITES Executive Directors
AW ZHOU Longshan v
HLRA JI Youhong v
2B (RZZE—NF LAU Chung Kwok Robert v
RAATHRE) (retired with effect from 10 May 2019)
EHITES Non-executive Directors
PR IE CHEN Ying -
TE WANG Yan -
mE R WAN Suet Fei -
=5 JING Shiging -
BIFHITES Independent non-executive Directors
B IP Shu Kwan Stephen v
A8 SHEK Lai Him Abraham v
BEH ZENG Xuemin v
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson v
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BRENEEHH IMPORTANT SHAREHOLDERS’ DATES
BRAZZE-_ZFNEZHEINT The important dates for shareholders in 2020 are as follows:
=15 sTEIA
Events Planned Dates
AMEBE_T_EFA=+-HLE=EAZREERZZTENBEN —Z_TFMA_+HH
Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information 24 April 2020

for the three months ending 31 March 2020

BEXEBLEERRAFEFRGUINE TREZBPXHNKESRR —Z_ZFATAATFEE=
Deadline for lodging transfer documents for attendance and voting 19 June 2020 4:30 PM
at the annual general meeting

BITRRBFERGACEEHERFPFERS —ETFEXAZ+TZHE=-tTANA
Book closure dates prior to annual general meeting 22-29 June 2020

BREBFRE TECEREXNA-TAETF=B=
Annual general meeting 29 June 2020, 3:30 PM

BRUB —_ZT-NFREAREZBRMHHRKER S H —E-TFERA=TH

Last day of dealmgs in Shares with entitlement to final dividend 2019 30 June 2020

e H —ETFL+ACH

Ex-dividend date 2 July 2020

BERXEEPM _ZF-NFRARE 2B X &ZHAR TECEELAZHTFUR=T5
Deadline for lodging transfer documents for entitlement to 3 July 2020, 4:30 PM

final dividend 2019

—E-NERBREZEEHERFPFEALN —ZE-TFL+ ARHE

Book closure date for final dividend 2019 6 July 2020

R ZE—NERBKRE & e ol =

Payment of final dividend 2019 20 July 2020*
AMEBEZT_TF A= THLEANEAZREEZTHER —E-TFEN\HALB/Y

Announcement of the unaudited financial information 7 August 2020*

for the six months ending 30 June 2020

AEBE_Z_ZTFAA=ZTHIENEAZAKREZETEMKBEN —T_TF+HA-_+=0"*
Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information 23 October 2020*
for the nine months ending 30 September 2020

* E HE * Tentative date
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and the consolidated
financial statements of the Company that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
statement by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 154 to 161. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming their
independence and objectivity and holds meetings with representatives
of the independent auditor to consider the scope of its audit, and the
scope and appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided
by it. The Audit Committee then makes recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment, removal, remuneration and terms of
engagement of the independent auditor. The Group'’s policy regarding the
engagement of Ernst & Young for the various services listed below is as
follows:

° Audit services — include audit services provided in connection with
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and the financial statements of the individual subsidiaries.

° Audit related services — include services that would normally be
provided by an independent auditor but not generally included
in audit fees, for example, review of financial statements for the
purpose of interim report, due diligence and accounting advice
relating to mergers and acquisitions and internal control reviews
of systems and/or processes. The independent auditor is to be
invited to undertake those services that it must or is best placed to
undertake in their capacity as auditor.
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° Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and tax
planning services, except for those services which are provided
in connection with the audit. The Group uses the services of the
independent auditor where it is best suited. All other significant
taxation related work is undertaken by other parties as appropriate.

o Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, non-financial systems consultations
and corporate governance compliance assessment. The
independent auditor is also permitted to assist management and
the Group's Internal Audit Department with internal investigations
and fact-finding into alleged improprieties. These services are
subject to specific approval by the Audit Committee.

° General consulting services — the independent auditor is not
eligible to provide services involving general consulting work.

An analysis of the fees of Ernst & Young and other independent auditors
relating to the audit of the financial statements of the Company and
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2019 is shown in Note 8
to the financial statements. For the year ended 31 December 2019,
a provision of HK$3,802,000 was made in the financial statements
for service fee payable to Ernst & Young for the annual audit and the
Group paid HK$759,000, HK$636,000 and HK$154,000 to Ernst &
Young as service fees for review of 2019 interim financial statements,
informationized system testing and tax consultation respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned with the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems, and assessment
and management of risks. In meeting its responsibility, the Board seeks
to increase risk awareness across the Group’s business operations
and has put in place policies and procedures, including parameters of
authority delegation, which provide a framework for the identification and
management of risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems to ensure that the policies
and procedures in place are adequate and appropriate.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Reporting and review activities include review and approval by the
executive Directors and the Board of detailed operational and financial
reports, budgets and plans provided by the regional management, review
by the Board of actual results against the budgets, review by the Audit
Committee of the ongoing work of the Group’s internal audit function and
risk management function, as well as regular business reviews by the
executive Directors.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group’s business
objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against material
misstatement, errors, omissions or fraud.

Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of the
businesses within the Group. The Group’s internal control procedures
include a comprehensive system for reporting information to the
executive Directors. Business plans and budgets are prepared annually
by the regional management and subject to review and approval by the
executive Directors as part of the Group’s five-year corporate planning
cycle. Financial reports for the current year are prepared on a monthly
basis, reviewed for variances to the budget and for approval. When setting
budgets and forecasts, the management identifies, evaluates and reports
on the likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business
risks. The executive Directors review the monthly management reports
on the financial results and key operating statistics of each business unit
and hold monthly meetings with the senior management team to review
these reports, business performance against budgets, forecasts, significant
business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Group has established guidelines and
procedures for the approval and control of expenditures. Operating
expenses are subject to overall budget control and are controlled within
each business unit with approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital expenditures are
subject to overall control within the annual budget review and approval
process, and more specific control and approval by the executive Directors
are required for unbudgeted expenditures prior to commitment.
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Internal Audit

The Company’s Internal Audit Department is responsible for assessing
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, formulating
an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the
Audit Committee, Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned as well as following up on all reports to ensure that all
issues have been satisfactorily resolved. Depending on the nature of
business and risk exposure of individual business units, the scope of
work performed by the Internal Audit Department includes reviews of all
important aspects of internal controls (including financial, operational,
information technology, risk management, legal and compliance
controls, etc.), recurring audits, dawn raids and fraud investigations.
Representatives from the Internal Audit Department will meet with the
Audit Committee and the independent auditor at least once a year to
discuss on the findings from the Internal Audit Department and any
potential risks that may exist. A report on the review of risk management
and internal control of the Group in accordance with the annual internal
audit plan will be submitted by the Internal Audit Department to the Audit
Committee and the Board for approval after the end of the relevant year.

Continuing Connected Transactions

In order to ensure that all continuing connected transactions of the Group
comply with the Listing Rules, the Company has in place an internal
control policy which sets forth the procedures for entering into agreements
and managing the conduct of continuing connected transactions. The
framework agreements approved by the Board set out the major terms
and conditions of the continuing connected transactions which could
be entered into by the individual business units of the Company. Prior
approval by the Company’s senior management, Finance Department and
Legal Department is required before each individual continuing connected
transaction may be entered into. Individual business units are required to
obtain and compare the quotations and pricing terms from a connected
person and at least two independent third parties which are market
competitors of the connected person. The Finance Department and the
Legal Department shall check, among other things, the compliance of
such pricing terms with the pricing policies or mechanisms under the
framework agreements. The Finance Department shall also monitor the
aggregate transaction amounts on an ongoing basis to ensure the annual
caps not to be exceeded. The Internal Audit Department shall review
the effectiveness and adequacy of the abovementioned internal control
policy and procedures. The independent non-executive Directors and
independent auditor shall review the continuing connected transactions
annually in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Details
of our continuing connected transactions have been disclosed in the
relevant announcements published on the Stock Exchange’s website, the
Company’s website and its official website for corporate communications.
Results of the annual review are reported on pages 119 to 125 of this
annual report.
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Inside Information

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure that the market and shareholders are fully
and promptly informed about the material developments in the Company’s
business, the Board has adopted the Inside Information Disclosure Policy
regarding the procedures of proper information disclosure. Release of
inside information is subject to the approval of the Board. Unless duly
authorized, all staff members of the Company shall not communicate
inside information to any external parties and shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.

Review of the Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

On the Audit Committee’s recommendation, the Board approved the
report on the review of the risk management and internal control of
the Group for 2019 submitted by the Internal Audit Department and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group have been effective, adequate and appropriate.

Group Risk Management

Directors and officers liability insurance has been purchased and
maintained to protect directors and officers of the Group against their
potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the course
of performing their duties.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor in
Hong Kong. Mr. LO, aged 70, was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 29 May 2009. He qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and
has been in continuous practice since qualification. He is currently a
partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. Although Mr. LO is not a full time
employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity as
Company Secretary advises the Board on corporate governance matters.
The primary contact person of the Company with Mr. LO is Mr. ZHOU
Longshan, Chairman of the Board. Mr. LO confirmed that he had fulfilled
the 15 hours of Continuing Professional Development training required of
a solicitor in respect of 2019.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2019, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward
Proposals (other than proposing a person for election as a Director) at
General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the Company, an
extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on the written requisition
of (1) any two or more members of the Company; or (2) any one member
of the Company which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominees(s))
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
(Room 4606-08, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong) for the attention of the Board or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal place of business in Hong Kong, the
registered office of the Company (PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands) for the attention of the Board.

The written requisition shall specify the objects of the extraordinary
general meeting and be signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such
requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit of the written requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the voting right at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not, within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
written requisition, proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meeting may be convened by the Board, provided that any extraordinary
general meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of
3 months from the date of deposit of the written requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Procedures for Shareholders to Nominate a Person for Election as a
Director

Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that no
person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting unless during the period,
which shall be at least 7 days, commencing no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting, there has
been given to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member of
the Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his intention to
propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person
to stand for election as a Director at the annual general meeting, the
following documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within the period
specified in Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
namely, (1) the shareholder’s notice of intention to propose a resolution to
elect a nominated candidate as a Director at the annual general meeting;
(2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s information as
required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4)
the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board (i) in writing to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong (Room 4606-
08, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong) for attention to the Board; (ii) by attending the Company’s annual
general meeting or extraordinary general meeting; or (iii) by email at
crcement@crc.com.hk.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s website
and its official website for corporate communications.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had 1,359 registered
shareholders and total public float capitalization amounted to
HK$21,670,082,000. In addition to individual shareholders, some Shares
are held by institutional investors, or by individuals and organizations
through financial intermediaries such as nominees, investment funds and
the Central Clearing and Settlement System of Hong Kong. The names
of the shareholders, other than the Directors, holding 5% or more of
the Shares as at 31 December 2019 are disclosed in the Report of the
Directors on page 118 of the annual report.

As the core principles of corporate governance, the Board gives
high priority to maintaining effective, transparent and constructive
communications with shareholders and other investors, and believes
that the Company’s relationship with shareholders is critical to its future
success. The Board is accountable to shareholders for creating and
delivering value through effective governance of business. The Company
keeps in touch with its shareholders and other investors through different
channels to facilitate their understanding on the Company’s performance,
strategies, prospects and the market environment in which the Company
operates. We believe shareholders’ value can be enhanced through clear
communication of the above information.

In order to ensure shareholders’ exercise of their rights in an informed
manner, a shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has been
established. A dedicated investor relations team has been established
as the primary contact of the Company with shareholders, investors
and analysts. The Company actively responds to daily inquiries from
shareholders and investors, and publishes important information of the
Company on the Company’s website and its official website for corporate
communications for equal and timely access by all stakeholders. The
Company also holds results presentation meetings for investors after
the release of annual results and interim results. The presentations are
broadcasted on the internet to ensure that overseas shareholders and
investors understand the Company’s business operations and future
development strategies from the online videos.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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The Company keeps close contact with the investment community and
makes every effort to maintain stable and effective communications
with shareholders and investors. To this end, the Company regularly
participates in different activities including investor meetings, roadshows
and investor conferences held by various investment banks in order
In 2019,
the Company participated in a total of approximately 190 conference
calls, investor meetings and roadshow meetings which enabled direct
communication with fund managers and analysts worldwide. In November
2019, the Company organized a three-day reverse roadshow with a
total of 30 analysts and representatives from banks in participation. This
roadshow was held in Nanning City and Baise City, Guangxi, during which
investors and the Company’'s management were engaged in extensive
discussions. The visits to the Group’s cement production plant located in
Tianyang District, Baise City and the concrete batching plant located in
Baise City have deepened the investors’ understanding on the trends of
the cement industry, the Group’s co-processing projects and the Group’s
business model for “integrative development of cement, concrete and
aggregates”.

to increase interactions with shareholders and investors.

The Board always welcomes views and inputs from shareholders and
investors, who can send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company’s Investor Relations Department by
letter, telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information can be
found on page 4 of this annual report.
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TXKEBEEI SR Ernst & Young
EBPIRAFREIT 22/F, CITIC Tower
hiEKE221E 1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 162 to 275,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit matter
due to the involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in the
performance of this assessment.

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, determining
whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in
use of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has been
allocated. During the year, the value in use calculation required the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
estimation uncertainty mainly included the gross margin, discount rate
and growth rate.

The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2019 was
HK$1,184,366,000 and, for the purpose of impairment testing, as
disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill has
been allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement operating
segment and concrete operating segment. The carrying amounts of
goodwill allocated to the cement operating segment and the concrete
operating segment were HK$1,137,306,000 and HK$47,060,000,
respectively, at 31 December 2019. The management of the Group
assessed and concluded that there was no significant impairment of
goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

Obtaining an understanding of the basis adopted in the value in use
calculations prepared by management;

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management, including the growth rates by comparing the prior year cash
flow projections with the current year actual cash flows;

Testing the appropriateness of the key inputs applied by management,
including revenues, cost of sales and operating expenses by
benchmarking them against the economic and industry data;

Assessing the key factors in determining the discount rate, including the
Group’s debt and equity ratio, return on investments and other risk factors,
and comparing to discount rates adopted in the cement industry for
evaluating the reasonableness; and

Evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by management in respect of
the growth rate and discount rate to evaluate the extent of impact on the
calculations of the value in use.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables
We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key

audit matter due to the use of judgement and estimates in assessing the
allowance for doubtful debts.
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At 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$2,386,126,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$246,529,000) as disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements. Management used a provision matrix to calculate expected
credit losses for trade receivables. The matrix was initially based on the
Group’s historical default rates, and specific factors that management
considered in the estimation of the rates including the type of customers,
ageing of the balances and recent historical payment patterns.
Management then calibrated the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information, such as the existence of
disputes and forecasted economic conditions.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of trade receivables included:

Obtaining an understanding of how the allowance for doubtful debts was
estimated by management and testing the key controls of the Group
relating to the credit control, debt collection and estimation of expected
credit losses;

Checking the ageing analysis of the trade receivables throughout the year
to understand movements in the ageing and the settlement pattern of the
customers;

Testing the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample basis, to
the source documents, including sales invoices and good delivery notes;
and

Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for doubtful debts with
reference to the credit profile including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and the ageing analysis
of the trade receivables, evaluating whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted based on current economic conditions and
forward-looking information and, examining the actual losses recorded
during the current financial year.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2020

—E-NEEH
Annual Report 2014&9 1 61



meRnlaE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_Z—hNF+-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

—E-NF - N\F
k=2 FET FHET
2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
L Turnover 5 38,955,561 38,791,470
$HE KA Cost of sales (23,298,019) (23,371,498)
ER Gross profit 15,657,542 15,419,972
HABUWA Other income 6 603,380 574,324
WEWENFEERS  Change in fair value of investment
properties 17 5,000 7,200
SHEMDHE A Selling and distribution expenses (1,986,672) (1,985,180)
—MEITEER General and administrative expenses (2,328,548) (2,544,745)
FEH (B518) W= Exchange (loss) gain (36,509) 104,532
&R Finance costs 7 (453,634) (643,768)
JE(REEE N R EE Share of results of associates 326,689 181,939
JE(EA ENREE Share of results of joint ventures 220,998 220,941
Br A & 7 Profit before taxation 8 12,008,246 11,335,215
1A Taxation 11 (3,313,881) (3,328,486)
FERAF Profit for the year 8,694,365 8,006,729
Hipzm (BA)UA:  Other comprehensive (expense)
income:
HiET@EF 7EZ 82 Items that will not be subsequently
HIEE - reclassified to profit or loss:
BEAZ2HEETESL  Exchange differences arising
HbE X Z 5 on translation to presentation
currency (934,817) (1,840,224)
EMIGENFEEESE  Change in fair value of
other investment (39,114) -
RE@EF EFZEz  ltem that will be subsequently
HIEH - reclassified to profit or loss:
FE(EEE & N F) EH A Share of other comprehensive
2HEEA (EH) income (expense) of associates 26,908 (9,001)
FEEMEEER Other comprehensive expense
for the year (947,023) (1,849,225)
FEFEBABRE Total comprehensive income
for the year 7,747,342 6,157,504
AT ALTEGFRZET]:  Profit for the year attributable to:
IN/NCIEZZ =N Owners of the Company 8,617,503 7,975,439
FEIE AR = Non-controlling interests 76,862 31,290
8,694,365 8,006,729
ITALEESFESE  Total comprehensive income for the
LONCECE year attributable to:
ZIN/NCIEZ DN Owners of the Company 7,676,111 6,134,943
FEFE IR AR Non-controlling interests 71,231 22,561
7,747,342 6,157,504
BREKREF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 14 1.234 1.179

162 EBHAREBRERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-ZE—NE+=-F=+—H At31 December 2019

—E-NF —N\&F
HtaE FET FAT
2019 2018
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
EMBNEE Non-current assets
EEEBE Fixed assets 15 27,080,617 28,489,788
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16 2,922,031
FENEERE Prepaid lease payments 16 - 2,846,024
"EYE Investment properties 17 130,000 137,761
Hix & Other investment 18 97,197
BIVEE Intangible assets 19 2,461,792 2,197,455
1‘5’\%% LN AR T Interests in associates 21 6,580,670 5,463,446
A =N/ OF 2o Interests in joint ventures 22 1,426,602 1,409,378
EBEEER® Deposits for acquisition of assets 1,031,817 497,157
EETIBEE Deferred tax assets 23 219,766 208,358
KEjE WA Long term receivables 24 260,553 354,740
B2 HERT T_a"%\ Pledged bank deposits 31 216,985 80,089
42,428,030 41,684,196
MENVEE Current assets
FE Inventories 25 1,509,704 1,970,629
FEWE S EE%‘K Trade receivables 26 2,386,126 2,367,299
E b U kT Other receivables 27 726,366 841,005
T Z«FEH;:? BARIA  Loan to an intermediate
B3 holding company 28 805,240 801,316
i€ lNCIE /S ] Amounts due from associates 29 397,535 514,404
FEUE &R E)FIE Amounts due from joint ventures 30 5,818 2,631
AR IR Taxation recoverable 64,203 23,401
B MIRTTA Cash and bank balances 32 12,847,838 12,301,501
18,742,830 18,822,186
mEAE Current liabilities
BITE S BRI Trade payables 33 3,174,237 3,460,355
H A e 5RIR Other payables 34 5,080,770 5,007,969
FETRE IR Taxation payable 1,770,521 1,272,802
|ITEK Bank loans — amount due
— R —F A5 Hf within one year 35 1,297,954 4,531,678
11,323,482 14,272,804
MENVEEFE Net current assets 7,419,348 4,549,382
BELBERRDERE Total assets less current liabilities 49,847,378 46,233,578
Anm;ll Repjo-LrFZﬁfg 1 63
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZE—NAF+=-A=+—H At31 December 2019

S —z-N\f
it FET FET
2019 2018
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
IRITER Bank loans — amount due
——F1& 58 after one year 35 3,279,151 4,556,946
AR R HA R Unsecured medium term notes 36 3,349,050 3,423,870
E b REJFEN FR0R Other long term payables 37 448,828 8,297
FEIER T A E Deferred tax liabilities 23 504,171 349,303
7,581,200 8,338,416
42,266,178 37,895,162
A& I Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 38 698,294 698,294
G Reserves 41,281,378 36,992,984
KAREA AE(E#Z  Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 41,979,672 37,691,278
FEPE IR = Non-controlling interests 286,506 203,384
M HARE Total equity 42,266,178 37,895,162

FI2HEEF/CHMGATERREN -ZE-F  The consolidated financial statements on pages 162 to 275 were
FZA-tH+HEEERIERKETES WhH  approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March

TAATREZEE: 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:
JE#E 1L ZHOU LONGSHAN # R 4L JI YOUHONG
E % DIRECTOR EZE DIRECTOR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_T—-hF+_-_A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

LG LN

R

ZRitd MEEf
Ra  BRBEE #E  AHRERE BE RERE HAbER  REEA B FRREE  REER
TR TR TR TR TR TR THTL TERL TERL TEL TEL

(Wist47)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Long term
award Property Non-
Share Share scheme Merger  revaluation  Translation Other Retained controlling Total
capital premium Teserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
(Note47)
“E-J\E-F-8  AtllJanuary 2018 653294 4421573 (139,206) (35,193) 21317 839,651 (13716) 24511249 30308969 173472 30482441
E2EER Other comprehensive expense
-EREE - exchange differences - - - - - (1,83149%) - - (1,831,49) (8729) (1840224
-ElE-REE LT - share of ofher comprehensive
E2AER expense of an associate - - - - B - (9,001) B (9,001) - (9,001)
FRAF Profit for the year - - - - - - - 795439 7975439 31290 8006729
FE2E (BR)MAEE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - - (13314%) (9001) 7975439 6134943 2561 6,157,504
ZE-tERERE 2017 final dividend - (1,012,606) - - - - - - (1,012,605) - (1,012,600
- \FhERE 2018 interim dividend - (1920308) - - - - - - (1920308 - (1,920,308)
B{IHRA Issue of new Shares 45000 4140000 - - - - - - 4185000 - 4185000
FROBOHAR Issue costs of new Shares - @721 - - - - - - (4721) - @721
—FEERHERY Capital contrioution by a
EXtE non-controling shareholder - - - - - - - - - 7851 7851
RZZ-NE At31 December 2018
+-A=1+-8 698294 5623939 (139,206) (35,193) 21317 (941,844) (22717) 32486688 37691278 203884 37895162
RREEEREER  Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16
6o PE - - - - - - - (27422) (27.422) - (27.422)
RZZ-NE—A—8 Al January 2019 (restated)
(=5 698294 5623939 (139,206) (35,193) 2317 (941,844) 2717) 32459266 37663856 20384 37,867,740
Hio 28 (BF)MA  Other comprehensive (expense)
income
-ERER - exchange differences - - - - - (929,186) - - (929,186) (5631)  (934.817)
~EEBERR -~ share of other comprehensive
Ef2ERA income of associates - - - - - - 26,908 - 26,908 - 26,908
~EMRENTEEEY - changein fair value of
other investment - - - - - - (39,114) - (39,114) - (39,114)
FRAF Profit for the year - - - - - - - 8617503 8617503 76862 8694365
FELE(BE)WALE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - - - (929,186) (122000 8617503 7676111 J1.231 7747342
ZE-\ERERE 2018 final dividend - (1906,342) - - - - - - (1906342 - (1906342
“E-NEFTRERE 2019 interim dividend - (1,815564) - - - - - - (1,815564) - (1815564
BERBEREOBER  Recognition under the
long term award scheme - - 139,206 - - - - 222,405 361,611 - 31,611
HE-BRENE Disposal of an investment
property - - - - (3,507) - - 3507 - - -
FRRBENEARLE  Caplal contributions by
non-controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - 11391 11391
RZZ-NE At 31 December 2019
+-A=1+-H 698 294 1,902,033 - (35,193) 17810 (1.871,030) (34923) 41302681 41979672 286506 42,266,178
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_Z—hNF+-_A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

—E-NEF —E-N\F
FET FAT
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
REKEEEWIEESME  Cash flows from operating activities
B 35 Bl & A Profit before taxation 12,008,246 11,335,215
TS BEIEL R Adjustments for:
TEAENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,888,494 1,986,076
FRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 120,366 -
AR E R IE S Release of prepaid lease payments - 78,376
PRUEREH 8 Amortization of mining rights 117,422 89,182
"EYMENTEES Gain on changes in fair value of
EAE R investment properties (5,000) (7,200)
F B U A Interest income (149,527) (133,646)
B Interest expenses 453,634 643,768
il N Share of results of associates (326,689) (181,939)
ElEEERFIEE Share of results of joint ventures (220,998) (220,941)
HEBRTEEE (W) (Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets
B (2,152) 43,226
HECRAREEE NS Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (12,725) -
HE—HEEYHE S Gain on disposal of an investment property (5,517) -
& W E A Rk Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (550) (3,245)
GFERERD Reversal of impairment of inventories (5,929) (4,132)
REREER (FEEE) Allowance (reversal of allowance) for
doubtful debts 16,953 (16,902)
Hth e SR IE R AR (Reversal of allowance) allowance for
(A D) HE doubtful debts of other receivables (1,183) 27,169
FEEERE Impairment of fixed assets 55,867 42,625
FENHERERE Impairment of prepaid lease payments - 20,482
RERERE Impairment of mining rights - 15,860
i S E e () Exchange loss (gain) 23,605 (252,219)
LEETEEN Operating cash inflows before movements in
KERESRA working capital 13,954,317 13,461,755
HFERL () Decrease (increase) in inventories 431,352 (341,356)
JEUNE SERF (1B h1) 4> (Increase) decrease in trade receivables (88,788) 128,456
H i pE U R IR Decrease in other receivables 28,033 47,248
FERNZ SR CR )80 (Decrease) increase in trade payables (214,310) 250,574
H b A SRIEIE AN Increase in other payables 302,065 487,932
REFHEENRE Cash generated from operations 14,412,669 14,034,609
EREBENEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid - (21,309)
EHPERMPSZESE Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,697,728) (2,039,213)
BEARFE Interest paid (430,056) (643,064)
LETEBEERIRSFE  Net cash generated from operating activities 11,284,885 11,331,023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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—E-NEF —E-N\F
FET FAT
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
REREEESHWIEESME  Cash flows from investing activities
U EEE E B Em S Purchases and deposits paid for
MIBEFIENE® acquisition of fixed assets (1,954,520) (1,068,819)
g — KL R A Acquisition of an associate (906,511) -
F—REEIERARIMEFR  Loan to an intermediate holding company (795,760) (801,316)
BE IR T FIE N Increase in pledged bank deposits (141,155) (23,589)
W iR & Acquisition of other investment (136,311) -
Wy B8 BT Acquisition of mining rights (101,556) (36,312)
fF FAREEEL N Additions of right-of-use assets (54,762) -
£ HA & U ZR B 1 0 Additions of long term receivables (3,559) (66,194)
BE QRN (B ER (Advances to) repayment from joint ventures (3,200) 11,200
KE—KEEERAAA  Repayment from an intermediate
B holding company 798,164 -
KEEESAFWEHME  Dividends received from joint ventures 187,635 192,036
B N a R E R Repayments from associates 116,037 3,548
HEREEEEMSNRIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 115,724 13,218
2 UHLE Interest received 114,608 133,646
B8 RHEU RIS Repayments of long term receivables 74,117 83,938
HEFREEAEMSHRIA  Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets 55,582 -
ME—IBIREMZEMSFIE  Proceeds from disposal of an
investment property 17,913 -
TEH A& FRIEIE 0 Additions to prepaid lease payments - (261,138)
R—FKEE A TR EE Capital injection in an associate - (18,217)
KRBT FEUKE Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries in
S PNGEIECE S BN prior years - (2,999)
KEA—KRAHR Repayments from a fellow subsidiary
B A RV IR AR - 747,176
ke —KEZERRURELR)  Dividend received from an associate
iz & - 18,864
B REAAMIR S FE  Net cash used in investing activities (2,617,554) (1,074,958)
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—E-NF —E-N\F
FE&xT T
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
RERMEEESNIESME  Cash flows from financing activities
EERHARITER Repayments of long term bank loans (7,507,463) (2,909,213)
BT E Dividends paid (3,721,906) (2,932,913)
TNHEAE Payments of lease liabilities (49,470) -
SRR EREA 0B Settlement of other long term payables (11,668) (10,095)
RERITE SR A Decrease in short term bank loans (918) (1,791,597)
B RAIRITE R Long term bank loans raised 3,080,998 652,355
B REFEENGTEIURERA)  Cash received from termination of
b the long term award scheme 361,611 -
REFHERIEREAREE  Capital contributions from non-
controlling shareholders 11,391 7,851
BATHRR D P15 F58 Net proceeds from issuance of new Shares - 4,180,279
REEBFTAMIREFE  Net cash used in financing activities (7,837,425) (2,803,333)
FERSMRESFEY Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
SFEIE N for the year 829,906 7,452,732
FYRE MRS EEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year 12,301,501 5,384,094
ME RS EEIRE RIRTT Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on
ERNEE cash and bank balances (283,569) (535,325)
FRBENRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of
IR & RIRITHEH the year, representing cash and bank balances 12,847,838 12,301,501
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1.

For the year ended 31 December 2019
GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company
Law (2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003
and its shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding company is
CRH (Cement) Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding company is China Resources
Company Limited, a company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of cement, concrete and other related
products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") while the functional currency of the Company
is Renminbi (“RMB”). The Company has adopted HK$ as its
presentation currency because management considered that
it is more beneficial to the users of the consolidated financial
statements.
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“ZE-NFF+_A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment features with
negative compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term interests in
associates and joint ventures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over income tax
treatments

Annual improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3,

2015-2017 cycle HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and

HKAS 23

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
standards has had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 “Leases”, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
“Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease”,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 “Operating leases-incentives” and HK(SIC)-Int 27
“Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal
form of a lease”. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors continue to
classify leases as either operating or finance leases using similar
principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not have any
financial impact on leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective
method with the date of initial application of 1 January 2019.
Under this method, the standard has been applied retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of initial adoption recognized as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1
January 2019, and the comparative information for 2018 was not
restated and continued to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations.

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and the right to
direct the use of the identified asset. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a
lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land and
buildings. Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group classified
each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as operating
leases. The lease payments were recognized as an expense
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Any prepaid rent and accrued rent were recognized under
prepayments and other payables, respectively. Upon adoption
of HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single approach to recognize
and measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases
except for elective exemption for leases with a lease term of 12
months or less (“short-term leases”).

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognized based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 and included in
other payables and other long term payables.

The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position immediately before 1 January
2019. All these assets were assessed for any impairment based
on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected to present the
right-of-use assets separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The current and non-current portions of prepaid
lease payments, which represent medium-term leasehold land
in the Chinese Mainland, amounting to HK$80,217,000 and
HK$2,846,024,000, respectively, were reclassified to right-of-use
assets.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
Financial impact at 1 January 2019

The effect of adopting HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019 (increase/
(decrease)) is as follows:

FH&ETT
HK$'000
EE Assets
FREEE Right-of-use assets 3,082,637
AR ERIE Prepaid lease payments (2,846,024)
o fE U IR Other receivables (80,217)
BEBR Total assets 156,396
afE Liabilities
HAth pE S 5RIE Other payables 39,334
Hi AN FIA Other long term payables 144,484
BEEEE Total liabilities 183,818
s Equity
REBEF Retained earnings (27,422)

R-E-NF-A—-HBZBEEREER—
T\ Ft-A=t—BZELHEAE
HERAN -

The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as of 31 December 2018 is as
follows:

FHIT
HK$'000
RZE—-N\F+=ZA=+—H=Z Operating lease commitments
RETHERE as at 31 December 2018 228333
MR =ZE—NFE+=H Add: Payments in optional extension
—t—HIXRERZ periods not recognized
EMRIERTR as at 31 December 2018 7,883
236,216
RZFE—-—hLF—H—H Incremental borrowing rate
FIBEEF K as at 1 January 2019 4.75%
RZE—hF—A—H Discounted operating lease commitments
LTINS BT E A at 1 January 2019 183,818
R-EB-NFE—-H—HZ Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019
HEEE 183,818
“E-NFFR
Annual Report 2014&9 1 73



R OIS R sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. ERHFITIREESTEEBHE 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

BHEER ([EBUB®K HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

HEA]) STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

REEWARIZAIER TFIEEMEEARE The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

MHFET RAEE] B A IS 4R HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

EABHSER EBOHTEER Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business!
ECTACCHES

R EwEER  FREERE! Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest rate benchmark reformt
F5% - BEg HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
AERI| 553957 &

BABIRE &R
E75 (B3TA)

RN BRERER REEREBERAE Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or contribution of assets
FIRREE NElZEHEELE and HKAS 28 (2011) between an investor and its
SEPERAIER  FEE? associate or joint venture®
(f83TR)

(Z2—%)
EABHSER RRAERP HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts?
F175k
BRETEREIR EXNTER Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of materialt
REEEER and HKAS 8
E8R (1B3]4)
! R-FEZLFF—F—HZ EFHIFHFE ! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
BARIAERL o

2 R-FE = —F—H—HZE I FE 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
HRTER

3 RIGETE 2 HEsL 2 1% 150 F /Z B £ 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
;;?o

EEWNEEERIE] USR] BB The Directors do not anticipate that the application of new and

WELER RS EARENGS VT revised HKFRSs and Interpretations will have material impact on

WMRENERTE - the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties, equity
investment designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income and certain trade receivables, which have been measured
at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in
HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-controlled interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognized. A gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred to the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date; and

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for
which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period, and additional
assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognized at that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate categories of fixed asset
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets other
than construction in progress are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease terms

Plant and machinery 310 40 years
Logistics equipment 10 to 40 years
Others 3 to 35 years

An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognized.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at costs
and at their fair value at the acquisition date, respectively, less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortization for mining rights, which have finite useful
lives, is recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

A mining right is derecognized on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gain or
loss arising from derecognition of mining right is measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognized.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognized
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or
joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the equity
method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint
venture on the same basis as would be required if that associate
or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or
partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.
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3.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate. There is no re-measurement to fair value upon
such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain
or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Prepaid lease payments (applicable before 1 January 2019)

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which
case the entire lease is accounted for as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Prepaid lease payments (applicable before 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

To the extent that the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortized
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the
fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as fixed
assets.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in
use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognized for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit
or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost of inventories are determined using the weighted average
method. Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on acceptance of the goods by
customers.

(b) Provision of services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognized over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognized on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or
an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods
or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognized when
the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

The Group’s contract liabilities are recognized as deposits from
customers which is included in other payables.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as reported in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group'’s current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from internal
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognized to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognizes as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognized as a deduction from the carrying
amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognized in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on acquisitions of group entities are treated as assets
and liabilities of that group entities and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive income.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group
recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease components, the Group adopts the
practical expedient not to separate non-lease components and to
account for the lease component and the associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms plus
extension option period

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

“E-hEFR
Annual Report 2019

195



R OIS R sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

3. EXSFHEE® 3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

HE(B=ZE-NE-A—-BEBER)

(#&)

FEEERBRBA (F)

(b)

196

HERE

T

MEABENEERG BN ZHE
RS ER B ENTIRERER -
HENFEREENR (FEEE
BERUR) RAEMEREEES.
BURTA 8 B A R M 2 /O ] 270
BN ARTEHIERISREETER
T2 5 - HENHIBIER
SESEEEITENBERER
MITIEE RHHE R A EE
TR IHRERE - IR IERE M
SATHETR o THURAIEE A=K
R EEENREBENTNE
e iR 3 A B AR A AR R R
Lo

A EMENHRHRER - A
EPRENNETSHEE  AEE
FE R E M B #REIE AR
K- fFmAMZR HEAEN
RS IR S H9E 0 - Hom
AR FIER VR E R < LS

et HERRES HE
R ES) (PlanssRe M= e (L5
HEHARREENRES)  KBE
HHEENEERTMEEE  AIE
HrEHEREMREE-

AEEONHER GBS ARMEN
RIB R E A R B IR -

ERKORERABR AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other payables
and other long term payables.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases that are considered to be of
low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognized as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease madification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)
The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognized in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group's business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortized cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognized on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized, modified or impaired.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognized
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognized in other comprehensive
income is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably
its equity investments as equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income when they meet
the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Dividends
are recognized as other income in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to
impairment assessment.
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NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12
month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.
At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortized cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12 month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, unsecured medium term notes, bank loans and other
long term payables.
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NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at amortized cost

After initial recognition, bank loans are subsequently measured
at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the
effective interest rate amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is
recognized in profit or loss.
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(Continued)

Provision

A provision is recognized when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognized
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Provisions for the Group's obligations for environmental restoration
are based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines
in accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground
environment is disturbed at the production location. The Group
estimates its liabilities for final environmental restoration and mine
closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount and timing
of the future cash expenditures to perform the required work.
Spending estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted
at a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
When the liability is initially recognized in other long term payables,
the present value of the estimated cost is capitalized by increasing
the carrying amount of the mining rights.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provision (Continued)

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is amortized using the straight-
line method over its expected life and the liability is accreted
to the projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or
changes in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes
in estimated costs, or changes in timing of the performance of
reclamation activities) will be recognized as additions or charges to
the corresponding assets and environmental restoration liabilities
when they occur at the appropriate discount rate.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognized as an expense
when employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

Provisions for other employee benefits are recognized when the
Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits to its
employees and are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of
the future obligations discounted to their present value where the
effect is material.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for long term
award scheme. The shares held for the long term award scheme
will be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed to the
employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are recognized
as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between the proceeds
received and the cost of the shares is credited to retained profits.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
estimation uncertainty mainly included gross margin, discount rate
and growth rate.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts of
goodwill were HK$1,184,366,000 and HK$1,193,827,000,
respectively. Details of the of the recoverable amount calculation
are disclosed in Note 20.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

The realizability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future
profits generated are less than or more than expected, a reversal
or a recognition of deferred tax assets would be recognized in
profit or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year in which such a reversal or recognition
takes place. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets were HK$219,766,000 and
HK$208,358,000, respectively (see Note 23).

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on the aging days for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
GDP) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analyzed.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 26 to the financial
statements. The changes in ECLs resulted from the changes in the
historical observed default rates and forecast economic conditions
as at 31 December 2019 have had no significant impact on
the profit or loss. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
carrying amounts of trade receivables were HK$2,386,126,000
(net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$246,529,000) and
HK$2,367,299,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$247,297,000), respectively.

Estimated impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amounts
of the fixed assets may exceed their recoverable amounts.
The Group’s determination as to whether the fixed assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of
the assets. The Directors exercise their judgement in estimating
the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. The
Directors conducted a review of the Group’s production assets
and determined that the assets of certain subsidiaries were
fully impaired because it is expected that these assets will not
generate future benefit to the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2019, an impairment loss of HK$55,867,000 (2018:
HK$42,625,000) has been recognized in respect of those fixed
assets (see Note 15).
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for environmental restoration

Provision for environmental restoration is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to undertake
environmental restoration work which are discounted at a
rate reflecting the term and nature of the obligation to their
present value. Significant estimates and assumptions are made
in determining the provision for environmental restoration as
there are numerous factors that will affect the ultimate liability
payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs
of environmental restoration activities, technological changes,
regulatory changes, cost increases and changes in the discount
rate. Those uncertainties may result in future actual expenditures
differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision
at the end of the reporting period represents management’s
best estimate of the present value of the future environmental
restoration costs required. Changes to estimated future costs are
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position by
adjusting the environmental restoration asset and liability. The
carrying amount of provision for environmental restoration as at 31
December 2019 was HK$325,296,000 (see Note 37).

“E-hEFR
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5.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

—NFE+ZA=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of different
products in internal management reports which are prepared in
accordance with accounting policies conformed with HKFRSs,
that are regularly reviewed by the chief executive officer in order to
allocate resources to the operating segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:
Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related products
Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related products

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable for
goods sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
salaries, share of results of associates and joint ventures, interest
income, finance costs and exchange differences.

All of the revenue in cement segment and concrete segment
are from sale of goods, which are recognized when the goods
are transferred at a point in time. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of goods.
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5. BEXHERIHER (& 5.

DEPREEREIIAOT -

BE—ZE—hE+=-BA=+—ALEE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

The information of the segment results is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

XK b= dau EIE <) HE
TET TERT THET TERT
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- HIUWE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
NS External sales 32,044,266 6,911,295 - 38,955,561
DEZEEE Inter-segment sales 1,046,006 2,193 (1,048,199) -
33,090,272 6,913,488 (1,048,199) 38,955,561

DB EHE RRITHIHERE

ES

NEEE
MBWA
IR
HHER

AABARFEFRX

R NIE S
&

Eiha

BRELAT & A

/A\

1

EES

RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income

Exchange loss

Finance costs

Unallocated net corporate
expenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

11,790,468

463,821

“E-hEFR
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12,254,289

149,527
(36,509)
(453,634)

(453,114)
326,689
220,998

12,008,246

213



RO IRKME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5. EXHERDHBER # 5.

HE-_T—- \F+-_A=1t—HILFE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

K SERT 4 4Bz
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B - HEUE  TURNOVER - SEGMENT
REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 32,533,483 6,257,987 - 38,791,470
DEbz FHE Inter-segment sales 1,028,919 2,078 (1,030,997) -
33,562,402 6,260,065 (1,030997) 38,791,470

DB EIHE TMRRITH S ERH

ES

FBWA
B ¢ ek
BHEM

¥ NSNS 53

FEIERER
FBHAER

BRELAI & F

EIES
ES

RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income

Exchange gain

Finance costs

Unallocated net corporate
expenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

2‘] 4 ERKORERABR AR
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Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

11,545,916 311,417

11,857,333

133,646
104,532
(643,768)

(519,408)
181,939

220941
11,335,215
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HE2-_F—-hhF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

EEBRHBER (#) 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
DEPEERD I B ENERBIWT Information of segment assets and segment liabilities is as follows:
R+=—A=+—H
—E-hE —E-)N\F
FET TFAT
As at 31 December
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEEE Segment assets
K — Cement 33,900,877 35,217,865
N — Concrete 3,042,427 2,810,803
36,943,304 38,028,668
REEE R RIER Interests in associates 6,580,670 5,463,446
REERRIMNER Interests in joint ventures 1,426,602 1,409,378
BEEFHIBE E Deferred tax assets 219,766 208,358
AR BIA Taxation recoverable 64,203 23,401
ADBARERE (ifa)  Unallocated corporate assets (note a) 15,936,315 15,373,131
IRABERTE Consolidated total assets 61,170,860 60,506,382
aE Liabilities
nEaE Segment liabilities
—7KE — Cement 6,001,415 6,104,461
—RET — Concrete 1,759,558 1,450,541
7,760,973 7,555,002
EERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 504,171 349,303
FE LA Taxation payable 1,770,521 1,272,802
KPBECARIEE (b))  Unallocated corporate liabilities (note b) 8,869,017 13,434,113
mEBERE Consolidated total liabilities 18,904,682 22,611,220

it notes:
a. KAOTARIEERR® RRITHEH BER a.

BITFER TRKEEERAFANER KA

HEE- headquarters.
b. AABA R BEERITER  EIERREE b.

1R RABE R E A BOR - R RTTE R
EEATHRERARENBHHPIRTE
B BRETRE D AR AR AE.

Group.

“E-hEFR
Annual Report 2019

Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances, pledged
bank deposits, loan to an intermediate holding company and assets of the

Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, unsecured medium
term notes and other payables of the headquarters. The bank loans and
unsecured medium term notes are classified as unallocated corporate
liabilities because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the
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Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

5.

EXEBERDEHBER (9 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)
Hftt o MEHR Other segment information
BE-Z-NE+-A=+-HLEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
e BEL AREE REHE
THET FTHET THExT THExT
Corporate  Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEETEE Additions to fixed assets 1,014,300 237,436 507 1,252,243
PRERREIE AN Additions to mining rights 413,491 - - 413,491
AL Additions to right-of-use assets 12,951 54,896 - 67,847
BEEEFSEM  Increase in deposits for
acquisition of assets 527,750 6,910 - 534,660
RIZREE Allowance for doubtful debts 985 15,968 - 16,953
H e dzE Allowance (reversal of
REERBR allowance) for doubtful debts
(fHEEm) of other receivables 231 (1,414) - (1,183)
R E N Amortization of mining rights 117,397 25 - 117,422
TEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,759,768 128,188 538 1,888,494
FREESENE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 78,445 25,320 16,601 120,366
TEERE Impairment of fixed assets 55,867 - - 55,867
HE—HIZEWE  Gain on disposal of an
W investment property (5,517) - - (5,517)
HEGHAREEE Gain on disposal of right-of-use
e assets (8,941) (3,784) - (12,725)
FERERD Reversal of impairment of
inventories (4,589) (1,340) - (5,929)
HEFETEEE]E  Loss (gain) on disposal of
(Heas) fixed assets 16,617 (15,951) (2,818) (2,152)
BEWENFEEE  Gain on changes in fair value of
BELEM S investment properties - (5,000) - (5,000)
2‘] 6 EHKREREBR AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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5.

HE_T—

EEHERDTHBERE 5 5.

Httno BER ()

BE—T-\FT_A=1T—HIFE

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

KR SRR RAEE A
THT THT THT THT
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
NEETEE Additions to fixed assets 925,896 130,441 73 1,056,410
BRRERESE N Additions to mining rights 36,312 - - 36,312
FENEEREL I  Additions to prepaid lease
payments 161,363 99,775 - 261,138
BEEES (Decrease) increase in deposits
CRb)1m for acquisition of assets (212,933) 3,783 - (209,150)
REREBR Allowance (reversal of
(A E) allowance) for doubtful debts 2,479 (19,381) - (16,902)
Ho At W RIE Allowance for doubtful debts of
RIZREE other receivables 23,169 4,000 - 27,169
RIEE S Amortization of mining rights 85,784 3,398 - 89,182
EEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,849,692 135,792 592 1,986,076
TEERE Impairment of fixed assets 28,283 14,342 - 42,625
FANAEZUERMMAE  Impairment of prepaid lease
payments 20,482 - - 20,482
FEREREE Reversal of impairment of
inventories (4,132) — — (4,132)
HEETFEERE  Loss on disposal of fixed assets 42,510 436 280 43,226
FENAEREES  Release of prepaid lease
payments 71,490 6,886 - 78,376
BEWENFEEE  Gain on changes in fair value of
BEE MK investment properties - (7,200) - (7,200)

FHIEEFHNESR

R%MIEFER - AN EEERZ P 8
SRR AN EHEEEENI0% -

& & R

AEENRBEBRARIFRBEEETN R
(AR B A e & o

Information about major customers

No sales to an individual customer contributed over 10% of the
total sales of the Group for both years.

Geographical information

All revenue and non-current assets of the Group are arisen in and
located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.

—E-NEEH
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2‘] 8 ERKORERABR AR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

6. HWA 6. OTHER INCOME
—E-h#F —ET-N\F
FET FHET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
T 5ER (27) Government incentives
(note) 125,914 180,900
FBUTA Interest income 149,527 133,646
R R R R Sales of raw materials
and scrap 134,339 115,755
ARAE U A Service income 3,995 3,216
HaUA Rental income 54,709 55,135
RERBREEEE Compensation received
from insurance 17,365 14,753
REHERREPHEE Compensation received
from suppliers and
customers 21,373 18,111
HEF AL ERE Gain on disposal of
right-of-use assets 12,725 -
HE—HREMHE = Gain on disposal of
an investment property 5,517 -
HAh Others 77,916 52,808
603,380 574,324
it AT RN 2T BT HIRT - B note: ~ Government incentives mainly represented tax refunds, operating subsidies
K BeFER A Y B2 - and energy reduction incentives from local governments.
M58 H 7. FINANCE COSTS
—E-h#F —E-)N\F
FET FHETT
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
NTEIERMFE : Interests on:
RITERRERAFAZE Bank loans and unsecured
medium term notes 430,056 643,064
RIBIBERE Provision for environmental
restoration 15,486 -
HEaE Lease liabilities 8,092 -
HRAEFIE Other long term payables - 704
453,634 643,768
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8.

HE2-_F—-hhF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

BR i AU 2 F 8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—EB-hF —E—N\%F
FHT T
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRERIAFIE IR (FFA) U TRIA: Profit before taxation has
been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
EEME (H:29) Directors’ emoluments
(Note 9) 19,207 16,666
BT (TEEES)RREKAR Pension costs and
SR B AR HR mandatory provident
fund contributions for
staff, excluding Directors 294,814 305,115
Hih 8 TR A Other staff costs 3,345,564 3,343,831
B T A& Total staff costs 3,659,585 3,665,612
REREER (HEED) Allowance (reversal of
allowance) for doubtful
debts 16,953 (16,902)
HAth e R IBE RIZ IR (R E) H K (Reversal of allowance)
allowance for doubtful
debts of other receivables (1,183) 27,169
gy (Bt A—MRITBER) Amortization of mining
rights (included
in general and
administrative expenses) 117,422 89,182
2 &l 2 B Auditor's remuneration 4,366 5,456
EEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,888,494 1,986,076
FREEEITE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 120,366 -
EE & ERE Impairment of fixed assets 55,867 42 625
FERERE Reversal of impairment of
inventories (5,929) (4,132)
RiEERE Impairment of mining rights - 15,860
AT ERIERE Impairment of prepaid
lease payments - 20,482
HEBEEE (W) EiE (Gain) loss on disposal of
fixed assets (2,152) 43,226
HEFAEEE KRS Gain on disposal of right-of-
use assets (12,725) -
HE -G EYERE Gain on disposal of an
investment property (5,517) -
PLAT B IEEEME Operating lease payments
in respect of
—HEWE — rented premises - 62,106
—/RE — motor vehicles - 519,110
RHHEENR Short term lease payments 17,702 -
ATEHEENR Variable lease payments
—qE — motor vehicles 533,025 -
B & R IB 5 Release of prepaid lease
payments - 78,376
S .
Annl;lI?Repjo-LrFZﬁfg 2 1 9
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9. EEME 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
EEZMe Directors’ emoluments
BE-Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
RRERAE
R % R
EZHE HeREE  ABREHR HiERA 4] @it
TET TET TEL TEL TEL TAL
Pension
costs and
mandatory Long
Salaries provident term
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary award
E=pg Name of Director fees  allowances contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HiTEE Executive Directors
Az ZHOU Longshan - 2,111 211 5817 - 8,139
iR JI'Youhong - 1,437 222 4,265 - 5,924
285 LAU Chung Kwok Robert* - 616 48 3,440 - 4,104
0y Sub-fotal - 4,164 481 13,522 - 18,167
HRTEE Non-executive Directors
BE CHEN Ying . - - - - -
IE WANG Yan - - - - - -
BER WAN Suet Fei - - - - - -
BiE JING Shiging - - - - - _
1N Sub-total - - - - - -
BUFHTEE  Independent non-executive Directors
- yap) IP Shu Kwan Stephen 260 - - - - 260
RER SHEK Lai Him Abraham 260 - - - - 260
Lay ZENG Xuemin 260 - - - - 260
MEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 260 - - - - 260
0y Sub-total 1,040 - - - - 1,040
1,040 4,164 481 13,522 - 19,207
¢ REF—NFAATHRE ‘ Retired with effect from 10 May 2019

220 ERKORERABR AR
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HE2-_F—-hhF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

9. EEME & 9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BEEME (8) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
BE—_T— ) \Ft+-_A=t+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2018
R =4
E5He  FeREE  LEER [z AR &5t
T T THL T THL THL
Pension
costs and
mandatory Long
Salaries provident term
Directors' and fund  Discretionary award
EEfS Name of Director fees allowances  contributions bonus scheme Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

HITEZE Executive Directors
WL ZHOU Longshan 80 2,191 211 3924 - 6,406
iR JIYouhong 80 1,539 144 3013 - 4776
e LAU Chung Kwok Robert &0 1,449 145 2,770 - 4444
Gt Sub-fotal 240 5179 500 9,707 - 15626
HHTEE Non-executive Directors
RE CHEN Ying - - - - - -
I WANG Yan - - - - - -
BER WAN Suet Fei* - - - - - -
sttE* JING Shiging* - - - - - -
XR! DU Wenmin¢ - - - _ _ _
B WE Bin* - - - - - -
0y Sub-total - - - - - -
BUFHTEE  Independent non-executive Directors
=g IP Shu Kwan Stephen 260 - - - - 260
VY SHEK Lai Him Abraham 260 - - - - 260
B2y ZENG Xuemin 260 - - - - 260
MWEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 260 - - - - 260
g Sub-fotal 1,040 - - - - 1,040
1,280 5179 500 9,707 - 16,666

* R-F—NFAA+—HEZT * Appointed with effect from 12 May 2018

# R-F—/\FAA+—HRE # Retired with effect from 11 May 2018

# R-ZF-NF-A1TIBEFHT # Resigned with effect from 19 January 2018

—2-AEEH
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

HE-_Z—hWF+-_A=+—HLIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
9. EEME 9.
EEMS (&)
EXTHITESHNS X ERKEEH
BEARNRRAEE SR T
EXEIREN B TE S e = E
EEAARNRESNORB M -
10. & & &N 10.

R-ZF-NF AEE=EHMNEARRER
H(ZF—\F MR)ES FENHE
BN LXK R BERN N T A%
i F N ELA B AR 5 -

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATIONS

The five highest paid individuals in 2019 included two Directors
(2018: two) whose emoluments are included in the disclosures
in Note 9 above. Total remunerations paid to the five highest paid
individuals are:

—E—-hEF —E—)N\F

FExT THET

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

EEEE Directors’ fees - 160

¥ 2R REBIEA

RN A R R RTES R

222 EBHAREBRERAR
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Salaries, allowances and

discretionary bonus 29,359 25,358
Pension costs and

mandatory provident

fund contributions 1,121 735

30,480 26,253
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HE_Z—NF+_-_A=+—HLFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
10. EEFHE o) 10. EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATIONS (Continued)
HENFHHNN FATEHE : Their remunerations were within the following bands:
—E-hAE —FEN\F
2019 2018
4,500,0017% 7t 25,000,000/ 7T HK$4,500,001 to
HK$5,000,000 - 3
5,000,0017% 75 25,500,000/ 7T HK$5,000,001 to
HK$5,500,000 2 -
5,500,001 7T 26,000,000/ 7T HK$5,500,001 to
HK$6,000,000 2 1
6,000,001 7T £6,500,0007% 7T HK$6,000,001 to
HK$6,500,000 - 1
8,000,001 7t 28,500,000/ 7T HK$8,000,001 to
HK$8,500,000 1 -
5 5
11. %\ 11. TAXATION
—E-NF —E-)N\F
FET T T
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
BVEARR 18 Current taxation
BEFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 9,236 13,876
B AT Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 3,147,143 3,056,941
3,156,379 3,070,817
RBEFE (BERE) BETR (Overprovision)
underprovision in
prior years
BEFEH Hong Kong Profits Tax (118) -
B F TSR Chinese Mainland
Enterprise Income Tax 4,155 (41,568)
4,037 (41,568)
BERIR (H17323) Deferred taxation (Note 23)
&5 Hong Kong (7,386) 6,523
AR A 3B Chinese Mainland 160,851 292,714
153,465 299,237
3,313,881 3,328,486

“E-hEFR
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1% HR R B 5T

Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

11.

BIE (@)

BB RS R TRRI A PO SRR
BA16.5% 0B R & -

B I RS IR B IR MEE E RE
R At S B B B ) P ER AR U e 42 25 %
BHPTSH - #K10%t Er B S
TEHIBUA R IR10%ETE ey B Ak f g 2
AR IR EE — KB BER A RHIE
FER ©

P A 7 52 (B 3R A 128 ) B R 22 BE ) 88 [ 55
- B ZRE A ae NS Al B R AR K
BE - PR B A RN
—WFE+=Z A=+ BABRIEI A IRIR
B8 2 4G B R BRF 2 B31,472,271,00078
7T (=Z— )\ : 29,506,035,000/87T ) * I
BRSBTS IR R P ARER B A E L
B

ERKORERABR AR
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11.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

TAXATION (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax includes the income
tax calculated at 25% on the taxable income of the group
entities in the Chinese Mainland, the withholding tax calculated
at 10% on dividends in the Chinese Mainland, and the deferred
tax calculated at 10% on the intended distribution profits from
subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland to a holding company in
Hong Kong, for both years.

No deferred tax liability has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits
of HK$31,472,271,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$29,506,035,000) earned by the subsidiaries established in
the Chinese Mainland as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BHE-ZT—
11. BB (&) 11.

AR E R S AT BB TR AT AR & B SRR N

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
TAXATION (continued)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated

T profit before taxation as follows:
ZB-AF —TN\F
TET FAT
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FrEL AT & Profit before taxation 12,008,246 11,335,215

R B A 1 AT IS AR R 25%

BEERRBANRRMENEANREZE

EERRRBNENTFRRNWANRIGZE

ETHEAMNE LR RERTIRR 2D

A
AERRBBRORGEZE

FRBERERNRGEROREZE

AR APNEIE SR 2
BIEEERRIRENMBEE

TEE b DA A 2 RO F B 2RI TR B R Y
S

E

N\

DIkPEABHB AR BNORETE

DIKFEAMEERTANNRGEE

RBEFERETE (BEERE)

RERHRBHX

Tax at the Chinese

Mainland Enterprise

Income Tax rate of 25% 3,002,062 2,833,804
Tax effect of expenses

that are not deductible

in determining taxable

profit 137,669 116,672
Tax effect of income

that is not taxable in

determining taxable

profit (65,740) (100,906)
Tax effect of tax exemptions

granted to certain

Chinese Mainland

subsidiaries (15,950) (6,930)
Tax effect of tax losses not
recognized 114,689 123,276

Tax effect of utilization of
tax losses not previously

recognized (146,136) (60,913)
Tax effect of share of results

of associates (81,672) (45,485)
Tax effect of share of results

of joint ventures (55,250) (55,235)

Effect of different tax rates

of subsidiaries operating

in other jurisdictions (1,109) (8,039)
Tax effect of distributable

profits of Chinese

Mainland subsidiaries 415,560 573,810
Tax effect of distributable

profits of Chinese

Mainland joint ventures 5,721 -
Underprovision

(overprovision) in prior

years 4,037 (41,568)

Taxation expense for the
year 3,313,881 3,328,486

ZE-NFFR
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Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

12.

3R k48 R 5 &

BBER A2 EAK BN EHRFORINGT
2RI R EEFE ([RER
BEatal]) - REHRFENRFTENEER
BUERESEBA - HFHERTIIA
BREEANFEHFEADLAELE IR
RAEEHBERT NG BEREEEES
B VTP USRI R SRR A SR B ey
FoNEREHR WEEASEOARD
R <SRBI DR A B T E E
HEAKENEEEX ARG TRES
DRFA - AEE LB REEEARSEHIE

RFEEE B

AEEETERAER BN T EARM
B B BT E BT B IR AR AT
A B - NEBRRIRINENET 8IS
TERTEANLEFIERBNES <A
KERZEAETOE—RIANEE
K REBE R BN A E B TERH
SERNEEFERHFEAR S

ERKORERABR AR
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12.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group’s defined contribution retirement schemes or to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF”). The assets of the
defined contribution retirement schemes are held separately in
independently administered funds. The amount of contributions is
based on a specified percentage of the basic salaries of employees
and is charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Any forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits
of staff leavers will be used to reduce the Group’s contributions.
There was no significant amount of unutilized forfeited
contributions at the end of each reporting period. The assets
under the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of the trustee. The Group and each of the
employees make monthly contributions to the MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
Employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are also offered
to participate in the Group’s defined contribution retirement
schemes.
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13. B2 13. DIVIDENDS
—E-hF T )N\F
FET FHEIT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FACERIED RARE. Dividends recognized as
distribution during
the year:
—E-NFHEH-8R0.26E T 2019 Interim — HK$0.26
—T—)\F: 8R0.275% L) per share (2018:
HK$0.275 per share) 1,815,564 1,920,308
ZE-N\FRHA-FR0273E T 2018 Final — HK$0.273 per
—E—+F FHK0.155%FT) share (2017: HK$0.155
per share) 1,906,342 1,012,605
3,721,906 2,932,913
RBERRE 2T —NLF+=H Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend
=+ — B I-FEMNRAR B S0.335 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 of HK$0.335
BrL(EHEZE-N\F+A=+—H per share (HK$0.273 per share in respect of the year ended
I FEFR0273ETT)EHEFERIK 31 December 2018) has been proposed by the Directors and
- MEEFREREERRES K £ is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
HfER - FAEE - IRIBEARBRAFR annual general meeting. The total amount of HK$2,339,284,000
AEIE BTN EB T ENEERR (2018: HK$1,906,342,000) of the proposed final dividend,
B #B%82,339,284,0008 7T (=& — \F: calculated based on the Company’s number of shares issued at
1,906,342,000/8 7T ) I A 4R A B A AR R the date of this annual report, is not recognized as a liability in the
KANERE—IHAE- consolidated statement of financial position.
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14. BREF 14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

RRBHEA NEEFBERRNTHERIA
NEEETE A :

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

—E-nEF —T-N\%F
THERT TET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
27 Earnings
RERERBFME ORI REE AEIGEF Earnings attributable to the
owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 8,617,503 7,975,439
—g-nE  —2NE
2019 2018
ROHE Number of shares
RERERBF TS ORO MEFLHEE Weighted average number of
shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per share  6,982,937,817 6,767,184,392

RN RIS TR TR LR
Befn - SR 2 5SS A A -
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No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company did
not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.
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15. EEEE 15. FIXED ASSETS
TR
BEY BERRE URRE Hitt  EBIR HE
THT THT THT THT THT TR
Land and Plant and Logistics Construction
buildings machinery  equipment Others in progress Total
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KA COST
R=ZF—-)\&—F—H At 1 January 2018 13,109,197 26,470,349 2,510,568 1,661,632 1433341 45,185,087
NE Additions 9,824 123817 2,163 22,340 898,266 1,056,410
TERIBRTIAER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 394,158 375316 595 20,302 (790,371) -
&/ Disposals/written off (107,795) (291,104) (91,936) (18,319) (24,267) (533,421)
R AR Exchange adjustments (591,979)  (1,211,272) (112,580) (74,402) (65,865)  (2,056,098)
RZE-N\F At 31 December 2018
+-A=1+—H 12813405 25,467,106 2,308,810 1,611,553 1451104 43651978
NE Additions 4850 159,763 16,784 21,217 1,049,629 1,252,243
TRIBATHRER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 325,049 197,122 15,679 24,764 (562,614) -
HE /s Disposals/written off (98,984) (162,823) (106,383) (44,250) (82,073) (494,513)
L Exchange adjustments (284,788)  (556,695) (49,113) (34,251) (30647)  (955494)
RZE-NE At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—H 12,799,532 25,104,473 2,185,777 1,579,033 1825399 43454214
RIERERE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
R-F-\&—HF—H At 1 January 2018 2,430,648 9,828977 1,073,433 669,947 279507 14282512
FERAY Charge for the year 361,396 1,397,850 130,881 95,949 - 1,986,076
REZNEZRHERRE  Impairment loss recognized in
(i) profit or loss (rote) 7,743 34,882 - - - 42625
HE /s Disposals/written off (58818)  (264,219) (82,975) (16,016) (23349)  (445377)
R AR Exchange adjustments (118,839) (492,097) (48,530) (32,229) (11,951) (703,646)
RZZE-N\5F At 31 December 2018
+-A=+—H 2,622,130 10,505,393 1,072,809 717,651 244207 15,162,190
FERAY Charge for the year 37635 1310412 117,569 84,158 - 188849
RIBHEAERARERSE  Impairment loss recognized
(i) in profit or loss (ote) - - - - 55,867 55,867
HE /s Disposals/written off (31,013)  (139,807) (95,894) (32,192) (82,033)  (380,939)
L Exchange adjustments (61,165)  (248,110) (22,792) (15,989) (3959)  (352,015)
RZE-N%F At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—H 2906,307 11,427,888 1,071,692 753,628 214082 16,373,597
REE CARRYING VALUE
RZE-N%E At 31 December 2019
+-A=+—H 9,853,225 13,676,585 1,114,085 825,405 1,611,317 27,080,617
RZE-N\5F At 31 December 2018
+-A=+—H 10,191,275 14,961,713 1,236,001 893,902 1,206,897  28489,788
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15. BEIEEE (%)

Hip T2 EERARMEREREEEE

{5

it HE-Z-NFTA=T—HBLEFERN"
ERHARENEEEEELETER BT
ETHBRARMEERNEESZSEE
BT E RN EERRMEEBERAE -
At - stz FE T A EC BRNAESER
55,867,000/ 7T ( = — J\4F : 42,625,000/
JT)°

R=B—NFTA=T—BitAER
TiRREALHIS B2076 00087 (= F
—/\% :3293,000%&7T) °

16. FAREE BANHAER
B HESRE

(a FHENHEHEREBE(R=FE-IF
—B—BZaA)

15.

16.

FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

Others mainly comprise office furniture and equipment and
leasehold improvements.

note: During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors conducted a
review of the Group’s production assets and determined that the assets
of certain subsidiaries were fully impaired because it is expected that
these assets will not generate future benefit to the Group. Accordingly, an
impairment loss of HK$55,867,000 (2018: HK$42,625,000) has been
recognized in respect of those fixed assets.

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2019 was
interest capitalized of HK$2,076,000 (2018: HK$3,293,000).

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/PREPAID LEASE
PAYMENTS/LEASE LIABILITIES

€)] Prepaid lease payments (before 1 January 2019)

—E-)N\F
FHT
2018
HK$'000

BN E SRR
TR BAEE L

B R — R R IR A F0R
(Gt AR A EURIEA)
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Total prepaid lease payments:
Medium-term leasehold land
in the Chinese Mainland 2,926,241
Less: Amount which will be charged to
profit or loss within one year
(included in other receivables) (80,217)

2,846,024
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16. FAEEE "FAHHER 16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/PREPAID LEASE

B/ HEEE @ PAYMENTS/LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) EHRAEEE (b)  Right-of-use assets
AEEFRAREEENREENRST The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
NEBIAT : and the movements during the year are as follows:
+ 3 EEY st
FET FET FHExT
Land Buildings Total
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
RZE—hF—H—H At 1 January 2019 3,031,403 51,234 3,082,637
NE Additions 56,484 11,363 67,847
e Disposals (42,857) - (42,857)
FERX Depreciation charge (93,286) (27,080) (120,366)
bE H SR Exchange adjustments (64,673) (557) (65,230)
R-ZE—NF+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2019 2,887,071 34,960 2,922,031
(c) HE&EE (c) Lease liabilities
HEaENEREE (GTAEMER The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
FEREMEHEMNRE) RFR other payables and other long term payables) and the
FEhn T movements during the year are as follows:
—E-h#F
FHExT
2019
HK$’000
FHEERR Balance at beginning of the year 183,818
0 Additions 13,085
FERX Interest expense 8,092
(B Payments (49,470)
PE 3 Exchange adjustments (2,890)
FRER Balance at end of the year 152,635
ZEIv=E Analyzed into:
BNEREL 5 (H15234) Current portion (Note 34) 37,218
JEBPEAER > (H/7237) Non-current portion (Note 37) 115,417
152,635
(d BHEEEMNRSRLAEFRER (d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note 45(b)
B AR M aE45(b ) Hh o to the financial statements.
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A BIRBEERARA AREE SR
BrHmiEERR RO BRIREME
WA BEMEATR -

AEERNBERHERENZE BN EE
ZWEnNE RZE-NF+A=+—
Bk—ZF—/\Ft_A=1t—BNRFE
ETRE R AR B ERENBY A E
REXGEMBEERITARARNARA
Wb EERC

RNFHEETRENSHEELEAETE - A
SERBEFERAZHETERER
o

PR ZEMEN DT EBER &5 k&
EEROERRSERMERNYE-
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17. REWYZE 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

—E-hE —E-)N\F

FET THT

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

FYEEH Balance at beginning of

the year 137,761 131,176

HE Disposal (12,396) -
N EEE Change in fair value 5,000 7,200
PE R % Exchange adjustments (365) (615)
FREH Balance at end of the year 130,000 137,761

All of the Group’s leasehold interests in land held under operating
leases to earn rental are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The Group held investment properties in Hong Kong. For the
property located in Hong Kong, the fair value as at 31 December
2019 and 31 December 2018 has been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by Cushman &
Wakefield Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the market sales
comparable approach. There has been no change from the
valuation technique used in the prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best
use of the property is their current use.
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17. REWYZE &) 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
RE—NF+_A=+—HBE TN Details of the Group's investment properties and information
FrZH=T—B TEEREVENGT about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 and 31
BREEARAFEESRHERESAT December 2018 are as follows:

ATEE
Fair value
—E-hF EZE-N\F
F#&T T
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
DERE_RNIREYE Investment properties
classified as Level 2 130,000 137,761
RER WEEFE —HAE A EL - There were no transfers into or out of Level 2 during the year.
18. Hftig & 18. OTHER INVESTMENT
—E-NF
FET
2019
HK$’000
hEREE wAVEE Listed equity investment, at fair value 97,197
iR BN AT EE AR TE AR A The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at
BEFAEMEZEKE  RAALEER fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
BRI E LRSS - considers this investment to be strategic in nature.

—E-hEER
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19. BEEE 19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
mE PRUERE et
FHTT FHET TFHET
Goodwill Mining rights Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

2 COST
RZE—NF At 1 January 2018

—HA—H 1,297,675 1,599,115 2,896,790
NE Additions - 36,312 36,312
PE R % Exchange adjustments (25,330) (73,556) (98,886)
RZZE—N\F At 31 December 2018

+=-—A=+—H 1,272,345 1,561,871 2,834,216
NE Additions - 413,491 413,491
PE W2 Exchange adjustments (11,483) (34,142) (45,625)
RZE—NF At 31 December 2019

+=—A=+—H 1,260,862 1,941,220 3,202,082
2 BHERRE ACCUMULATED

AMORTIZATION AND
IMPAIRMENT

RZE—NF At 1 January 2018

—H—H 82,978 478,598 561,576
FERY Charge for the year - 89,182 89,182
E Impairment - 15,860 15,860
ME 5 Exchange adjustments (4,460) (25,397) (29,857)
RZZE—NF At 31 December 2018

+=—A=+—H 78518 558,243 636,761
FERY Charge for the year - 117,422 117,422
TE 3 F 8 Exchange adjustments (2,022) (11,871) (13,893)
RZZE—NF At 31 December 2019

+—-HA=+—H 76,496 663,794 740,290
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZE—NF At 31 December 2019

+—A=+—H 1,184,366 1,277,426 2,461,792
RZZE—NF At 31 December 2018

+=-—A=+—H 1,193,827 1,003,628 2,197,455

The useful lives of mining rights ranged from 10 to 50 years.
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20.

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

Management regularly determines if there is impairment of any of
its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated
to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement operating segment
and concrete operating segment. The carrying amounts of
goodwill allocated to the groups of CGUs of cement and concrete
operations are HK$1,137,306,000 (2018: HK$1,145,739,000)
and HK$47,060,000 (2018: HK$48,088,000), respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs of cement and
concrete operations have been determined based on the value
in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period with a growth rate of 5% (2018: 5%) and a
discount rate of 13% (2018: 13%). This growth rate is based on
the industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. The cash flows
beyond the five year period are extrapolated using zero growth
rate. The key assumption for the value in use calculation is the
budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the unit's
past performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of cement and concrete operating segments to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of cement and concrete operating
segments.
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21. REEE AR ER 21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—2-AE —FN\F
FET FHET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
JEEMMAD - FAAR Unlisted shares, at cost 6,561,438 5,654,927
M Exchange adjustments (467,040) (324,156)
M ENAEFNREMEEBA B E Share of post-acquisition
profits and other
comprehensive income,
net of dividends 486,272 132,675
6,580,670 5,463,446
JELETIREN A BB A RIEE Included in the cost of unlisted investments is goodwill with a total
BB 48 581,290,862,0008 7T (ZF—\ amount of HK$1,290,862,000 (2018: HK$1,173,553,000) arising
£:1,173,553,000/87T) ° on acquisitions of associates.
AEBFEBENFNFBOT: Details of the Group's principal associates are as follows:
AEERE
BEARER LA 3L 45 26 HEfER HEMEAEER A TEEH
S T
Proportion of
nominal value of
Place of registered capital
Name of associate incorporation Registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
2019 2018
ANEERAKERHERAA RE A, AR #600,000,0007T 40.6% 406% KERBEETEEHEE
Inner Mongolia Mengxi Cement Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. cement and concrete
BRAERM (BR)EREELR  FEMNM AR329,411,7007¢ 49% 49% KRRBRTHEREE
Fujian Building Material (Holdings) Chinese Mainland RMB329,411,700 Manufacture and sale of
Company Limited cement and concrete
ERKERMEERRAR RE R AR #1,321,220,0007T 50% 50% KERERTEEREE
Yunnan Cement & Building Materials ~ Chinese Mainland RMB1,321,220,000 Manufacture and sale of
Group Co., Ltd. cement and concrete
BHAM (RE)RHOERAA RE A, AR #359,997,6107T 40% - ANEARRABAERMNT
Universal Marble & Granite Chinese Mainland RMB359,997,610 Manufacture and processing
(Dongguan) Co., Ltd. of engineered stones and

natural stones
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21.

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the year
or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other associates would result in particulars of excessive
length.

In the opinion of the Directors, the associates of the Group are
all individually not material to the Group. Aggregate financial
information in respect of the Group'’s shares of these associates’
results and other comprehensive income is set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

REERNTINRES 22. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E-AF —E-)N\F
FHET FET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
REERRINIEETRERAR Cost of unlisted investments
in joint ventures 1,146,600 1,146,600
e 5 Exchange adjustments (78,447) (62,308)
IH B2 M B AR AR 2 Share of post-acquisition
profits net of dividends 358,449 325,086
1,426,602 1,409,378

R-Z—NF+-A=+— EI X UN
meéfﬁkmﬂ@%éluﬁzﬁ% BRRIFTE
A B E141,235 00008 7T ( ZE— \4F
141,23500078 7T ) °

As at 31 December 2019, included in the cost of investment
in joint ventures was goodwill of HK$141,235,000 (2018:
HK$141,235,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures.

—E-NEEH
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AEETESZNBMFELT:

Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures are as follows:

A%H

RENAER {3 B TEBEREE FERGEERNLH TEER
“E-hE ZT-N\F
Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value
Place of of issued of shares
Name of joint venture incorporation ordinary shares held by the Group Principal activities
2019 2018
Bt AR BB A F BHE 26,290 7T 50% 50% KERRRT FEREE
China Century Cement Bermuda US$26,290 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement and concrete
HIEKRERAR BE 10,0007 7 50% 50%  KELEERHE
Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement

EEARLRIENARENSERT]
ﬂif%ﬁzﬁéﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬂﬂiﬁlﬁﬁé
EFENTEE D BB EREN
HEEBNITR

EER R AKENMBEREARER S
TER - BREAKREEEZEFAERAN
FENEMEIBANSHYBEERER
fFAaEmRER-
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The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the
year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other joint ventures would result in particulars of
excessive length.

In the opinion of the Directors, all the joint ventures of the Group
are individually not material. Aggregate financial information
in respect of the Group’s share of these joint ventures’ results
and other comprehensive income is set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.



R OIS Kb 5E
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.

i SE B TH

AT AAEE RN T 2RETIE (8
BRI EERERAEEANES)-

HE2-_F—-hhF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

23. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognized by the Group and movements thereof during the year.

REME
MERE EBAKE AVEE HEEE
E AVYEERE 25 R BB @t
FHET FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of Tax
tax  on business investment losses  Withholding
depreciation  combinations properties and others taxes Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

RZZ—-)\E—A—H At January 2018 (24,888) (53,034) (16,436) 256,361 - 162,003
KEEFA (105%) Credit (charge) for the year
(Biet11) (Note 11) 793 1,574 (1,188) (37,818) (262,598) (299,237)
ERTIEEES Exchange adjustments - 2378 - (10,185) 4,09% (3,711)
RZZE—NE+-F  At31 December 2018
=+—H (24,095) (49,082) (17,624) 208,358 (258,502) (140,945)
AEEFA (305%) Credit (charge) for the year
(B1it11) (Note 11) 844 2,024 (825) 15,171 (170,679) (153,465)
i % Exchange adjustments - 1,047 - (3,763) 12,721 10,005
RZZ—A%+-H  At31 December 2019
=t+—H (23,251) (46,011) (18,449) 219,766 (416,460) (284,405)
—E-NF —E-N\F
TFET FET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT IBEE Deferred tax assets 219,766 208,358
EERIE S E Deferred tax liabilities (504,171) (349,303)
(284,405) (140,945)

RZEBE-AF+ZA=+—H K&
EoHEERRBMNNORBABIE
518 53,891,268,000% 7t ( —ZF — )\
% :3,971,426,0008 70) ~HZEE
$8879,063,0008 L (=& — \F :
833,433,000/ 7T ) B MESRIRIE R TR & /=
# N B TE E5383,012,205,0008 7T (=&
—/\%F :3,137,993,000/ 7T ) A AR ZFI
HOREETEA - W AR IR IE &
/E o FE AR IR 1B BT 18 A E51E29,858,000
77T (—Z—/\4F : 630,050,000/ 70 ) #7
BEAFERRAFNEE - HtE1E ] 8L
R ERGE S -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$3,891,268,000 (2018: HK$3,971,426,000) available to offset
against future profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognized
in respect of HK$879,063,000 (2018: HK$833,433,000) of
such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognized in
respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$3,012,205,000 (2018:
HK$3,137,993,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognized tax losses are losses of
HK$29,858,000 (2018: HK$630,050,000) which will expire within
5 years from the year of origination. Other losses may be carried

forward indefinitely.
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24. RIAEWFIA

%R T B A OE AR EEE (S
TR BEAHBAT R B AR AR
EIRIREED MRS - N —F AR

BUAD & AL e YRR -

24.

LONG TERM RECEIVABLES

The amount mainly represented advances paid to the local
governments in the Chinese Mainland for facilitating the transfer of
land to the Group and deposits paid for environmental restoration
in relation to the construction of production lines. The amount due
within one year was included in other receivables.

25. 8 25. INVENTORIES

—E-hEF —E-N\F
FBT FHET
2019 2018
HK$’'000 HK$'000

R4 K SE A S Raw materials and
consumables 908,569 1,242,153
RS Work in progress 319,042 426,364
2K M Finished goods 282,093 302,112
1,509,704 1,970,629

26. BIWE Z R

26.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

—E-hE —E2)\F

FET FHET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

JEWE=THE SER Trade receivables from
third parties 2,384,112 2,335,812

JEEEALTHE SRR Trade receivables from
related parties 2,014 31,487
2,386,126 2,367,299

AEBAGTEREPAHERERE
0Z60H K FHEEHIHIECR »
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The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period of O to
60 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its customers.
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26.

FEWE SR (&)

LT ARSRERBRIEEZ ARG
FEWE SRR (FNkr RIZBREIE) MBRER
Difre

HE-_ZT—

26.

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice date
at the end of each reporting period.

—E-NF —\&F
FET FET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
0290H 0 to 90 days 1,843,340 2,163,763
912 180H 91 to 180 days 235,830 128,347
181%365H 181 to 365 days 227,782 75,189
B iE365H Over 365 days 79,174 -
2,386,126 2,367,299
REBREENED Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E-NE =—\&F
FET FET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FYE Balance at beginning of
the year 247,297 272,986
RIZEREE (FHiREE) Allowance (reversal of
allowance) for doubtful
debts 16,953 (16,902)
i~ AT U [B] 5108 Amount written off as
uncollectible (10,477) (268)
VE R % Exchange adjustments (7,244) (8,519)
FRER Balance at end of the year 246,529 247,297

—NETZA=+—HB KEHE
?z:z?%hﬁﬁﬁzzt&ﬁgﬁ’am&zf’i%,ﬂ% AR
1B 494,389,000/% 7T + H H254,323 000/ 7T
NAE—FRN BHEEBEBENTIONE
18% ' 40,066,000/ 7T A —F LA £ - TEHA
EEBEEXR/I0% HNE—NF+=A
=+—H SRR OEIREHEKATERN
FEUE 5 BR A2 BR 1B A1,481,016,0007%8
JT 0 H 1,244, 071,000 T A —E R &
HEEEIERN F2%%E3% 131,718000
BILA—EMFAN BHEEEBEXA
36% * }:105,227,000/ 7L AR E LA L 78
HEEREIBEA100% -

As at 31 December 2019, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for the cement segment
was HK$94,389,000, of which HK$54,323,000 was within
one year with an expected credit loss rate ranging from 10% to
18% and HK$40,066,000 was over one year with an expected
credit loss rate of 100%. As at 31 December 2019, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables measured at amortized
cost for concrete segment was HK$1,481,016,000, of which
HK$1,244,071,000 was within one year with an expected credit
loss rate ranging from 2% to 3%, HK$131,718,000 was within
one to two years with expected credit loss rate of 36% and
HK$105,227,000 was over two years with an expected credit loss
rate of 100%.
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26.

27.

28.

EWE SR (&) 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
RIEREBIKNES (F) Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts (Continued)
RZE—NF+ZA=+—H KEn As at 31 December 2018, the gross carrying amount of trade
EIR B SEAANET EMEIE SRR EB R receivables measured at amortized cost for the cement segment
H 1B &128,586,0007% 7T * H #187,556,000 was HK$128,586,000, of which HK$87,556,000 was within
BILA—FAN BEEEEEXN T8% one year with an expected credit loss rate ranging from 8% to
Z£15% ' 41,030,000 7T A —F A £ 15% and HK$41,030,000 was over one year with an expected
EHEEBEBEAIO0% - T — )\ credit loss rate of 100%. As at 31 December 2018, the gross
F+-—A=+—H BRI oI carrying amount of trade receivables measured at amortized
KA ENEWE SRANBEMES cost for the concrete segment was HK$1,520,110,000, of which
1,520,110,0007% 7t » E A 1,373,765,000/8 HK$1,373,765,000 was within one year with an expected credit
TTAE—FERN FBEEEBEENT3I%E loss rate ranging from 3% to 5% and HK$146,345,000 was over
5%+ 146,345,000 7t A —F LA L - T8HA one year with an expected credit loss rate of 100%.
EEEEEAI00% °
H {th fE I F I8 27. OTHER RECEIVABLES
—E-hEF —E-N\F
FET T
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERNE K2 Prepayment and deposits 36,000 36,156
ERMEHEEEET 2 Deposits paid to suppliers
of raw materials 178,887 182,730
BB R A AT Y e F 18 Value-added tax and
other tax recoverable 189,379 196,661
TEfHEEFRIAR BN EREE Current portion of
prepaid lease payments - 80,217
& BB M SR IR /) B B BB 19 Current portion of long term
receivables 142,034 132,970
Hit Others 180,066 212,271
726,366 841,005
F-—FREEEZERATHNE 28. LOAN TO AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
ESN COMPANY
ZERTFEBROERAFNERSER The loan to CRI is unsecured, bears interest at 3.915% per
AR F | E3915%:T B R —FNE annum and repayable within one year.
242 EHKREREBR AR
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29.

30.

31.

32.

HE-_ZT—

FE IS B 2= Y 29.
JEREEARREBAERELES
SKIEE - HpaF B 389 A343,678,000
Br(ZZE—N\F+-_A=+—8:

442 749 0007 7T) ©

B FIE

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from associates are unsecured and repayable
on demand, of which HK$343,678,000 (31 December 2018:

HK$442,749,000) is interest-bearing.

EWEERNaRIE 30. AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES
kS **R RIFIEATET R BRI E The amounts due from joint ventures are interest-free, unsecured
EREE- and repayable on demand.
EEHBRITER 31. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS
—E-hAF ZTN\F
FEx FHET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
JERED Non-current 216,985 80,089
RERMITHEER 32. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

FEAR & MIRTTHESHHI A S B B BN
e B AIMNYE I FHERRIRIA T -

Included in cash and bank balances are the following amounts

denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of

the respective group entities.

—E-NEF —N\&F
FET FHET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT HK$ 244,549 1,763,654
ET us$ 1,187,376 4,028
—g-nE  —2NE
2019 2018
% %
RITEHRNFFEREE Range of interest rates of the
bank balances
(per annum) 0.01-4.75 0.01-4.75
—E-hEER
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33. EREZR 33. TRADE PAYABLES

—E-hE ZE-N\F

FET FAT

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

JENE=ZFTHNEFER Trade payables to
third parties 3,157,563 3,443,056
JERRBIBEATHE SRR Trade payables to

related parties 16,674 17,299

3,174,237 3,460,355
REBBENEMERIS0E0REE The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days from
B o AT AR S HE BiR BB H 8151 its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
THER B SRR BRI DT presented based on the invoice date at the end of each reporting

period.

—EBE-hE —Z=—N\F

FET FAT

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

0£90H 010 90 days 3,112,055 3,353,059

912180H 91 to 180 days 33,877 61,444

181%365H 181 to 365 days 11,925 17,190

HBiB365H Over 365 days 16,380 28,662

3,174,237 3,460,355
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34. Htt BN RIH 34. OTHER PAYABLES
—ZE-NF —E-N\F
FET FAT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
JENEERRBERRERTEEDN Payables to constructors
FERTFRIB and for the acquisition of
fixed assets 671,163 816,338
WM B G BE QAR REGE QRN Consideration payables
ERRE for acquisition of
subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures 271,000 276,873
REEFPH 2 Deposits from customers 921,062 802,117
JE R T & RIEAL Accrued wages and
bonus payables 1,334,359 1,089,630
REHERHRES Guarantee deposits from
suppliers 419,410 383,151
JEfS R E 8 IR Accrued transportation
payable 295,953 339,362
H b e T 1E Other tax payables 606,681 739,266
HEa’E (Mitie) Lease liabilities (Note 16) 37,218 -
Ht Others 523,924 561,232

5,080,770 5,007,969

—E-hEER
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35. SRITER 35. BANK LOANS
—E-hFE ZE-N\F
FET FAT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
AR T EEEENRITER: Bank loans are repayable
as follows:
—FR Within one year 1,297,954 4,531,678
—FREMFRN After one year but within
two years 407,915 1,573,384
MEREBERFEA After two years but
within five years 2,871,236 2,983,562
4,577,105 9,088,624
Ji - ETARBI B ER —F AR BRI IR Less: Amount due within

one year included
in current liabilities (1,297,954) (4,531,678)

— & DI BRI FIE Amount due after one year 3,279,151 4,556,946
BB RZEBLHRIRITERIT Bank loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates as follows:

—®-nE —T-NF

FET FAT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
EBER Fixed rate borrowings 223,270 4,788 624
FEER Variable rate borrowings 4,353,835 4,300,000
4,577,105 9,088,624
BE_Z-NF+_A=+—HBLFE" The effective interest rates of the Group’s bank loans ranged from
REBERBITERNERFEFENF23% 2.3% to 4.8% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2019
FA8% (ZF—)\F: 18%Z48%) ° (2018: 1.8% t0 4.8%).
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35.

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
BANK LOANS (Continued)

Included in bank loans are the following amounts denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities:

—B-nE  —FNF

TR TET

2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 3,300,000 4,300,000

AEENMARITEFIG HEER -

BEADHRE

RZZB-RFEAARR ARRHTH
MRz @82 // ARE3,000,0000007T
(P55 70 493,349,050,000/8 7T ) ° 7% BAZE
EREER  REBFEI5% REN R
ER-_E_—FEE-

36.

All of the Group’s bank loans were unsecured.

UNSECURED MEDIUM TERM NOTES

On 5 September 2016, the Company issued medium term notes
in the aggregate amount of RMB3,000,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,349,050,000). The medium term notes are
unsecured, bear coupon interest at 3.5% per annum and are
repayable in 2021.

—E-NEEH
Annual Report 2014&9 247



= A\
=e

A FSER KBS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3t

=

Z—NE+-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

248 ERKORERABR AR

Hit R AN KIE 37. OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES

—E-hE —E-)N\F

FET FHET

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

HEBE (Hitie) Lease liabilities (Note 16) 115,417 -
RIBBERE Provision for environmental

restoration 325,296 -

HAtb Others 8,115 8,297

448,828 8,297

BEERENEE Movements in the provision for environmental restoration

—E-NEF

FHExT

2019

HK$’000

FHEERR Balance at beginning of the year -

& Additions 321,433

FMEFR (#iE7) Interest expenses (Note 7) 15,486

(BN Payments (11,668)

PE R FE Exchange adjustments 45

FRERR Balance at end of the year 325,296

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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39.

N

HE2-_F—-hhF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

38. SHARE CAPITAL

gvig =] Kok
FHET
Number
of shares Amounts
HK$'000
SR EE0. 1078 Ty I B A% (D Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
JETE Authorized:
R-ZE—-N\F—A—8" At 1 January 2018,
—E-NEFERZZE-NF 31 December 2018 and
+=—A=+—H 2019 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETREE: Issued and fully paid:
RZFE-NF—H—H At 1 January 2018 6,532,937,817 653,294
RZZE—\FARA=Z+HA Issuance of Shares on
BT 2R 25 June 2018 450,000,000 45,000
R-E—N\F+=-A=+—8" At 31 December 2018,
“TE-NF—-A—HK 1 January 2019 and
—T-hFt+-_A=1+—H 31 December 2019 6,982,937,817 698,294

RZZE—\F/RAZ+HA - 450,000,000
ARt B IR IR0 T AL % K BT T2
HEE (OB BRAF -

EXERER

AEBEREAL  LRRAEBNER
S T AR AT B RS
BEBBRNEBREAE R R TAE
B AEE R T

AEEMEAZREREES (EhaiEH
AEBHIRT TR - P RE36m E I A IR
B RARRER AEIEHER (BRD#®
TTRA R ) ©

ARRERESVFEZ REXRE-
ERILEZN—HD EEEGEREAR
XA R LB KB R E AR R RO R © AN SR
RRIBEIEEN RS BRNRE F
P T BRI A R BT B KRR
RERBRTFEHERERE

39.

On 25 June 2018, 450,000,000 Shares were allotted and issued
at HK$9.30 per share to CRH (Cement) Limited.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
for both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes the bank loans in Note 35, unsecured medium term
notes in Note 36 and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Company reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of management, the Group
will balance its overall structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new
debts or the redemption of existing debts.

“E-hEFR
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40.

41.

ZAREE 40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
—2-AE —FN\F
FET FHET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEE N R ERNIRTTEREE M Guarantees given to banks,
MERITI H R FER in respect of banking
facilities granted to
associates
—REReHE — amount guaranteed 1,404,603 2,072,172
—-EyAeE — amount utilized 1,337,971 1,871,915

EFRA  BRAIBE B ROA TREL
TEA

REHENEE
AEBERHAEA
RE RS AR A EBR T A A

EHAD R MIRKREREFTBENS
K

41].

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the guarantees at
grant dates were not significant.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as a lessor

At the end of each reporting period, the Group has contracted
for the following future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases:

—Z-h#F —E-N\F

FET FT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
—&FRN Within one year 21,021 18,500
R—FHERRERN After one year but
within two years 11,206 6,382
PWFERER=FA After two years but
within three years 65 1,124
32,292 26,006

REMECRETEREBETSROBE TS
FAL KEREBRR—EMF-

250 ERKORERABR AR
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The investment properties have been rented to outside parties at
fixed predetermined amounts with unexpired tenancy for one to
two years.
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42.

KEROARE #)

REBEREBEA

R \F+-_A=1+—8 XTEEIR
BN AESE A S TR B R BT TAEVEER

THIEAREIZIER -

Hz—_%—

41.

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Continued)

The Group as lessee

At 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding commitments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—ET-N\F
THT
2018
HK$'000
—FR Within one year 44,623
BEFEFRFT (REEEMT) In the second to fifth year inclusive 73,620
HiBRF Over five years 110,090
228,333

B DA 7 SO Represented by:
T R EEY) Land and buildings 227,683
B Motor vehicles 650
228,333

REEMHOHEAOIFIRE R/ Fo

EAREE
HIBE LR AEMNE SIS
RIBITHEARSBINT -

J,
f&]

42.

Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of six years.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments for purchase and construction of fixed assets
outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

—E-NF —T—N\F

THBT THET
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
BRI 4B R Contracted but not
provided for 996,827 1,186,422

ZE-NFEFER
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43. €RIT A 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SRIAENER Categories of financial instruments
—E-AF —ZE—)N\&F
FET FET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
SREE Financial assets

REH AR 2 &R EE

BRAFEEFARBEERE
TREE

TRAE

CREABREENBEERBEX

AEENTIETHEENBERERKE
SR A EUGHIR - T — KRR
RAEIME R U S DR BRE
BREIFIA RPEWFR  CEMRTT
Tk He RIRITAES  IRERIEATFE
Bt AR EERRTENERRE &
NE SRR EtRAF0R - B H 5
B RITER R EMRIMENFTE %
BT AMFBE BN EARE -

%5 & BT B ARRE R R A Al R R R
FRBHBRREN T -EEEEERE
Y% E R - PARECR BE N A ROt EREUE
EHEE

=
a~
=
=T
2

~
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Financial assets at
amortized cost

Financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive
income 1,154,447 965,900

16,004,879 15,589,050

17,159,326 16,554,950

Financial liabilities

Amortized cost 12,614,600 17,449,211

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include trade
receivables, other receivables, loan to an intermediate holding
company, amounts due from associates, amounts due from joint
ventures, long term receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and
bank balances, equity investment designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, trade payables, other payables,
unsecured medium term notes, bank loans and other long term
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies about how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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43. €T B (&)

TREBREENEERBEE (&)
FIE 7 Bz

AEER T - RKEEZERARNER &
ENRRITER R EBARD TR (GR
1B RMEE28 - 35%36) MHE R A FEE
F R R - AN [E 5 R A LR RFELAED
IR EFARF B K o LR BIR IS R
SRR - AT - BIEE S BN R A
A A6 BB B P B K O ) 2R i

AEEHEREHEIBNERRTERNRE
MENEER (GRS RIS

AEEREREE N BB AR
REBARAMEREE SRR E R —EAR
At ARENR S REN KRBT EET
MAREE BT ENERAELNEE
RITEZESF DR B AR D BRI S P IRAA
RESHENERMELENTEARRITE
BN X E -

BRI IT

ZRER A R R SRR R T AR R S AR

RMEBRITERFIR BB MERE

WA= £ F T BEB0(E E 2 i AT A HAb
BEHBTE AAEEEE_Z—N
F+-_A=+—BLEFERANER LD
B HN#918 554,000 7T (=B — )\ 4 :
19,603,000/ 7T ) ©

RER B PR R HO B B F B R IRTTAERRH
REMENEEERI AEA - F Lt - I 5

ELE

ARELNRGURE DT

HEC

==
=—

43.

NFE+=—A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
loan to an intermediate holding company, fixed-rate bank loans
and unsecured medium term notes (see Notes 28, 35 and 36
for details). The Group aims at keeping as much of its borrowings
at variable rates as possible. The Group currently does not have
an interest rate hedging policy. However, management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank loans (see Note 35 for details).

The Group’s exposures to interest rate risk on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate arising from the Group’s Hong Kong dollar and, to
a much lesser extent, People’s Bank of China Base Rate arising
from Renminbi denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for bank loans outstanding
at the end of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019 would be decreased/increased by
approximately HK$18,554,000 (2018: HK$19,603,000).

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant. Accordingly, no
interest rate sensitivity analysis is prepared.

“E-hEFR
Annual Report 2019

253



R OIS R sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

43. €R T & (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

TREREENEERBEE (&)

BmpE

AEEHEABEERIGEEEINE
BB IRITAE B R ERTT B SR Pe 2R Y
EEME (FHIERMEE325%35) - NEER
PRy I A B SN EK e\ i 7 R O I NS SRR
R ERBENERABINE S REE
@ WAL REFE P EANE R

B o

TRFANAEEHARELBTRET
PR EERO%MBRE - BIREDITE B
RAEENAINEHENERIER @ WK
RERINEE RSB E BB A RRE - T
FIEBERRARE BT RETIHES%
P8 BRI & B IE I0 - I A RS 38
TENRRTTAZES % A& HERT R B AEK
FEMERTE-

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to the bank
balances and bank loans which are denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they are
related (see Notes 32 and 35 for details). The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency exposure. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding monetary items denominated
in a foreign currency and adjusts their translation at year end for
a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the RMB strengthens
5% against HK$ and US$. For a 5% weakening of RMB against
HK$ and US$, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the post-tax profit.

—B-hEF —E-N\F

FE T FAT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

i AR W BT AHE If RMB strengthens against
HK$ 130,140 107,306

MARE L ETTHE If RMB strengthens against
uss$ (57,554) (188)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at the end
of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognized
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position, while the Group'’s
maximum exposure to credit risk due to financial guarantees
provided by the Group is the amount of contingent liabilities in
relation to financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in
Note 40. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has formulated a defined credit policy and delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group applies the simplified approach for impairment of
trade receivables measured at amortized cost. Financial assets
including trade receivables measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, other receivables, loan to an intermediate
holding company, amounts due from associates, amounts due
from joint ventures, long term receivables, pledged bank deposits
and cash and bank balances, are classified within stage 1 for
measurement of ECLs.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group’s bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.
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Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management also regularly
monitors the operating cash flows of the Group to meet its liquidity
requirements in short and long term. Management monitors the
utilization of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had available
unutilized banking facilities of approximately HK$12,788,906,000
(2018: HK$9,991,081,000) to meet the Group’s future expansion
and satisfy its existing liabilities. Management is also in the
process of negotiating with the banks to refinance its short term
banking facilities to long term. In addition, the Company has an
intra-group lending agreement among companies of the China
Resources Group whereby borrowings which may be made will
be guaranteed by its intermediate holding company. Taking into
account the cash and bank balances, the unutilized banking
facilities, the unissued registered amount of medium term
notes, the expected future internally generated funds, the new
banking facilities and other sources of financing to be obtained,
management is confident that the Group will be able to meet its
financial obligations when they fall due in the foreseeable future.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

TREBREENEERBEE (&)

mEBEZEE (E)

REE D R E R

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

—Fh0E MEAL BHARE
THRE -ER (BFRERE BFEBILE BBIE RERELE REE
% T THx THT T T T
More than More than Total
1 year but 2 years but contractual
Average Within less than less than More than  undiscounted Canying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years cash flows amount
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
RZZE-NE+-A=1—H Asat31 December 2019
EREZER Trade payables - 3174237 - - - 3174237 3174237
EthEMFIE Other payables
(MKREERR) (excluding lease
liabilties) - 1,361,573 - - - 1361573 1,361,573
RITER Bank loans
—2BF% - Variable rate 33 1,217,163 515,225 2974331 - 4,706,719 4353835
—BEFE - Fixed rate 37 231,525 - - - 231,525 223270
BERTERE Unsecured medium
term notes 35 117,217 3428693 - - 3545910 3,349,050
MERE Lease liabilties 48 38,070 23,792 42087 98,763 202,712 152,635
6,139,785 3967,710 3016418 98,763 13,222,676 12,614,600
RZF—\F+-F=1+—H Asat31 December 2018
EREZER Trade payables - 3,460,355 - - - 3460355 3460355
EHER R Other payables - 1,476,362 - - - 1,476,362 1,476,362
ROTER Bank loans
—2BF% - Variable rate 32 2,438,102 1,064,234 1,064,234 - 4,566,570 4,300,000
—EEH - Fixed rate 46 2,451,604 690,816 2,074,661 - 5,217,081 4,783,624
BERPAZE Unsecured medium
term notes 35 119835 119835 3,505,292 - 3,744,962 3423870

9,946,258 1,874,885 6,044,187 18465330 17449211
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44.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2019 are included
in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, whereas trade receivables
classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2019 and 31
December 2018 are included in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@)

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

I
HEER BITER HEEE @it
FEL FAL FAL FHT
(Kiitie6) (K1:£35) (#1:#36)
Unsecured
Lease medium
liabilities Bank loans term notes Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 16) (Note 35) (Note 36)
RZE-NE—H—H AtlJanuary 2018 - 13,562,636 3,588,900 17,151,536
BERERE Financing cash flows - (4,048 455) - (4,048 455)
[ERpE Foreign exchange translation - (425,557) (165,030) (590,587)
RZE-N\F At 31 December 2018

+=A=+-H - 9,088,624 3423870 12,512,494
RIMEBHBERE /R Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

FleF T E 183818 - - 183,818
RZZE—NF—F—H A1 January 2019 (restated)

(& &5) 183818 9,088,624 3423870 12,696,312
BERERE Financing cash flows (49,470) (4,427 383) - (4,476,853)
20 Additions 13,085 - - 13,085
FBHY Interest expense 8,092 - - 8,092
ExBE Foreign exchange translation (2,890) (84,136) (74,820) (161,846)
RZZ-NE At 31 December 2019

+-A=+-H 152,635 4,577,105 3,349,050 8,078,790

HERERHLAE (b)  Total cash outflow for leases

AAGRAHERERNEERS
M ARERLA T -

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

—EF-NF
FER
2019
HK$'000

S NET I
BMERBA
REmt A

Within operating activities 550,727
Within financing activities 49,470

Total cash outflow 600,197
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) KB&ZEHLee ﬁ&#ﬁ%?zw‘? Pt 52 (@  Apart from the transactions and the balances with related
ERREE A TR 5 R AEERFFHIBIN parties disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
$’§IEA$¢J+7TE§5%?@ EAT statements, the Group also entered into the following

EITUTERRS significant transactions with related parties during the year:

—E—-AF —N\F
FET FABT
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000

mEaETHEATHEEER Sales of goods to certain
associates 2,112,040 3,786,092

mMETEERRHEED Sales of goods to certain
joint ventures 289,190 494,568

RETRZRMBAGTIRESER Purchases of goods from
certain fellow subsidiaries 35,597 34511

METRRWBARIRES Purchases of electricity from

certain fellow subsidiaries 1,018,600 990,875

mETHERATEBE®D Purchases of goods from
certain associates 178,293 28,588

(b) —+tF+A=+H X2 (b)  On 20 October 2017, the Company entered into a
ARG E HIRTTRNOER A F strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
(TZEEEIT] )T E RS 1B Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”), pursuant to which,
B EHRITRRAEER CR Bank shall provide general banking services including
H—RIRITARE (BIETER R EA deposit and other financial services to the Group. The term
TRUARTS) - BUES & 1E A BAMR of the strategic cooperation agreement was three years
EZE*/\ifﬂ*EiE‘l’E: from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. As at 31
TEF+A=1+—HIEAH December 2019, the Group had an aggregate balance of
=F KRB NF+A=1— deposits of HK$739,275,000 (2018: HK$276,155,000)
B ANEEREBRITOFRER with CR Bank.

{BEER739,275,0008 7T (ZZ2— N\
4 : 276,155,000/ 7T ) ©
(c) FEETEEABEBREEE Y& ()  The key management personnel includes solely the
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Directors and the compensation to them is disclosed in
Note 9.

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had, directly or indirectly, a material interest
at any time during the year.
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under China Resources Company Limited, which is
controlled by the government of the Chinese Mainland.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company and
its subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group also
conducts businesses with entities directly or indirectly
owned or controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the Chinese Mainland government (“stated-
controlled entities”) in the ordinary course of business.
The Directors consider those entities other than the China
Resources Company Limited group are independent third
parties as far as the Group’s business transactions with
them are concerned. In establishing its pricing strategies
and approval process for transactions with other state-
controlled entities, the Group does not differentiate
whether the counterparty is state-controlled entity or not.
The Group is of the opinion that it has provided, to the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure
of related party transactions in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has bank balances deposited in and entered
into various transactions, including sales, purchases,
borrowings and other operating expenses, with other state-
controlled entities during the year in which the Directors
are of the opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain the
identity of the controlling parties of these counterparties
and accordingly whether the counterparties are state-
controlled entities.
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47.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a share award scheme on 2 September
2009. The share award scheme does not constitute a share
option scheme pursuant to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
is a discretionary scheme of the Company. The purpose of the
share award scheme is to recognize the contributions of officers
and employees of our Group, excluding any Director, towards the
development of our Group in the past or as incentives to selected
grantees to achieve higher than target profits for our Group and
to align the interests of the selected grantees with sustainable
growth and development of our Group. The share award scheme
is effective for a term of ten years until 2 September 2019 unless
terminated at the discretion of the Board at an earlier date.

Pursuant to the share award scheme, a trust has been set up
and BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited has been appointed as
the trustee. The trustee may purchase Shares from the public
market out of cash contributed by the Company from time to
time. The aggregate number of Shares purchased under the
share award scheme shall not exceed 2.5% of all issued shares
of the Company. The aggregate number of Shares which may be
awarded to a selected grantee under the share award scheme
shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Shares purchased under the share award scheme will be held
in trust for the eligible employees until such Shares are vested in
accordance with the provisions of the rules relating to the share
award scheme. There were 160,000,000 Shares acquired under
the share award scheme at the cost of HK$3.90 per share, which
was funded by the Company, in October 2009.

On 17 November 2010, the Company amended the terms of the
share award scheme to include Directors as eligible grantees and
such that payments under the Scheme will be made in form of
cash rather than Shares. According to the Scheme, the Company
can utilize the proceeds generated from the disposal of the Shares
purchased and held by the trustee for awards to be made under
the Scheme. Grantees do not have any right to the Shares.

No grant was made and 35,176,000 Shares were disposed of in
2019, realizing net proceeds of approximately HK$269,377,000.
Upon termination of the Scheme, the trustee transferred all
assets (i.e. cash of HK$361,611,000) on trust under the Scheme
to the Company. In 2018, no grant was made and no Shares
were disposed of. As at 31 December 2018, the trustee held
35,176,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.504% of the
issued Shares, and cash of HK$87,245,000 on trust under the
Scheme.
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ARARRE—NFR-_T—\F+=A Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
=+ —HHNEZEMBRFINFBOT: 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
AR R BRTRBRRE/
HEAR AR EBFELE AfEA EARARBMERERNLA TEEH
—E-NE —Z-N\E
EE BE B# i
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ZHKE (RIE) BRARY REIA, AR H465,000,0007T - 100% - 100%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB465,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Anshun) Limited” cement
FHKE(SL)BRAT REIA, ARH520,750,0007T - 98.4% - 984%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changjiang) Limited?’ cement
ERKE (RR)ERATY REIA, AR H280,000,0007T - 72% - 2%  KEREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Ltd.# cement
ERKR (a8 ERARY HREIRH 15,000,000 7 - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited”” cement
FHKR(FI)BRART REIA, AR H280,000,0007T - 72% - 2%  KEREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan) Limited?’ cement
EEKR (HF) BRARY HEIR 205,961,300 1T - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$205,961,300 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” cement
EEKE (BINERAF HREIRH 261,848 000 T - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$261,848,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited cement
EEKR (BB)BRARY HREIRH 55,104,000 70 - 100% - 100% KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” cement
FHKE(AH)BRARY REIA, AR 350,000,000 - 100% - 100%  KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hepu) Limited™” cement
ERKE (BE)ERATY HEINH AR #230,000,0007T - 100% - 100% KREEAHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heging) Limited? cement
“E-NFFR
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48. TEMB QT (&) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRA/
WEAREHR EBHELE &R KARREAERE LA TEEH
ZE-hE —E-N\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
ZEKR (BMBERATY RER, 70,500,000 7T - 100% - 100%  OREEMEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$70,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” cement
ZEKEOIM)BRATY RER, 55,000,007 7T - 100% - 100%  OREEMEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$55,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” cement
EHKE (£2)BRAAY RER, 43,750 000% 7T - 100% - 100%  OREEMEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$43,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jinsha) Limited” cement
ZEKE(EL)ERATY HREIA, ARH51,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  OREEEFE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited”” cement
RITERERATY HREIA, A 10,000,007 - 100% - 100%  OREEEFE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang Fengcheng) Limited” cement
ERKE (REEZ)BRAAY RER, 480,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100%  OREEMEBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
ERKE (RERA)BRAAY RER, 33,040000%7C - 100% - 100%  OREEMEBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,040,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited” cement
EHKE (BE)BRAAY RER, 33,280 000%7¢ - 100% - 100%  OREEMEBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1US$33,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited” cement
ZEKR (B)IBERATY RER, AR 244,190,000 - 100% - 100%  AOREEMEBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB244,190,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited® cement
EHKE (BE)BRAAY RER, 280,000,000/ 7% - 100% - 100%  OREEMEBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited” cement
EHKE (BE)BRAA REIR, AR 230,000,000 - 100% - 100%  KOREEMEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Midu) Limited?’
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRE/
WEAREHR EBHELR &R AARREAERE LA TEER
ZE-hE —ZN\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ERKE (BE)BRRAY REIP, 55,200,000 7T - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited” cement
ERKE (TE)BRAAY HEIA, AR H1,080,780,0007C - 100% - 100%  KEREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited” cement
ERKE (ZM)BRRAY HEIA, 3,280,000% 7T - 100% - 100%  KEREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited” cement
EHKE (LR)BRRAY REIP, AR 415,450,000 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB415,450,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited” cement
ZEKECLE)BERATY REIP, AR 210,000,000 - 100% - 100%  KEEEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited” cement
EHKE (BG)BRARAY REIP, 270,095,000/ 7% - 100% - 100%  KEREEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$270,095,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited” cement
ERKE (RE)BRAAY REIP, 257,266, 00075 7T - 100% - 100%  KEREEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$257,266,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuxuan) Limited”” cement
ERKE (BB BRATY REIAH, ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  KEEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhishan) Limited” cement
EHKE (HF)BRARAY REIP, 350,000,000/ 7% - 100% - 100%  KEREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangchun) Limited” cement
EHKE GkE) BRAAY REIP, 35,000,000%7¢ - 100% - 100%  KEREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yongding) Limited®” cement
EHKE CEL) BRAAY HEIA, 22,000,007 7T - 100% - 100%  KEREEEHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” cement
—F-NEEH
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48. T EM B A T (&)

48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRA/
WEAREHR EBHELE &R KARREAERE LA TEEH
ZE-hE —E-N\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EHKE CRT)BRAAY RER, AR 133,600,000 - 100% - 100%  AOREEMEBE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB133,600,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhangping) Limited” cement
ERKRER (FE)ERAT ) 10,000/ 7T 100% - 100% - BEZZMBARARE
China Resources Cement Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
EHKEREERATY RER, 1,066,770,300% 7T - 100% - 100% BESEMELARE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$1,066,770,300 Holding investments in
Investments Limited” subsidiaries
ZEREL (AR)ERLFY RER, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Baise) Limited®” concrete
ZEEREL () ERDAY RER, 32,000,000/ 7¢ - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai) Limited” concrete
LEERERL (HILE)ERATY HERL 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai Tieshangang) Limited” concrete
EHERLT (BEQTBRATY  HERL 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Jinjiang) Limited” concrete
EHRRLT (BEZNBRATY  hERL A 10,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Laocheng) Limited” concrete
EEREL (KE)ERDAY RER, 30,000,000/ 7% - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dali) Limited” concrete
EHRRL(TR)BRATY REIA, A 10,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dingan) Limited®” concrete
RRZERLIHERLARLAY REIR, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
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48. TEMB QT (&) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRE/
WEAREHR EBHELR &R AARREAERE LA TEER
ZE-hE —ZN\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
ERRRLT (WYE)BRAAY REIP, 25,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” concrete
ZEEREL (HF)ERDAY REAH, AR 20,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” concrete
EERRL (FIL)BRATY REIP, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Foshan) Limited” concrete
ZEEREL (BIERDAY REIAH, A 10,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited” concrete
EERRL(RE)BRARY REIP, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Gaoyao) Limited” concrete
EHERL (BA)BRATY REIP, 34,000,000/ 7¢ - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guangxi) Limited? concrefe
ERRRL(BR)BRATY REIP, 25,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited” concrete
EEREL (BL)ERDAY REIAH, ARH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heshan) Limited” concrete
EERRT (BN BRARY REIP, 25,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hezhou) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (BN ERRAY REIP, 7,000,000% 7 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited” concrete
EEREL (IF)ERDAY REIP, 28,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$28,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” concrete
“E-NFFR

Annual Report 2019

267



R OIS R sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

48. TEMB QT (&) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MY R ERTRARRA/
WEAREHR EBHELE &R KARREAERE LA TEEH
ZE-hE —E-N\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EHRRL (BA)BRATY RER, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jingxi) Limited” concrete
EHRRLT (RB)BRATY RER, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Laibin) Limited” concrete
ZEREL (£R)ERAFY RER, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ledong) Limited” concrete
ZEREL (RL)ERDAY REIA, AR 20,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited”” concrete
EERRLT (M) BRATY RER, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Liuzhou) Limited”” concrete
EEREL ORH)ERDA REIA, AR 30,000,007 - 72% - 2% RRTEESRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lucheng) Limited? concrete
ZEREL (BI)ERDAY REIA, AR 25,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited® concrete
EHRRL(BR)BRATY RER, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited” concrete
EHRRL (RB)BRATY RER, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Maoming) Limited” concrete
REERRARERLIERATY  hERML 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning Xixiangtang) Limited”’ concrete
EHRRLT (HE)BRATY REIR, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

(Nanning) Limited”
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) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
MY R ERTRARRE/
WEAREHR EBHELR &R AARREAERE LA TEER
ZE-hE —ZN\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
EERRLT (BR)BERATY REIP, 7,200,000% 7 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ningbo) Limited” concrete
EEREL (TH)ERDAY REAH, AR 20,000,007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pinggui) Limited” concrete
EERRLT (M) BRAR REIP, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou) Limited” concrete
FMERGEERLERLAY REIP, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou Legou) Limited”” concrete
ERRRL (BB BRARY REIAH, ABRH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Rongxian) Limited” concrete
FEBRELERATY RE R AR #25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% RALAERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shenzhen) Company Limited” concrete
EERRL (RE)BRATY REIAH, ABRH25,000,0007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Suixi) Limited” concrete
EERRL(BE)BERARY REIP, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wanning) Limited”” concrete
EERRLT (BN BRARY REIP, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhou) Limited”” concrete
EEREL (BL)ERDAY REIP, 11,500,000/ 7% - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$11,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangjiang) Limited” concrete
EEREL (EM)ERDAY REIP, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yulin) Limited®” concrete
“E-NFFR
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48. TEMB QT (&) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MR R ERTRARRA/
WEAREHR EBHELE &R KARREAERE LA TEEH
ZE-hE —E-N\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EEREL CEL)ERDAY REIA, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” concrete
EEREL (BE)ERDA REIA, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhaoging) Limited” concrete
EHRRLT (RE)BRATY REIA, 33,000,000/ 7¢ - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$33,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhuhai) Limited” concrete
ERRTKERERBRAR ) 150,000,007 7T - 100% - 100%  KEES
China Resources Dongguan Cement Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 Trading of cement
Manufactory Holdings Limited
RRERRRTERAFY RER, 25,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
China Resources Dongguan Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Limited” concrete
ZERRIBAR (BR)ERAR B8 2B - 100% - 10% BESFHBAARE
China Resources Environmental Hong Kong HK$2 Holding investments in
Protection Engineering Holdings subsidiaries
(Hong Kong) Limited
EERRIR(AE)ERAFY RE R, AR 50,000,007 - 100% - 100%  RERELR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Baise) engineering
Limited”
EERRIR (BB BRAFY RER AR #50,000,0007C - 100% - 100%  REREIR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Binyang) engineering
Limited”
ERRRIE(BE)BRAAY HEIR AR #50,000,00070 - 100% - 100% RERELR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Midu) engineering
Limited”
EERRIE (BE)BRAAY HREIA, AK10,000,0007 - 100% - 100%  RHERELR
China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Environment protection
Protection Engineering (Nanning) engineering
Limited”
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48. X EMMEB QT (4) 48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
MR R ERTRARRE/
WEAREHR EBHELR &R AARREAERE LA TEER
ZE-hE —ZN\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
REERKERBRA T REAH, 199,000,007 7T - 100% - 100%  OREESEBE
Dongguan Huarun Cement Manufactory ~ Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co. Ltd.” cement
HEARAR 0 28T - 100% - 100% BENE
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
HLEEIEZ R BRARY RER 3,500,000%7¢ - 100% - 100% RRTAERHE
Foshan China Resources Shunan Chinese Mainland US$3,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
SREFRAT 2 28T - 100% - 100% HENE
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
EREREGLERAAY HER 2597 440% T - 100% - 100% RELEEAHE
Guangdong Yuequn Concrete Chinese Mainland US$2,597,440 Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. @ concrete
ERERGEZRERTIEREAARY RN AR #25,000,0007C - 100% - 100% RRTAEEHE
Guangyi Binyang Kunan Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited %/ concrete
BEEBOKTKEERAR? HER AR #200,000,0007 - 95.8% - %8%  KREEEHEE
Guangyxi China Resources Hongshuihe  Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Cement Co., Ltd.@ cement
EREREEARERRARY HEIR AR #180,000,0007T - 100% - 100%  EHENEEREE
Guangyxi China Resources Prefabrication ~ Chinese Mainland RMB180,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Construction Limited”” of prefabrication
construction materials
BERARRAREARAAY REIAL, AR 90,000,007 - 100% - - BREMEERHE
Guigang Runhe Prefabricated Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Construction Company Limited®” of prefabrication
construction materials
MRERBZEETARLAY REIAH, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
Heyuan China Resources Huida Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
MEEBRRERTARA Y REIAH, ARH22,000,0007 - 100% - 100% EETEEARE
Heyuan China Resources Pengyuan Chinese Mainland RMB22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
“E-NFFR

Annual Report 2019

271



R OIS R sE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hz2—_Z—NF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

48. T EM B A T (&)

48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MR R ERTRARRA/
WEAREHR EBHELE &R KARREAERE LA TEEH
ZE-hE —E-N\F
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
BINERRMBERARY REIA, 8,000,000% T - 100% - 100% EETEEAKE
Huizhou China Resources Jiancai Chinese Mainland 1US$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited” concrete
IFERERTENERA Y REIA, 24,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEESRHE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Muzhou Limited” concrete
IFZERRRTRTARLAY REIA, 20,000,007 7T - 100% - 100% BRTEESRHE
Jiangmen China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Tangxia Limited” concrete
REERRZERTBRAAY RE R 24,000,000/ 10 - 100% - 100% RETEEREE
Laibin China Resources Xingbin Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
REBERRAREBRAFY REIA, AR 90,000,007 - 100% - - RERMEERHE
Laibin Runhe Prefabricated Construction ~ Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Company Limited” of prefabrication
construction materials
MNERRTLRR L BRA R RE R, AR 31,250,007 - 70% - 70% RETEEREE
Liuzhou China Resources Xijiang Chinese Mainland RMB31,250,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited? concrete
HEEHRERRLARARY RE R, 37,000,000/ 7T - 100% - 100% RRTEEEHE
Nanning China Resources Liangging Chinese Mainland HK$37,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
R NEEERETARAFY RER 7,000,000% 7T - 100% - 100% RRTAEEEEE
Ningbo Xiaogang China Resources Chinese Mainland 1S$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
ERBEREBAT ) 10,0007 7 - 100% - 100%  #ENE
Profit Success Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
REEHERERLA ) 200,000 ¢ - 100% - 100%  BEMEAI RERRS
Quality Control Consultants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Building materials testing
and consultancy
services
HERRLARAR ) 1087 - 100% - 100% RRTEEEHE
Redland Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
TENHAEERAR Bk 28T - 100% - 100% BENHES
Redland Construction Materials Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of construction
materials
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48. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

MR R ERTRARRE/
KEAR AR EBHELR HEMEA AARREAERE LA TEER
ZE-hE —Z-N\#%
B B B ik
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation and paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
2019 2018
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
IWFEEERKERRART HEAL 90,000,000% 7T - 72% - 72%  KREERHE
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement  Chinese Mainland US$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited? cement
RNTREFHEARRBERATY  FEAR AR #500,000,0007C - 100% - 100% HEBERFRE
Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB500,000,000 Holding investment

Technology Company Limited”

ABAREBRAR BE

Standard Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong

RYEEREERAF HER

Wuping China Resources Mining Chinese Mainland
Limited?

HIEEBRERLARARY HER
Zhanjiang China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland
Pengyuan Limited”

EIm BB EEERARY HER
ZhanJiang RunYang United Intelligent ~ Chinese Mainland
Manufacturing Company Limited”

(] ZERREFENHAINETEE XN
@ ZERAEFEAM ARG B R ENT

EEAR ERIHENEARAFNME L
AYARENEGE EERABEER
A - FHI A B ATNFES BN
EO

AN RS AN 2 AR ] - SRR
BRRIEETEAERES-

in an associate

2T - 100% - 100%  BHENE
HK$2 Property holding
AR 50,000,007 - 80% - - FAREH
RMB50,000,000 Mining of aggregate
24,000,000/ 7 - 100% - 100% RRTEESHE
HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
concrete
AR 100,000,000 - 100% - 100%  EHEMEERHE
RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and sale
of prefabrication

construction materials
notes:

(1) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

(2) These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form of
sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

In the opinion of the Directors, the subsidiaries of the Company
listed in the above table principally affected the results, assets and
liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would
result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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49. A RQ T Z BB RE 49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

—g-nE —T)\F

FET FHET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
IEMBEE Non-current assets
EAE Fixed assets 596 626
PREEE Right-of-use assets 2,164 -
BB ARIEE Investments in subsidiaries 813,546 813,467
JE LB 8 R B 5108 Amounts due from
subsidiaries 14,457,009 12,786,667
15,273,315 13,600,760
MEEE Current assets
E b pE U FR I8 Other receivables 9,283 28,462
e RIBITHER Cash and bank balances 1,375,893 3,003,668
1,385,176 3,032,130
mEaE Current liabilities
E b FE T FRIE Other payables 117,492 214,364
FEASHE B A &) kI8 Amounts due to
subsidiaries 8,260,320 1,817,484
RITER R —FRNEIE Bank loans — amount
due within one year 1,000,000 1,997,258
9,377,812 4,029,106
mEAEFE Net current liabilities (7,992,636) (996,976)
BEREBERTREEE Total assets less current
liabilities 7,280,679 12,603,784
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER-—R—FBEE Bank loans — amount
due after one year - 3,369,548
AR R HA R Unsecured medium
term notes 3,349,050 3,423,870
3,349,050 6,793,418
BESE Net assets 3,931,629 5,810,366
AR A K fE 4 Capital and reserves
& A< Share capital 698,294 698,294
& (B7:£50) Reserves (Note 50) 3,233,335 5,112,072
WS HRRR Total equity 3,931,629 5,810,366
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE2-_F—-hhF+=-_A=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2019

50. A Rz #E 50. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
RERED (R3tER)
RAEE SHEIRE BERE REEF st
THT THT THT THAT THT
Long term (Accumulated
award losses)
Share scheme Translation retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000

RZZE—\E—HA—H AtlJanuary 2018 4,421,573 (139,206) 719,626 (1,563,533) 3,438,460
EHER Exchange differences - - (339,162) - (339,162)
FEAEF Profit for the year - - - 810,408 810,408
FEZ2E(BR) Total comprehensive
LONx (expense) income
for the year - - (339,162) 810,408 471,246
“E-EEREKE 2017 final dividend (1,012,605) - - - (1,012,605)
- N\FRHEE 2018 interim dividend (1,920,308) - - - (1,920,308)
BITHR G Issue of new Shares 4,140,000 - - - 4,140,000
R EIT A Issue costs of new Shares 4,721) - - - @,721)
RZZE-N\F At 31 December 2018
+ZR=1—H 5,623,939 (139,206) 380,464 (753,125) 5112,072
RIWVEBHISREZER]  Effect of adoption of
R T E HKFRS 16 - - - (64) (64)
RZE-NEF At 1 January 2019 (restated)
—A—H
€ 5=27)) 5,623,939 (139,206) 380,464 (753,189) 5,112,008
EHER Exchange differences - - (106,403) - (106,403)
FEERF Profit for the year - - - 1,588,025 1,588,025
FE2E(BH)A  Total comprehensive
ek (expense) income
for the year - - (106,403) 1,588,025 1,481,622
“E-\ERHKE 2018 final dividend (1906,342) - - - (1,906,342
ZE-NEHRERE 2019interim dividend (1,815,564) - - - (1,815564)
BIERERE 21K/ Recognition under the
long term award scheme - 139,206 - 222,405 361,611
RZZE-NF At 31 December 2019
+ZR=1—H 1,902,033 - 274,061 1,057,241 3,233,335

—E-hEER
Annual Report 2014&9 275



A5t 2

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
“T-HFE Z—T—RE —E—+F —T-N\FE ZE-hE
FHET FET FET FET TR
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
4 RESULTS
EHER Turnover 26,778,671 25647464 29958428 38,791,470 38,955,561
PN/NSIE YN T Profit for the year
FEAF| attributable to owners of
the Company 1,014,969 1,325,855 3,616,742 7975439 8,617,503
“T-RF ZZIT—RF IT—+tF —T-N\F ZE-hF
FHET FET FET FHET TR
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
ETEE Fixed assets 31,596,192  29,783669 30,902,575 28489788 27,080,617
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets - - - - 2,922,031
BNEERUA Prepaid lease payments 2,905,451 2,674,723 2,816,137 2,846,024 -
REWE Investment properties 108,346 112,499 131,176 137,761 130,000
HipiwE Other investment - - - - 97,197
BHEE Intangible assets 2,394,503 2263684 2,335,214 2,197,455 2,461,792
PREE D RIARER Interests in associates 5,620,142 5,212,992 5,535,302 5463446 6,580,670
JINERYNCIIOY Interests in joint ventures 1,542,889 1,484,271 1,425,223 1,409,378 1,426,602
HEBE:S Deposits for acquisition of
assets 1,625,731 752,008 706,307 497157 1,031,817
BB A E Deferred tax assets 365,030 325,525 256,361 208,358 219,766
REIEWGE Long term receivables 662,115 440,901 464,008 354,740 260,553
BEMRIRITER Pledged bank deposits 24,729 32,368 59,250 80,089 216,985
RBEE Current assets 7,371,622 9,073,871 11,895,049  18822,185 18,742,830
BEMAE Total assets 54216750 52,156,511 56526602 60,506,382 61,170,860
=L LIABILITIES
DEIN= Current liabilities 13,402,104 14816834 15356933 14,272,804 11,323,482
ERBAEE Non-current liabilities 13,828,969 11,087,808 10,687,228 8338416 7,581,200
BERE Total liabilities 27231073 25904642 26,044,161 22611220 18,904,682
ERKCRIERARA R
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This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is available on the Company’s official website for corporate
communications at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/crcement/index.htm (the “Company’s Official Website”).

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to receive the corporate communications of the
Company (the “Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s Official Website and who for any reason have
difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the annual report posted on the Company’s Official Website will promptly
upon request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed form or via the
Company'’s Official Website) of Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive the annual report in printed form, and/or to change their choice of
the means of receipt of Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the share registrar of the Company, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong or by sending an email
to the share registrar of the Company at crcement1313-ecom@hk.tricorglobal.com.
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